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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

127,&( ,S +(5(%< *,9(1 that the EIGHTIETH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING oI SeSrod /LmLted ZLll Ee held 
at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston on September 9, 2019� at 11:00 a.m., for 
the SXrSose oI transaFtLng the IolloZLng EXsLness�

1. TO RECEIVE THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS AND THE REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS 
7o FonsLder and LI thoXght fit Sass the IolloZLng resolXtLon�
Ȣ7+$7 the 'LreFtors’ 5eSort� the $XdLtors’ 5eSort and the $XdLted $FFoXnts Ior the \ear ended 
'eFemEer ��� ���� Ee and are hereE\ adoSted�ȣ

2. TO ELECT DIRECTORS
7he 'LreFtors retLrLng Irom oIfiFe E\ rotatLon SXrsXant to $rtLFles �� and �� oI the FomSan\’s 
$rtLFles oI $ssoFLatLon are Messrs. Christopher Gentles, Hugh Gentles, Nicholas Jones and Patrick 
Scott Zho� EeLng elLgLEle� oIIer themselYes Ior re�eleFtLon��
7o FonsLder and LI thoXght fit Sass the IolloZLng resolXtLons�

L� Ȣ7+$7 Messrs� &hrLstoSher *entles� +Xgh *entles� 1LFholas -ones and PatrLFN SFott Ee
 re�eleFted 'LreFtors oI the FomSan\�

3. TO FIX THE REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS.
 7o FonsLder and LI thoXght fit Sass the IolloZLng resolXtLon�
 Ȣ7hat the amoXnt shoZn Ln the $XdLted $FFoXnts Ior the \ear ended ��st 'eFemEer� ���� Ee and 

Ls hereE\ aSSroYed�

4. TO APPOINT AUDITORS AND AUTHORIZE THE DIRECTORS TO FIX THE REMUNERATION 
OF THE AUDITORS.

 7o FonsLder and LI thoXght fit Sass the IolloZLng resolXtLons�
L� Ȣ7+$7 PrLFeZaterhoXse&ooSers haYLng LndLFated theLr ZLllLngness to FontLnXe Ln oIfiFe as 

$XdLtors Ee re�aSSoLnted $XdLtors Ior the ensXLng \ear�ȣ
LL� Ȣ7+$7 the 'LreFtors Ee aXthorL]ed to agree on the remXneratLon oI the aXdLtors�

5. TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH MAY PROPERLY BE TRANSACTED AT AN 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.

'$7(' thLs �th da\ oI $SrLl� ����
%< 25'(5 2) 7+( %2$5'

...................................
'amLon 'odd 
SeFretar\

$ memEer entLtled to attend and Yote at the meetLng Ls entLtled to aSSoLnt a Sro[\ to attend and Yote 
Lnstead oI hLm�her� $ Sro[\ need not Ee a memEer� Pro[\ Iorms mXst Ee lodged at the &omSan\’s 
regLstered oIfiFe� � )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston� not less than �� hoXrs EeIore tLme oI meetLng�
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

7he 'LreFtors oI SeSrod /LmLted sXEmLt hereZLth 
theLr $nnXal 5eSort and $XdLted $FFoXnts Ior the 
\ear ended 'eFemEer ��� �����

FINANCIAL RESULTS 
7he *roXS ended the \ear ZLth a Srofit EeIore 
ta[ oI ���� %LllLon and a net Srofit attrLEXtaEle 
to shareholders oI ���� %LllLon� 'etaLls oI these 
resXlts� along ZLth a FomSarLson ZLth the SreYLoXs 
\ear’s SerIormanFe and the state oI aIIaLrs oI the 
&omSan\ are set oXt Ln the Management 'LsFXssLon 
and $nal\sLs and the )LnanFLal Statements ZhLFh 
are LnFlXded as Sart oI the 5eSort� 

DIVIDEND
$ dLYLdend oI fiIt\ Fents ������� Ser ordLnar\ stoFN 
XnLt to stoFNholders on reFord as at ��th -Xl\� ���� 
Zas SaLd on ��st $XgXst� ����� $ IXrther dLYLdend 
oI Iort\�fiYe Fents ������� Ser ordLnar\ stoFN XnLt 
to stoFNholders on reFord as at ��th 'eFemEer� 
���� Zas SaLd on ��st -anXar\� ����� 

7he 'LreFtors do not reFommend an\ IXrther 
Sa\ment oI dLYLdend Ior �����

DIRECTORS
'r� 1Lgel &larNe resLgned Irom the %oard oI 
'LreFtors eIIeFtLYe MarFh ��� ����� Messr� 
*ranYLlle Marsh Sassed aZa\ on -Xne ��� �����
Messrs� PatrLFN SFott and 1LFholas -ones Zere 
aSSoLnted on $SrLl �� ���� and SeStemEer ��� 
���� resSeFtLYel\�

,n aFFordanFe ZLth $rtLFles �� and �� oI the 
&omSan\’s $rtLFles oI $ssoFLatLon� the IolloZLng 
'LreFtors are retLrLng Irom oIfiFe E\ rotatLon and� 
EeLng elLgLEle� oIIer themselYes Ior re�eleFtLon�

y &hrLstoSher *entles
y +Xgh *entles
y PatrLFN SFott
y 1LFholas -ones

AUDITORS
7he $XdLtors� Messrs� PrLFeZaterhoXse&ooSers 
haYe LndLFated theLr ZLllLngness to FontLnXe 
Ln oIfiFe� 7he 'LreFtors reFommend theLr re�
aSSoLntment�

AUDIT COMMITTEE
7he %oard oI 'LreFtors oI SeSrod /LmLted e[erFLses 
Lts resSonsLELlLtLes Ior the )LnanFLal Statements 
inFlXded Ln thLs 5eSort throXgh Lts $XdLt &ommLttee� 
ZhLFh FonsLsts oI non�management %oard memEers� 
Mrs� MelanLe SXEratLe� &haLrSerson and memEers� 
Mr� %\ron 7homSson� Mr� Peter 7hZaLtes and Mr� 
1LFholas SFott�

7he LndeSendent aFFoXntants and Lnternal 
aXdLtors haYe IXll and Iree aFFess to the $XdLt 
&ommLttee� 7he $XdLt &ommLttee meets TXarterl\ 
ZLth the LndeSendent aFFoXntants and the ,nternal 
$XdLtors� Eoth SrLYatel\ and ZLth management 
Sresent� to dLsFXss aFFoXntLng� aXdLtLng and 
finanFLal reSortLng matters�

EMPLOYEES
7he 'LreFtors ZLsh to e[Sress theLr aSSreFLatLon to 
the emSlo\ees Ior theLr lo\al serYLFe throXghoXt 
the \ear�

SXEmLtted on EehalI oI the %oard oI 'LreFtors�

ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ��
P�%� SFott
CHAIRMAN
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REGISTERED OFFICE: � )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
 7el� ����� ��������
 )a[� ����� �������� or ��������
 (maLl� ForSorate#seSrod�Fom

AUDITORS: PrLFeZaterhoXse&ooSers
 SFotLaEanN &entre
 &orner oI 'XNe 	 Port 5o\al Streets
 .Lngston� -amaLFa

ATTORNEYS:  'Xnn&o[
 �� 'XNe Street
 .Lngston� -amaLFa

 SamXda 	 -ohnson
 ��� *renada &resFent
 .Lngston �� -amaLFa

BANKERS: &,%& )Lrst &arLEEean ,nternatLonal %anN 
 ����� .nXtsIord %oXleYard� 
 .Lngston �

 )Lrst *loEal %anN
 ����� %arEados $YenXe�
 .Lngston �

 1atLonal &ommerFLal %anN -amaLFa /LmLted
 ��� .nXtsIord %oXleYard� .Lngston �� -amaLFa

 SagLFor %anN
 �� 'omLnLFa 'rLYe
 .Lngston �� -amaLFa

 &LtLEanN 1�$� -amaLFa 
 �� +LllFrest $YenXe
 .Lngston �� -amaLFa

REGISTRAR AND -amaLFa &entral SeFXrLtLes 'eSosLtor\ /LmLted
TRANSFER AGENTS: �� +arEoXr Street� .Lngston� 
 -amaLFa

CORPORATE DATA
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INDUSTRIAL SALES LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
7el� ����� ��������

Distribution Outlet
��� MarFXs *arYe\ 'rLYe� .Lngston ��
7el� ����� ��������� ����� ��������
)a[� ����� ��������� ����� ��������

SERGE ISLAND FARMS LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston 
7el� ����� ��������

Dairy Farm 
SeaIorth� St� 7homas 
7el� ����� ����������
)a[� ����� ��������

INTERNATIONAL BISCUITS LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
7el� ����� ��������

Manufacturing Plant
�e 9alentLne 'rLYe� P�2� %o[ ����
.Lngston ��
7el� ����� ��������

CARIBBEAN PRODUCTS COMPANY LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
7el� ����� ��������

Manufacturing Plant
��� SSanLsh 7oZn 5oad� .Lngston ��
7el� ����� ����������� ����� �����������
����� ��������
)a[� ����� ��������

GOLDEN GROVE SUGAR COMPANY LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
7el� ����� ��������

Manufacturing Plant
'XFNenfield� *olden *roYe P�2�� St� 7homas
7el� ����� ��������
)a[� ����� ��������

JAMAICA GRAIN & CEREALS LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston
7el� ����� ��������
)a[� ����� ��������

MUSSON INTERNATIONAL DAIRIES LIMITED
SERGE ISLAND DAIRIES LIMITED
� )elL[ )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston 
7el� ����� ��������

Manufacturing Plant
%\ErooN� %og :alN� St� &atherLne
7el� ����� �����������

FACEY COMMODITY COMPANY LIMITED 
��� MarFXs *arYe\ 'rLYe� .Lngston ��

Merchandise and Pharmaceutical Divisions
�� 1eZSort %oXleYard � .Lngston ��
7el� ����� ��������
)a[� ����� ��������

CONTACT INFORMATION
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�� MXsson �-amaLFa� /LmLted  
�����������

�� &oFonXt ,ndXstr\ %oard �����������

�� -&S' 7rXstee SerYLFes /LmLted ȝ )aFe\ *roXS /LmLted 
�����������

�� *raFe .enned\ /LmLted PensLon SFheme ���������� 

�� 1atLonal ,nsXranFe )Xnd ����������

�� SFotLa -amaLFa ,nYestment Management ȝ $�& ����  ���������

�� 1&% ,nsXranFe &omSan\ /LmLted ȝ $�& ��� ���������

�� -&S' 7rXstee SerYLFes /LmLted ȝ SLgma (TXLt\ ���������

�� 9M :ealth (TXLt\ )Xnd ���������

��� 5LFhard 5� PandohLe ���������

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

 
  �&onneFted Persons� PaXl %� SFott� MelanLe M� SXEratLe

�� PaXl %� SFott 1,/

 ShareholdLng oI FonneFted Sersons �����������

�� MelanLe M� SXEratLe 1,/

       ShareholdLng oI FonneFted Sersons  �����������

�� %\ron (� 7homSson  ���������

�� 5LFhard 5� PandohLe ���������

�� 1LFholas $� SFott 1,/

 ShareholdLng oI FonneFted Sersons ��������� 

�� +Xgh *entles ������

      ShareholdLng oI FonneFted Serson �������

�� Peter -� 7hZaLtes �����

�� MLFhael -� SXEratLe 1,/

�� &hrLstoSher *entles 1,/

��� PatrLFN SFott  ���������

��� 1LFholas -ones 1,/

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS ALONG WITH THEIR CONNECTED PERSONS 

SHAREHOLDERS’ PROFILE 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018
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�� MarLl\n $nderson  ������

�� &arol $ndrade ������

�� 'r� *aYLn %ellam\ ������

�� 'alton %roZn  �����

�� $ngela &ooSer ������

�� 'amLon 'odd  �������

�� 5oger 'rLnNall ������� 

�� *lenLse 'Xrrant�)reFNleton  �������

�� Pernal (llLston    ������ 

��� 'eYon )ranFLs �������

��� &hana +a\ ���������

��� 7rLFLa +Lll 1,/

��� .errLan -ohnson ������

��� (lmae -ones  �������

��� 5\an .LrleZ ������

��� (IraLn /ara  1,/

��� -XnLor /eYLne �������

��� 5oger /eZLs ������

���  -annett /\m ������

���  MLlton Maragh  1,/

���  -o\Fe MLller  ������

���  (Yerton Morgan  ������

���  -eIIre\ Moss�Solomon  �������

���  MLFhael M\ers  �����

���  5LFhard PandohLe  ���������

���  PatrLFN SFott  ���������

���  'r� PatrLFN SterlLng  ������

���  $lton SZeene\  ������

���  $manda :atson  �������

SHAREHOLDINGS OF MANAGEMENT

S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  P r o f i l e





&orSorate *oYernanFe remaLns a Ne\ area oI 
IoFXs Ior SeSrod /LmLted and Ls Fentral to the 
&omSan\’s strategLF oEMeFtLYes� 7he SrLnFLSles 
and the strXFtXre oI oXr SolLF\ ensXre the 
hLghest standards oI transSarenF\� oYersLght 
and LndeSendenFe� ZhLFh serYe the Eest 
Lnterest oI all oXr staNeholders� 7he SraFtLFes 
are FonsLstent ZLth Zorld Eest SraFtLFes and 
adhere to the releYant legal and regXlator\ 
IrameZorN�

2Xr &orSorate *oYernanFe &harter Zas 
estaElLshed Ln 'eFemEer� ���� E\ the %oard 
oI 'LreFtors and reYLeZed Ln 'eFemEer� ����� 
7he Fharter Fan Ee seen Ln more detaLl on the 
&omSan\’s ZeEsLte ȝ www.seprod.com

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Only the very best
- from us to you.
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Only the very best
- from us to you.
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CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT
CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT

P.B. Scott
&haLrman
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In 2018 Seprod executed a number of long laid plans which we believe 
tKe VKareKoOGerV ZiOO Vee tKe EenefitV oI Ior Pan\ \earV to FoPe� $OO tKree 
GiYiVionV oI ,ngreGientV� 'air\ anG 'iVtriEXtion KaG VignifiFant VtrXFtXraO 
FKangeV� &KangeV tKat reVXOteG in a ��� iPproYePent oI profit \ear oYer 
year. But also changes that will develop momentum for continued growth 
anG profit�

DISTRIBUTION

'XrLng the \ear SeSrod SXrFhased )aFe\ &ommodLt\ &omSan\ /td� 7hLs Zas done throXgh a mL[tXre 
oI Fash and shares� 7he Eenefits oI thLs transaFtLon Zere not trXl\ reˊeFted Ln the \ear ���� as onl\ � 
months oI oSeratLons Zere attrLEXtaEle to ����� +oZeYer Ln ���� Ze ZLll see a sLgnLfiFant FontrLEXtLon 
Irom )aFe\ Ln Eoth the addLtLon oI the )aFe\’s Srofit EXt also strategLFall\ as SeSrod noZ Fontrols the 
dLstrLEXtLon oI the Yast maMorLt\ oI Lt’s oZn Erands� :e hoSe thLs ZLll resXlt Ln LmSroYed FoordLnatLon Ln 
the marNetLng oI these SrodXFts resXltLng Ln eYen IXrther sales groZth and Srofit� :e ZLll FontLnXe to 
LnYest Ln oXr dLstrLEXtLon oSeratLons oYer the ne[t IeZ \ears� 7hLs \ear Ze ZLll see stage � oI oXr neZ 
ZarehoXse FomSle[ at SeSrod FomSleted� :e e[SeFt to EXLld on thLs Ln the FomLng \ears to delLYer the 
Yer\ Eest Ln Flass logLstLFs Fenter�

INGREDIENTS

���� reSresented the first IXll \ear oI oSeratLon Ior oXr graLn mLll� , ZoXld lLNe to taNe thLs oSSortXnLt\ 
to thanN all oXr FXstomers Zho haYe sXSSorted Xs Ln the last \ear Ln groZLng that EXsLness� :e NneZ 
that ZLth a IoFXs to EeLng FXstomer FentrLF and a deeS FommLtment to TXalLt\ that EXsLness ZoXld oIIer 
real YalXe to the trade� :e Ieel SrLYLleged that Ze are noZ SroYLdLng the Yer\ Eest TXalLt\ SrodXFt to 
the trade and Ze are honored to haYe reFeLYed sXFh sXSSort� 7he LnYestment that Zas done MoLntl\ ZLth 
oXr Sartners SeaEoard &orSoratLon Lnto -amaLFa *raLn and &ereals /LmLted ZLll FontLnXe to do Zell as Ze 
maLntaLn oXr IoFXs on TXalLt\ as Zell as neZ e[Sort marNets Ln the FomLng \ear�  

C h a i r m a n ’ s  R e p o r t

64%
IMPROVEMENT

OF PROFIT
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:e ZLll see the FlosXre oI the sXgar oSeratLon Ln ����� 7hLs Ls long oYerdXe� 8nIortXnatel\ had the 
LndXstr\ Eeen restrXFtXred Ln a tLmel\ manner thLs FoXld haYe Eeen aYoLded� +oZeYer desSLte � \ears 
oI loEE\Lng aEoXt YarLoXs LssXes Ze Fan no longer sXSSort the losses� 2n the ErLght sLde thLs ZLll haYe 
a dLreFt LmSroYement Ln oXr SrofitaELlLt\ as Ze FXt oXt the losses� :e ZLll Ee LnYestLng Ln neZ SrofitaEle 
SroMeFts on the lands and Ln ���� these SroMeFts ZLll Fome to lLght leadLng to LmSroYed SrosSeFts Ln the 
SarLsh oI St� 7homas�

'XrLng the \ear Ze also LnYested Ln a neZ Fo�generatLon Slant at &arLEEean ProdXFts ZhLFh ZLll resXlt 
Ln sLgnLfiFant energ\ saYLngs Ln ���� and Ee\ond� :e ZLll Ee eYalXatLng all oXr oSeratLons Ior energ\ 
eIfiFLenFLes as Ze FontLnXe on the Sath oI the deYeloSment oI oXr IaFtorLes and dLstrLEXtLons Fenters�

DAIRY

���� Zas the last \ear oI Serge SroFessLng and SaFNLng at the IaFtor\ Ln St� 7homas� 7he merger oI the 
tZo daLr\ IaFtorLes �St� 7homas and %og :alN� ZLll Ee FomSleted Ln ����� 7he resXlt ZLll Ee a first Flass 
daLr\ IaFLlLt\ ZLth the aELlLt\ to FontraFt SaFN Ior gloEal leaders as Zell as haYe enoXgh FaSaFLt\ to groZ 
oXr oZn EXsLness� (ssentLall\ YolXmes drLYe XnLt SrLFe and Ze haYe SXt tZo IaFtorLes together resXltLng 
Ln a materLal LmSroYement Ln eIfiFLenFLes� :e are Yer\ EXllLsh on the daLr\ LndXstr\� 7he daLr\ LndXstr\ 
Ln -amaLFa has SotentLal to e[Sand and redXFe LmSorts� ,t also has the oSSortXnLt\ to e[Sand throXgh 
e[Sorts� :e Lntend on doLng Eoth� :e ZLll see SrodXFt e[SansLon and Ze ZLll see sLgnLfiFant groZth Ln 
oXr e[Sort Erands as Zell oXr FontraFt SaFNLng Ln the ne[t \ear� 

, ZoXld lLNe to taNe thLs oSSortXnLt\ to thanN the management and emSlo\ees� man\ oI Zhom , am noZ 
SrLYLleged to FonsLder Sartners ���� oI emSlo\ees noZ oZn stoFN Ln SeSrod�� Zho ZorNed tremendoXsl\ 
hard throXghoXt ���� to delLYer sLgnLfiFantl\ LmSroYed resXlts� 5esXlts ZhLFh ZLll Ee EXLlt on Ln �����  
'XrLng the \ear 'r� 1Lgel &larNe resLgned as a dLreFtor oI the FomSan\� +e dLd so Ln order to serYe the 
SeoSle oI -amaLFa as a MemEer oI ParlaLment� 'r� &larNe FontrLEXted greatl\ to the FomSan\ dXrLng 
hLs \ears as a dLreFtor and ZLll Ee mLssed� +oZeYer Ze Fonsole oXrselYes Ln NnoZLng oXr loss ZLll Ee 
-amaLFa’s gaLn� Sadl\ Mr� *ranYLlle Marsh oXr longest standLng dLreFtor Sassed aZa\ dXrLng the \ear� 
+e ZLll Ee greatl\ mLssed E\ dLreFtors and management alLNe� , ZoXld lLNe to thanN the %oard Ior theLr 
FommLtment and hard ZorN� 7he leadershLS oI the FomSan\ has delLYered a hLgh leYel oI energ\ and 
FommLtment� 7he\ haYe e[eFXted Zell dXrLng the \ear and theLr aFtLons Ln LnYestLng Ln the FomSan\ 
sSeaN loXder than Zords�  

����������������������������������
P�% SFott
CHAIRMAN





20

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS 

P. B. SCOTT 
CHAIRMAN

P% SFott Ls the &haLrman� &(2 and SrLnFLSal shareholder oI the 
MXsson *roXS� 

+e MoLned the groXS Ln ���� and EeFame &(2 Ln ����� ,n ���� 
he Zas aSSoLnted &haLrman oI the %oard� +e Ls resSonsLEle Ior 
the strategLF dLreFtLon� SerIormanFe and oYerall oSeratLons oI 
the MXsson *roXS and all oI Lts sXEsLdLarLes LnFlXdLng the SeSrod 
*roXS� P%S *roXS� 7� *eddes *rant 'LstrLEXtors /td�� *eneral 
$FFLdent ,nsXranFe &omSan\ /td� among others�

,n addLtLon to hLs resSonsLELlLtLes at MXsson he serYes on man\ 
SXElLF Eoards and FommLssLons� +e Ls a trXstee oI the $merLFan 
,nternatLonal SFhool oI -amaLFa and FXrrentl\ Ls &haLrman oI the 
'eYeloSment %anN oI -amaLFa �'%-�� +e Ls a Sast PresLdent oI the 
PrLYate SeFtor 2rganL]atLon oI -amaLFa� 

PETER J. THWAITES 
VICE CHAIRMAN

Mr� 7hZaLtes Ls a retLred ,nsXranFe ([eFXtLYe� a Sast PresLdent 
oI the PrLYate SeFtor 2rganLsatLon oI -amaLFa and a Sast 
&haLrman oI the (leFtoral $dYLsor\ &ommLttee� noZ the 
(leFtoral &ommLssLon oI -amaLFa� +e Ls a 'LreFtor oI )aFe\ 
&ommodLt\ &omSan\ /LmLted� &rLme StoS -amaLFa� 7hZaLtes 
)Lnson SharS ,nsXranFe %roNers� *XardLan *eneral ,nsXranFe 
-amaLFa� a sXEsLdLar\ oI *XardLan +oldLngs oI 7rLnLdad and 
7oEago and 5ototeFh ,nternatLonal /LmLted�

P% SFott Ls the &haLrman� &(2 and SrLnFLSal shareholder oI the 

+e MoLned the groXS Ln ���� and EeFame &(2 Ln ����� ,n ���� 
he Zas aSSoLnted &haLrman oI the %oard� +e Ls resSonsLEle Ior 
the strategLF dLreFtLon� SerIormanFe and oYerall oSeratLons oI 
the MXsson *roXS and all oI Lts sXEsLdLarLes LnFlXdLng the SeSrod 
*roXS� P%S *roXS� 7� *eddes *rant 'LstrLEXtors /td�� *eneral 

,n addLtLon to hLs resSonsLELlLtLes at MXsson he serYes on man\ 
SXElLF Eoards and FommLssLons� +e Ls a trXstee oI the $merLFan 
,nternatLonal SFhool oI -amaLFa and FXrrentl\ Ls &haLrman oI the 
'eYeloSment %anN oI -amaLFa �'%-�� +e Ls a Sast PresLdent oI the 

20



21

B o a r d  o f  D o r e c t o r s

RICHARD R. PANDOHIE, JP 
CEO/MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr� PandohLe has Eeen the &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 2IfiFer and 
ManagLng 'LreFtor oI SeSrod /LmLted sLnFe -anXar\� ����� 
+e has held managerLal SosLtLons Ln seYeral ForSoratLons 
Ln the &arLEEean and &entral $merLFa� +e has Eeen the 
'eSXt\ PresLdent oI the -amaLFa ManXIaFtXrers $ssoFLatLon 
�noZ the -amaLFa ManXIaFtXrers and ([Sorters $ssoFLatLon� 
sLnFe ���� and a 'LreFtor oI 5ed StrLSe /LmLted sLnFe ����� 
+e holds a M%$ Ln &orSorate )LnanFe and 2SeratLons 
Management Irom the MF*Lll 8nLYersLt\ and a %SF Ln 
&hemLFal (ngLneerLng Irom 7he 8nLYersLt\ oI the :est 
,ndLes� 

BYRON E. THOMPSON, JP, MBA 

Mr� 7homSson Ls a Iormer &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 2IfiFer and 
ManagLng 'LreFtor oI the SeSrod *roXS oI &omSanLes� +e 
also sLts on the %oard oI SeSrod’s sXEsLdLarLes and $XdLt 
&ommLttee� +e Ls also a 'LreFtor oI (SSle\ /LmLted and 
the SalYatLon $rm\ $dYLsor\ %oard and a &oXnFLl memEer 
oI the %XreaX oI Standards� +e holds a %aFhelor’s 'egree 
Ln &hemLstr\ and *eolog\ Irom the 8nLYersLt\ oI the :est 
,ndLes and an M%$ Irom %arr\ 8nLYersLt\� )lorLda� 8S$�

BYRON E. THOMPSON, 

Mr� 7homSson Ls a Iormer &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 2IfiFer and 
ManagLng 'LreFtor oI the SeSrod *roXS oI &omSanLes� +e 
also sLts on the %oard oI SeSrod’s sXEsLdLarLes and $XdLt 
&ommLttee� +e Ls also a 'LreFtor oI (SSle\ /LmLted and 
the SalYatLon $rm\ $dYLsor\ %oard and a &oXnFLl memEer 
oI the %XreaX oI Standards� +e holds a %aFhelor’s 'egree 
Ln &hemLstr\ and *eolog\ Irom the 8nLYersLt\ oI the :est 
,ndLes and an M%$ Irom %arr\ 8nLYersLt\� )lorLda� 8S$�
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PATRICK A. SCOTT

PatrLFN $� : SFott Ls the &haLrman and &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 
2IfiFer oI )aFe\ &ommodLt\ &omSan\ /LmLted and the 
([eFXtLYe 'eSXt\ &haLrman oI the )aFe\ *roXS� PrLor to 
these aSSoLntments� he serYed as ManagLng 'LreFtor and 
as a 'LreFtor oI the FomSan\� $ seasoned e[eFXtLYe� Mr� 
SFott also sLts on the maLn %oards oI the MXsson *roXS 
and Zas a Ne\ figXre Ln the gloEal deYeloSment oI )aFe\’s 
7eleFom EXsLness� $ddLtLonall\� dXrLng hLs tenXre as 
*eneral Manager oI the PharmaFeXtLFal 'LYLsLon oI )aFe\ 
&ommodLt\ &omSan\ /LmLted� he Zas LnstrXmental Ln Lts 
strong and raSLd groZth� MarNetLng� traLned� he attended 
SeneFa &ollege and 5\erson 8nLYersLt\ Ln 7oronto� &anada�
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PATRICK A. SCOTT

PatrLFN $� : SFott Ls the &haLrman and &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 
2IfiFer oI )aFe\ &ommodLt\ &omSan\ /LmLted and the 
([eFXtLYe 'eSXt\ &haLrman oI the )aFe\ *roXS� PrLor to 
these aSSoLntments� he serYed as ManagLng 'LreFtor and 
as a 'LreFtor oI the FomSan\� $ seasoned e[eFXtLYe� Mr� 
SFott also sLts on the maLn %oards oI the MXsson *roXS 
and Zas a Ne\ figXre Ln the gloEal deYeloSment oI )aFe\’s 
7eleFom EXsLness� $ddLtLonall\� dXrLng hLs tenXre as 
*eneral Manager oI the PharmaFeXtLFal 'LYLsLon oI )aFe\ 
&ommodLt\ &omSan\ /LmLted� he Zas LnstrXmental Ln Lts 
strong and raSLd groZth� MarNetLng� traLned� he attended 
SeneFa &ollege and 5\erson 8nLYersLt\ Ln 7oronto� &anada�

MELANIE M. SUBRATIE, BSC. (HONS.)
MelanLe SXEratLe Ls &haLrman and &(2 oI Stanle\ Motta /td� a FomSan\ 
lLsted on the -amaLFa StoFN ([Fhange� resSonsLEle Ior deYeloSLng oYer 
���N sT It oI real estate Irom FonFeSt to FomSleted FonstrXFtLon� to a 
IXll\ tenanted teFhnolog\ SarN�

She Ls 9LFe &haLrman oI MXsson �-a� /td� a 'LreFtor oI all Lts sXEsLdLarLes� 
Ln addLtLon to EeLng 9LFe &haLrman oI *eneral $FFLdent� (SSle\ /td� and 
7� *eddes *rant� She Ls &haLrman oI 7ransaFtLon (�PLns /td� and sLts on 
the e[eFXtLYe oI SeSrod *roXS oI &omSanLes and all oI Lts sXEsLdLar\ 
Eoards� MelanLe FhaLrs the $XdLt &ommLttee Ior Eoth ProdXFtLYe %XsLness 
SolXtLons /td and SeSrod /td�

She Ls &haLrman oI SeSrod )oXndatLon� MXsson )oXndatLon� a IoXnder 
and &haLrSerson oI -amaLFan *Lrls &odLng� and &haLrman oI 5,S( /LIe 
Management� $ nXmEer oI her IoXndatLon SroMeFts haYe LnFlXded a 
maMor IoFXs on deYeloSLng teFhnolog\ and FodLng sNLlls Ior -amaLFan 
\oXth� MelanLe Ls a Neen $ngel LnYestor� sLts on the %oards oI /oan&LrrXs� 
%ooNIXsLon� and Ls a Eoard memEer oI )Lrst $ngels LtselI� She sLts on 
the %oards oI %Xstamante &hLldren’s +osSLtal and the 1atLonal MXseXm 
oI -amaLFa� She Ls FXrrentl\ ZorNLng to set XS -amaLFa’s first large sFale 
sNateSarN�

MelanLe Ls IoXrth 9LFe PresLdent oI the -amaLFa &hamEer oI &ommerFe� 
and Ls the FXrrent &haLr oI the /egLslatLon� 5egXlatLon and ProFess 
,mSroYement &ommLttee� MelanLe Ls an honors gradXate oI the /ondon 
SFhool oI (FonomLFs� and ZorNed Ior a SolLtLFal neZsZLre start XS and 
as a FonsXltant Ln the )LnanFLal SerYLFes 'LYLsLon oI 'eloLtte and 7oXFhe 
Ln /ondon EeIore retXrnLng to -amaLFa� MelanLe Ls mother to three gLrls�
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B o a r d  o f  D o r e c t o r s

NICHOLAS A. SCOTT 

Mr� 1LFholas SFott Ls the &hLeI ,nYestment 2IfiFer oI 
the MXsson *roXS and serYes as a 'LreFtor oI most oI 
Lts sXEsLdLarLes and aIfilLates� +e Ls also the ManagLng 
'LreFtor oI (SSle\ /LmLted and the &haLrman oI the (SSle\ 
&arLEEean ProSert\ )Xnd /LmLted S&&� Mr� SFott Ls the 
&haLrman oI the StXdent /oan %XreaX and Ls a Iormer 9LFe�
PresLdent oI the PrLYate SeFtor 2rganLsatLon oI -amaLFa� 
+e holds a %�SF� Ln (FonomLFs Irom the :harton SFhool 
at the 8nLYersLt\ oI Penns\lYanLa� an M�%�$ Irom &olXmELa 
%XsLness SFhool and an M�P�$� Irom the +arYard .enned\ 
SFhool oI *oYernment�

CHRISTOPHER C. GENTLES

&hrLstoSher *entles Zas aSSoLnted a 'LreFtor oI the 
SeSrod %oard Ln $SrLl ����� +e Ls FXrrentl\ the &haLrman 
oI the &oFonXt ,ndXstr\ %oard and emSlo\ed to the SSLrLts 
Pool $ssoFLatLon� and Lts sXEsLdLar\ &arLEEean Molasses 
&omSan\ -amaLFa /td� as *eneral Manager� +e Zas Iormer 
*eneral Manager�)arm 2SeratLons oI -P 7roSLFal )oods 
/td�� Iormer *roXS ProdXFe Manager Ior SXSerPlXs )ood 
Stores and the Iormer 'LreFtor *eneral oI the &oIIee 
,ndXstr\ %oard oI -amaLFa� +e Zas the Iormer PresLdent 
oI PromeFaIe� the regLonal organL]atLon that Sromotes 
the deYeloSment oI the FXltXre oI FoIIee FXltLYatLon� and 
marNetLng ZLthLn seYen /atLn $merLFan and &arLEEean 
FoXntrLes� +e has Xndergone traLnLng Srogrammes Ln 
,rrLgatLon and ([tensLon Irom the 5XSSLn ,nstLtXte Ln 
,srael� and FomSleted FoXrses Ln merFhandL]Lng Irom 
.ellog’s %XsLness SFhool� the 8nLYersLt\ oI MLFhLgan� 
+e holds hLs *loEal M%$ Irom the ManFhester %XsLness 
SFhool Ln the 8nLted .Lngdom as Zell as hLs %aFhelor’s Ln 
$gronom\ Irom 8:,� St� $XgXstLne� 7rLnLdad�

Mr� 1LFholas SFott Ls the &hLeI ,nYestment 2IfiFer oI 
the MXsson *roXS and serYes as a 'LreFtor oI most oI 
Lts sXEsLdLarLes and aIfilLates� +e Ls also the ManagLng 
'LreFtor oI (SSle\ /LmLted and the &haLrman oI the (SSle\ 
&arLEEean ProSert\ )Xnd /LmLted S&&� Mr� SFott Ls the 
&haLrman oI the StXdent /oan %XreaX and Ls a Iormer 9LFe�
PresLdent oI the PrLYate SeFtor 2rganLsatLon oI -amaLFa� 
+e holds a %�SF� Ln (FonomLFs Irom the :harton SFhool 
at the 8nLYersLt\ oI Penns\lYanLa� an M�%�$ Irom &olXmELa 
%XsLness SFhool and an M�P�$� Irom the +arYard .enned\ 
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HUGH W. GENTLES, JP, B.A

$SSoLnted Ln ����� Mr� +Xgh *entles Ls a gradXate oI 
<orN 8nLYersLt\� 7oronto� &anada� +e Ls the oZner oI 
*lastonEXr\ )arm and )oXnder�Manager oI *lastonEXr\ 
PXrYe\or &omSan\ /td� Mr� *entles has serYed on seYeral 
natLonal %oards LnFlXdLng 5Xral $grLFXltXral 'eYeloSment 
$XthorLt\ �5$'$�� %anana ([Sort &omSan\ �%(&2� and 
&orreFtLonal SerYLFes ProdXFtLon &omSan\ �&2SP52'�� 
+e FXrrentl\ sLts on the &oFonXt ,ndXstr\ %oard and Ls 
also a IoXndLng memEer and FXrrent &haLrman oI Potato 
	 2nLon ProdXFers $ssoFLatLon oI -amaLFa �P2P$��

$SSoLnted Ln ����� Mr� +Xgh *entles Ls a gradXate oI 
<orN 8nLYersLt\� 7oronto� &anada� +e Ls the oZner oI 
*lastonEXr\ )arm and )oXnder�Manager oI *lastonEXr\ 
PXrYe\or &omSan\ /td� Mr� *entles has serYed on seYeral 
natLonal %oards LnFlXdLng 5Xral $grLFXltXral 'eYeloSment 
$XthorLt\ �5$'$�� %anana ([Sort &omSan\ �%(&2� and 
&orreFtLonal SerYLFes ProdXFtLon &omSan\ �&2SP52'�� 
+e FXrrentl\ sLts on the &oFonXt ,ndXstr\ %oard and Ls 
also a IoXndLng memEer and FXrrent &haLrman oI Potato 

MICHAEL J. SUBRATIE, BCE, MSCE, EIT, JP

Mr� MLFhael SXEratLe Ls the ManagLng 'LreFtor oI 7� *eddes 
*rant �'LstrLEXtors� /LmLted as Zell as the &hLeI 2SeratLng 
2IfiFer and a 'LreFtor oI the MXsson �-amaLFa� /td� Ln Fharge 
oI MXsson’s manXIaFtXrLng and tradLng EXsLness entLtLes� +e 
has serYed on seYeral goYernment %oards LnFlXdLng the 8rEan 
'eYeloSment &orSoratLon� -amaLFa 8rEan 7ransLt &omSan\� 
-amaLFa 5aLlZa\ &orSoratLon� Montego )reeSort /LmLted and 
the Iormer PegasXs +otel� +e also sLts on the %oard oI the 
$merLFan &hamEer oI &ommerFe� and Ls the +onorar\ &onsXl 
oI %angladesh� ,n 1oYemEer� ����� MLFhael Zas aSSoLnted as 
'ean oI 7he &onsXlar &orSs oI -amaLFa� ,n hLs FaSaFLt\ as 'ean� 
MLFhael reSresents oYer �� FoXntrLes that do not haYe resLdent 
amEassadors Ln -amaLFa� MLFhael Ls an aFtLYe memEer oI the 
<oXng PresLdents’ 2rganL]atLon �<P2�� +e holds a %aFhelor’s 
'egree Ln &LYLl (ngLneerLng ZLth hLghest honor Irom *eorgLa 
,nstLtXte oI 7eFhnolog\ and a Master’s 'egree Ln StrXFtXral 
(ngLneerLng Irom PXrdXe 8nLYersLt\� 
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-amaLFa 5aLlZa\ &orSoratLon� Montego )reeSort /LmLted and 
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B o a r d  o f  D o r e c t o r s

NICHOLAS A. JONES

Mr� 1LFholas -ones has Eeen the ManagLng 'LreFtor 
and &haLrman oI )red M� -ones (states /LmLted sLnFe 
����� +e FXrrentl\ serYes as a 'LreFtor on the &oFonXt 
,ndXstr\ %oard and the -amaLFa $grLFXltXral 'eYeloSment 
)oXndatLon� +e Iormerl\ held the SosLtLon oI the 
$grLFXltXral 'LreFtor oI the -amaLFa ProdXFers *roXS� the 
ManagLng 'LreFtor oI MontSelLer &LtrXs &omSan\ and 
*eneral Manager oI *Xardsman /td� Mr� -ones has a %SF Ln 
$grLFXltXre Irom the 8nLYersLt\ oI *eorgLa Ln the 8S$ and 
a MS& Ln $grLFXltXral SFLenFe Irom MelEoXrne 8nLYersLt\ 
Ln $XstralLa and has attended adYanFed management 
Srograms at the 8nLYersLt\ oI the :est ,ndLes and the 
:harton SFhool at the 8nLYersLt\ oI Penns\lYanLa�

Mr� 1LFholas -ones has Eeen the ManagLng 'LreFtor 
and &haLrman oI )red M� -ones (states /LmLted sLnFe 
����� +e FXrrentl\ serYes as a 'LreFtor on the &oFonXt 
,ndXstr\ %oard and the -amaLFa $grLFXltXral 'eYeloSment 
)oXndatLon� +e Iormerl\ held the SosLtLon oI the 
$grLFXltXral 'LreFtor oI the -amaLFa ProdXFers *roXS� the 
ManagLng 'LreFtor oI MontSelLer &LtrXs &omSan\ and 
*eneral Manager oI *Xardsman /td� Mr� -ones has a %SF Ln 
$grLFXltXre Irom the 8nLYersLt\ oI *eorgLa Ln the 8S$ and 
a MS& Ln $grLFXltXral SFLenFe Irom MelEoXrne 8nLYersLt\ 
Ln $XstralLa and has attended adYanFed management 
Srograms at the 8nLYersLt\ oI the :est ,ndLes and the 
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DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE - 2018

Seprod Board Executive 
Committee

Audit
Committee

Superannuation 
Committee

Insurance
Committee

Number of Meetings 11 11 4 4 1

PaXl SFott �� ��

5LFhard PandohLe �� ��

Peter 7hZaLtes �� �� � � �

%\ron 7homSson �� �� � �

MelanLe SXEratLe �� �� � �

MLFhael SXEratLe ��

1LFholas SFott �� �

&hrLstoSher *entles ��

+Xgh *entles ��

PatrLFN SFott 
�aSSoLnted $SrLl �����

� �

1LFholas -ones 
�aSSoLnted SeStemEer 
�����

�
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BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. P.B. Scott
&haLrSerson

Mr. P.J. Thwaites Mr. B.E. Thompson

Mr. R.R. Pandohie Mrs. M. M. Subratie Mr. P.A. Scott
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mrs. M. M. Subratie
&haLrSerson

Mr. B.E. Thompson Mr. P. J. Thwaites Mr. N.A. Scott

SUPERANNUATION COMMITTEE

Mr. P.J. Thwaites
&haLrSerson

Mr. N.A. Scott Mrs. M.M. Subratie

INSURANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. P.J. Thwaites
&haLrSerson

Mr. P.B. Scott Mr. B.E. Thompson Mr. N.A. Scott

B o a r d  S u b - c o m m i t t e e s
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
)25 7+( ),1$1&,$/ <($5 (1'(' �� '(&(M%(5 ����

OVERVIEW

7he $XdLt &ommLttee Ls estaElLshed E\ the Eoard as a sXE�FommLttee and Lts SoZers are delegated E\ 
the Eoard� 7he $XdLt &ommLttee assLsts the Eoard Ln IXlfillLng sSeFLfiF oYersLght resSonsLELlLtLes� ZhLFh 
LnFlXde the SeSrod *roXS’s finanFLal reSortLng� Lnternal Fontrol s\stems� rLsN management s\stems and 
the Lnternal and e[ternal aXdLt IXnFtLons� 7he Eoard retaLns resSonsLELlLt\ Ior deFLsLons� SerIormanFe and 
oXtFomes oI the $XdLt &ommLttee�

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

7he $XdLt &ommLttee meets TXarterl\ and FomSrLses IoXr ��� LndeSendent Eoard memEers� LnFlXsLYe 
oI the FhaLr� Mrs� MelanLe SXEratLe� 7he taEle on Sage �� shoZs the memEers’ attendanFe to these 
meetLngs�

$XdLt &ommLttee meetLngs are also attended E\ the &hLeI ([eFXtLYe 2IfiFer� &hLeI )LnanFLal 2IfiFer�
&orSorate SeFretar\ and other memEers oI senLor management oI the SeSrod *roXS as releYant to the 
SartLFXlar matters EeLng dLsFXssed� as Zell as the Lnternal and e[ternal aXdLtors� 7he &ommLttee also 
meets TXarterl\ ZLth the Lnternal and e[ternal aXdLtors ZLthoXt an\ memEer oI the management team 
Sresent� Ln order Ior the &ommLttee memEers to haYe a dLsFXssLon aEoXt an\ matters oI sLgnLfiFanFe that 
arose dXrLng the aXdLt SroFesses�

ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

7he maLn oEMeFtLYes oI the &ommLttee LnFlXde assLstLng the Eoard to dLsFharge Lts resSonsLELlLt\ Ln 
relatLon to the IolloZLng areas�

ȧ 5eSortLng oI finanFLal LnIormatLon�
ȧ $SSlLFatLon oI aFFoXntLng SolLFLes�
ȧ 5eYLeZ oI ,nternal Fontrol s\stems and SroFedXres�
ȧ $deTXaF\ oI rLsN management SroFedXres and SraFtLFes�
ȧ ProSrLet\ oI EXsLness SolLFLes and SraFtLFes�
ȧ &omSlLanFe ZLth aSSlLFaEle laZs� regXlatLons� standards and Eest SraFtLFe gXLdelLnes�
ȧ )ormal IorXm Ior FommXnLFatLon EetZeen the Eoard and senLor management�
ȧ &ommXnLFatLon EetZeen the Eoard and the Lnternal and e[ternal aXdLtors�
ȧ )aFLlLtatLng the maLntenanFe oI the LndeSendenFe oI the e[ternal aXdLtor�
ȧ ProYLdLng a strXFtXred reSortLng lLne Ior Lnternal aXdLt and IaFLlLtatLng the LndeSendenFe oI the 
 Lnternal aXdLtor� and
ȧ &onsLderatLon oI sLgnLfiFant matters that Zere raLsed dXrLng the aXdLt SroFesses�
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7he $XdLt &ommLttee eIIeFtLYel\ FarrLed oXt these oEMeFtLYes dXrLng and Ln resSeFt oI the \ear ended 
�� 'eFemEer ����� ,n SartLFXlar� the &ommLttee� assessed and aSSroYed the sFoSes oI the Lnternal 
and e[ternal aXdLt Slans� reYLeZed Lnternal aXdLt reSorts and assessed management’s resSonses and 
aFtLons ZLth resSeFt to the findLng and the reFommendatLons made� reYLeZed management letters Irom 
e[ternal aXdLtors and assessed management’s resSonses and aFtLons ZLth resSeFt to the findLng and the 
reFommendatLons made� and reYLeZed and reFommended Eoard aSSroYal Ior the XnaXdLted TXarterl\ 
finanFLal reSorts and the annXal aXdLted finanFLal statements�

��������������������������������������������������
MelanLe M� SXEratLe
CHAIRPERSON

A u d i t  C o m m i t t e e  R e p o r t
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1. RICHARD R. PANDOHIE, JP
 GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

2. MILTON MARAGH 
 GROUP BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

3. GLENISE DURRANT-FRECKLETON
 GROUP STRATEGY AND PLANNING MANAGER

4. DAMION D. DODD
 GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND
 CORPORATE SECRETARY
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1. KERRIAN JOHNSON 
 GROUP MARKETING MANAGER

2. AMANDA WATSON
 EXPORT MANAGER

3. TRICIA HILL
 COUNTRY MANAGER
 TRINIDAD & TOBAGO

4. EFRAIN LARA 
 AREA MANAGER
  DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
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1. MARILYN ANDERSON, JP
 GENERAL MANAGER 
 CARIBBEAN PRODUCTS COMPANY LIMITED

2. DR. GAVIN BELLAMY, JP
 GENERAL MANAGER 
 SERGE ISLAND FARMS LIMITED

3. ANGELA COOPER
 FINANCIAL CONSULTANT

4. CAROL GORDON-ANDRADE 
 GROUP INNOVATION AND QUALITY MANAGER

5. JEFFREY MOSS-SOLOMON
 GENERAL MANAGER 
 JAMAICA GRAIN AND CEREALS LIMITED

6. DEVON FRANCIS
 GENERAL MANAGER 
 MUSSON INTERNATIONAL DAIRIES LIMITED

1
2

3

54 6
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1. RYAN F. KIRLEW
 GENERAL MANAGER
 INDUSTRIAL SALES LIMITED

2. PATRICK STERLING, PHD.
 GROUP HUMAN RESOURCE
 AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS MANAGER

3. ROGER DRINKALL
 GENERAL MANAGER 
 FACEY PHARMACEUTICAL DIVISION

4. DAVE VIRTUE 
 GROUP SECURITY, SAFETY, HEALTH
 AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

5. CHANA HAY
 GENERAL MANAGER
 FACEY MERCHANDISE DIVISION

6. ROGER LEWIS 
 LEAD INFORMATION
 TECHNOLOGY MANAGER

1
2

6

5
4

3
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION & 

ANALYSIS

Dear Shareholders, Associates and Customers,

7hanN \oX Ior \oXr FonfidenFe and sXSSort oI the SeSrod *roXS� (Yer\thLng 
that Ze do and eYer\ LnYestment that Ze maNe Ls desLgned to ErLng YalXe 
to \oX� ,t Zas a Zatershed \ear Ior the organL]atLon� EeLng gLYen the PrLme 
MLnLster’s $Zard Ior /arge &hamSLon ([Sorter� the *oYernor *eneral’s 
$Zard Ior 2Yerall &hamSLon ([Sorter and the *oYernor *eneral’s $Zard Ior 
ManXIaFtXrer oI the <ear� :e Zere elated and hXmEled E\ these reFognLtLons 
and haYe reFommLtted to raLsLng the Ear eYen hLgher�

Richard R. Pandohie
&(2�ManagLng 'LreFtor
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M a n a g e m e n t  D i s c u s s i o n  &  A n a l y s i s

:e haYe Eeen on thLs MoXrne\ Ior the Sast IoXr ��� \ears to Freate a Eest�Ln�Flass organL]atLon� as sXFh� 
thLs reSort Ls sLmSl\ an XSdate to oXtlLne hoZ Ze haYe delLYered so Iar agaLnst the FommLtments made�

7Ke taEOe EeOoZ VXPPari]eV VoPe oI oXr Ne\ finanFiaO perIorPanFe inGiFatorV

SeSrod’s good SerIormanFe� as Zell as a solLd EalanFe sheet reLnIorFes that the *roXS Ls on a firm IootLng 
to FontLnXe to SXrsXe Lts groZth agenda�

���� Zas another \ear oI LnnoYatLons� domestLF sales groZth� e[Sort sales groZth and a massLYel\ 
e[Sanded dLstrLEXtLon IootSrLnt throXgh the aFTXLsLtLon oI the )aFe\ &onsXmer 'LYLsLon� 7he SXrFhase oI 
)aFe\ &onsXmer 'LYLsLon has gLYen Xs the SrLYLlege oI ZorNLng ZLth Zorld Flass Erands sXFh as %rXnsZLFN� 
Mondele]� .raIt� *o\a� (Ye� 5oFhe� Pfi]er and %oehrLnger ,ngelheLm�

:e Eegan the FonsolLdatLon oI the daLr\ EXsLness Ln ����� a massLYe XndertaNLng that ZLll FXlmLnate Ln 
one ama]Lng IaFtor\ Eased Ln %og :alN and maMor teFhnologLFal XSgrades to the Iarms� 7he SroMeFt Ls 
Zell on the Za\ to FomSletLon and the Eenefits ZLll start EeLng seen Ln the seFond halI oI �����

7he *raLn MLll has delLYered as e[SeFted and has EroXght tremendoXs Eenefit to hoXseholds and 
manXIaFtXrers throXgh Lts sXSerLor TXalLt\ SrodXFts� 5eYenXe FontLnXes to rLse steadLl\� and oXr 
dLstrLEXtLon IootSrLnt Ior ˊoXr and Forn SrodXFts noZ FoYers seYeral &$5,&2M FoXntrLes� 8S$� 8.� 
&anada� &olomELa and +aLtL� 7he &omSan\ ZLll Ee LntrodXFLng some e[FLtLng LnnoYatLons Ln thLs sSaFe 
that ZLll haYe a SosLtLYe LmSaFt on the IarmLng FommXnLtLes throXghoXt the length and Ereadth oI 
-amaLFa�

$s Ze doXEle doZn on eTXLSment LnYestment and retoolLng� Ze haYe neYer lost sLght oI the FrLtLFal 
role that oXr SeoSle Sla\ Ln ensXrLng oXr sXFFess� ,n ����� the %oard aSSroYed a sFheme that resXlted 
Ln emSlo\ees haYLng the oStLon oI oZnLng SeSrod shares� $SSro[Lmatel\ ��� oI the emSlo\ees aYaLled 
themselYes oI the oStLon maNLng them oZners Ln the EXsLness� , am delLghted Zhen , go on a IaFtor\ 
ˊoor and someone engages me Ln a serLoXs dLsFXssLon on Zhat Management Ls doLng to ensXre that hLs�
her share SrLFe Ls LmSroYLng and that dLYLdends ZLll Ee SaLd� 7he mental shLIt Irom emSlo\ee to oZner 
ZLll Xnleash entreSreneXrLal ]eal and ensXre that oXr emSlo\ees SartLFLSate Ln Zealth FreatLon� 

2018 ($)              2017 ($)           Change ($)          Change (%)             

Revenue

Operating profit

Net profit

Total assets

Equity

$23.5b

$2.2b

$1.1b

$35.3b 

$15.7b

$16.5b

$1.3b

$648m

$20.0b 

$9.9b

$7b

$841m

$414m

$15.3b

$5.8b 

43%

63%

64% 

77% 

59% 
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'esSLte the SosLtLYe SerIormanFe� there remaLns some LssXes that ZLll haYe to Ee addressed to IXrther 
LmSroYe resXlts and enhanFe shareholder YalXe� 7he most SressLng oI these Ls to elLmLnate the losses at 
*olden *roYe SXgar &omSan\ /LmLted �**S&�� 7he &omSan\ has Eeen e[SlorLng seYeral oStLons to helS 
Xs transLtLon the EXsLness� and these ZLll Ee more IXll\ e[SlaLned Ln the FomLng months�

SeSrod FontLnXes to strengthen Lts IoFXs on TXalLt\ and Iood saIet\� :e haYe LmSlemented a Srogram 
to ensXre that all oXr IaFtorLes and Iarms are )SS& ����� FertLfied �)ood SaIet\ S\stem�� 7hLs ZLll Ee 
sXFFeeded E\ ,S2 ���� �4XalLt\� &ertLfiFatLon aFross all oXr IaFLlLtLes� $ll oXr IaFtorLes �e[FeSt Ior *olden 
*roYe� are noZ )SS& ���� FomSlLant� ZLth oXr tZo largest IaFtorLes EeLng FertLfied� &ertLfiFatLon Ior the 
other tZo IaFtorLes and the Iarms are Ln Srogress and slated Ior FomSletLon E\ �����

2019 AND BEYOND

Management ZLll delLYer reYenXe and oSeratLng Srofit groZth Ln ���� E\�

ȧ &ontLnXLng to drLYe groZth throXgh LnnoYatLons Ln all oXr oSeratLons� 
ȧ 'rLYLng dLstrLEXtLon s\nergLes to LmSroYe oXr eIfiFLenFLes and dLstrLEXtLon IootSrLnt and gaLn more
 Fontrol oI the sXSSl\ FhaLn Irom IaFtor\ to retaLl shelYes� 
ȧ &ontLnXLng to looN Ior aFTXLsLtLon oSSortXnLtLes and SartnershLSs �loFall\ and LnternatLonall\� that 
 ZLll Ee YalXe enhanFLng�
ȧ 'rLYLng e[Sort groZth� 2Xr e[SeFtatLon Ls to groZ e[Sorts more than ��� eaFh \ear�
ȧ $ttraFtLng and LnYestLng Ln talented SeoSle ȝ SeSrod FontLnXes to LnYest Ln Lts ,nternshLS Srogramme� 
 ErLngLng on Eoard some ama]Lng \oXng SeoSle� Zho ZLll Iorm the Fore oI the ne[t generatLon oI 
 leaders Ln the *roXS� 
ȧ $ttraFtLng FontraFt manXIaFtXrLng oSSortXnLtLes� 
ȧ ,nYestLng Ln oXr oYer ����� emSlo\ees and E\ e[tensLon� theLr IamLlLes� to ensXre alLgnment to YLsLon� 
 FonsXmer�FentrLF EehaYLor and SassLon Ior the EXsLness�

2Xr Slans are amELtLoXs EXt realLstLF� the Fhallenges are man\� EXt the oSSortXnLtLes are eYen greater� 
7eam SeSrod Ls IXll\ engaged and Ls Fonfident that Ze ZLll XnloFN oXr IXll SotentLal to delLYer shareholder 
YalXe and FontrLEXte to -amaLFa EeLng a SlaFe oI FhoLFe to lLYe and ZorN� , Zant to thanN &haLrman P% 
SFott and the %oard Ior theLr XnZaYerLng sXSSort and gXLdanFe� 7hLs has made all the dLIIerenFe Ln 
haYLng the FonfidenFe to SXrsXe ELg amELtLons and to drLYe Ior transIormatLonal resXlts� 2n EehalI oI all 
the emSlo\ees oI SeSrod� , Zant to thanN \oX Ior \oXr FontLnXed FonfidenFe Ln oXr FomSan\� ,t has Eeen 
an LnFredLEle MoXrne\ and the Eest Ls \et to Fome� 

�������������������������������������������
5LFhard 5� PandohLe� -P 
&(2�M$1$*,1* ',5(&725
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STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue  $’000

2SeratLng Srofit  �’���

Profit EeIore ta[atLon  �’���

1et Srofit  �’���

Shareholders' equity  $’000

&aSLtal e[SendLtXre�  �’���

 - the Group

 - joint venture entity

 � on aFTXLsLtLon oI sXEsLdLarLes

 � 7otal FaSLtal e[SendLtXre

Key ratios and other information

Earnings per stock unit (cents)

Dividends per stock unit (cents)

2SeratLng Srofit to reYenXe ���

5etXrn on eTXLt\ ���

 23,553,769 

 2,171,908 

 1,440,812 

 1,062,055 

 15,744,994 

 1,816,806 

 152,052 

 2,659,125 

 4,627,983 

 207 

 95 

 9.22 

 6.75 

2018

 16,511,206 

 1,330,969 

 938,960 

 647,843 

 9,889,214 

 1,330,969 

 1,302,866 

 -   

 2,633,835 

 142 

 95 

 8.06 

 6.55 

2017

 15,781,917 

 1,588,716 

 1,185,924 

 875,209 

 9,767,944 

 1,588,716 

 1,746,465 

 -   

 3,335,181 

 211 

 323 

 10.07 

 8.96 

2016

 13,777,863 

 900,823 

 604,058 

 576,900 

 10,309,528 

 900,823 

 17,672 

 -   

 918,495 

 168 

 95 

 6.54 

 5.60 

2015

 14,007,117 

 1,460,478 

 1,170,645 

 895,375 

 9,868,072 

 1,460,478 

 -   

 -   

 1,460,478 

 196 

 90 

 10.43 

 9.07 

2014

 13,921,759 

 1,419,318 

 1,118,394 

 767,876 

 9,366,647 

 1,419,318 

 -   

 -   

 1,419,318 

 175 

 83 

 10.19 

 8.20 

2013

 12,723,578 

 1,305,328 

 1,199,632 

 834,027 

 8,596,211 

 1,305,328 

 -   

 -   

 1,305,328 

 170 

 83 

 10.26 

 9.70 

2012

 12,005,202 

 1,256,314 

 1,193,951 

 767,280 

 8,072,140 

 1,256,314 

 -   

 -   

 1,256,314 

 169 

 76 

 10.46 

 9.51 

2011

 9,776,563 

 1,206,866 

 1,170,927 

 830,263 

 7,761,085 

 1,206,866 

 -   

 -   

 1,206,866 

 195 

 75 

 12.34 

 10.70 

2010

 9,495,060 

 2,210,782 

 2,185,901 

 1,485,937 

 6,978,781 

 2,210,782 

 -   

 -   

 2,210,782 

 286 

 65 

 23.28 

 21.29 

2009
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Revenue  $’000

2SeratLng Srofit  �’���

Profit EeIore ta[atLon  �’���

1et Srofit  �’���

Shareholders' equity  $’000

&aSLtal e[SendLtXre�  �’���

 - the Group

 - joint venture entity

 � on aFTXLsLtLon oI sXEsLdLarLes

 � 7otal FaSLtal e[SendLtXre

Key ratios and other information

Earnings per stock unit (cents)

Dividends per stock unit (cents)

2SeratLng Srofit to reYenXe ���

5etXrn on eTXLt\ ���

 23,553,769 

 2,171,908 

 1,440,812 

 1,062,055 

 15,744,994 

 1,816,806 

 152,052 

 2,659,125 

 4,627,983 

 207 

 95 

 9.22 

 6.75 

2018

 16,511,206 

 1,330,969 

 938,960 

 647,843 

 9,889,214 

 1,330,969 

 1,302,866 

 -   

 2,633,835 

 142 

 95 

 8.06 

 6.55 

2017

 15,781,917 

 1,588,716 

 1,185,924 

 875,209 

 9,767,944 

 1,588,716 

 1,746,465 

 -   

 3,335,181 

 211 

 323 

 10.07 

 8.96 

2016

 13,777,863 

 900,823 

 604,058 

 576,900 

 10,309,528 

 900,823 

 17,672 

 -   

 918,495 

 168 

 95 

 6.54 

 5.60 

2015

 14,007,117 

 1,460,478 

 1,170,645 

 895,375 

 9,868,072 

 1,460,478 

 -   

 -   

 1,460,478 

 196 

 90 

 10.43 

 9.07 

2014

 13,921,759 

 1,419,318 

 1,118,394 

 767,876 

 9,366,647 

 1,419,318 

 -   

 -   

 1,419,318 

 175 

 83 

 10.19 

 8.20 

2013

 12,723,578 

 1,305,328 

 1,199,632 

 834,027 

 8,596,211 

 1,305,328 

 -   

 -   

 1,305,328 

 170 

 83 

 10.26 

 9.70 

2012

 12,005,202 

 1,256,314 

 1,193,951 

 767,280 

 8,072,140 

 1,256,314 

 -   

 -   

 1,256,314 

 169 

 76 

 10.46 

 9.51 

2011

 9,776,563 

 1,206,866 

 1,170,927 

 830,263 

 7,761,085 

 1,206,866 

 -   

 -   

 1,206,866 

 195 

 75 

 12.34 

 10.70 

2010

 9,495,060 

 2,210,782 

 2,185,901 

 1,485,937 

 6,978,781 

 2,210,782 

 -   

 -   

 2,210,782 

 286 

 65 

 23.28 

 21.29 

2009
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WINNING CULTURE
AT SEPROD
CELEBRATING
EXCELLENCE 

7he SeSrod team are all smLles aIter ZLnnLng the *oYenor *eneral’s $Zard Ior ManXIaFtXrer oI the <ear�

$t the ELggest nLght Ln ManXIaFtXrLng and ([Sort� the -amaLFa ManXIaFtXrer’s 

and ([Sorters $ssoFLatLon $Zards� SeSrod tooN home the IolloZLng aZards�

• Prime Minister’s Award for Large Champion Exporter 

• Governor General’s Award for Exporter of the Year 

• Governor General’s Award for Manufacturer of the Year
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WINNING CULTURE
AT SEPROD
CELEBRATING
EXCELLENCE 

$ trXe testament to the SassLon Ze shoZ Ior Zhat Ze do� ProYLdLng TXalLt\ SrodXFts Ior the regLon 
and Ee\ond� ProXd ZLnners oI these SrestLgLoXs aZards�

7he SeSrod team FeleErates aIter ZLnnLng the toS three aZards at the -M($ $Zards Feremon\�

45
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INTRODUCTION

$s Ze FontLnXe to EreaN neZ IrontLers� Ze haYe Eeen FontLnXLng oXr MoXrne\ oI transIormatLon 
Ior oXr EeloYed Erands and SeSrod as a Zhole� ���� SroYed to Ee an energetLF \ear ZLth 
LnnoYatLYe e[eFXtLons and a IeZ e[FLtLng firsts Ln oXr MarNetLng Srogrammes� +ere are the 
e[FLtLng hLghlLghts�

7he Serge Erand shoZed Lts FontLnXLt\ and YersatLlLt\ 
throXgh LnnoYatLon ȝ oXr �� )at mLlN� 7hLs latest addLtLon 
to the Serge IamLl\ Ls testament to the FommLtment Ze 
haYe to oIIer TXalLt\� health\ oStLons Ior oXr FXstomers�

Serge LntrodXFed Lts neZ amEassador� Mrs� ShanL MF*raham�ShLrle\� a fitness gXrX� to SroSel the mantra oI 
health\ lLYLng to oXr Serge IamLl\�

SERGE 0% FAT MILK LAUNCH 2018

7he neZ SrodXFt Zas laXnFhed on -Xl\ ��� ���� at 
(manFLSatLon ParN Ln an XnFonYentLonal Za\ that 
\Lelded a Shenomenal resSonse� 7he eYent Zas 
hosted E\ 5ohan ȟ4XLte Perr\’ Perr\ and IeatXred 
$gent SasFo as the sSeFLal entertaLnment gXest� ,n 
FollaEoratLon ZLth the MLnLstr\ oI +ealth’s -amaLFa 
MoYes FamSaLgn and the Erand’s FommLtment 
toZard health\ lLIest\les� the eYent IeatXred a IXll�
on e[erFLse Srogramme ZLth Erand amEassador 
ShanL MF*raham�ShLrle\ and hosted oYer ��� 
gXests and Satrons�
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Top Left: MLnLster oI +ealth the +on� &hrLstoSher 7XIton� 5ohan 
Perr\� Metr\ Seaga� ShanL MF*raham�ShLrle\ 	 5LFhard PandohLe

M a r k e t i n g  R e p o r t
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GETTING INVOLVED
WITH OUR COMMUNITY

SERGE ST. THOMAS MAJOR LEAGUE

Serge Zas the maMor sSonsor oI the St� 
7homas )ootEall /eagXe ZLth a ���������� 
donatLon to the deYeloSment oI the 
leagXe� 7he sSonsorshLS Ls a sLgnLfiFant 
one as Lt aLds Ln the deYeloSment oI sSort 
Ln the SarLsh and Fements oXr FommLtment 
to the St� 7homas FommXnLt\ Ln ZhLFh Ze 
oSerate� 

&ongratXlatLons to SeaIorth SSorts &lXE� FroZned 
�Serge,sland St� 7homas MaMor /eagXe &hamSLons

WORLD SCHOOL MILK DAY – SEPTEMBER 2018

Ȣ+elSLng to EXLld strong Eones and health\ EodLes Ior oXr natLon’s \oXthȣȨ Serge FeleErated :orld 
SFhool MLlN 'a\ Ln sFhools aFross St� 7homas LnFlXdLng <allahs +Lgh SFhool� SLlYer Stone %asLF SFhool 
and &alaEar +Lgh SFhool Ln .Lngston�
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MAJOR INVOLVEMENTS

Serge Zas a SroXd sSonsor oI -,S$ 1atLonal PreS SFhool &hamSLonshLSs on -Xne ��� ����� 7he 
Erand Ls FommLtted to SroYLdLng SroSer nXtrLtLon Ior oXr natLon’s FhLldren� MLlN Ls an e[Fellent re�

h\drator Ior mXsFles and Sromotes Eone health�

&lass � *Lrls ���M ZLnner -oXnee $rmstrong EeLng Sresented her Serge EasNet E\ 5LFhard ParFhment

PRIMARY SCHOOL SPORTS DAY SUPPORT

Serge and %XtterNLst Sartnered and sXSSorted nXmeroXs sFhool sSorts da\s aFross the Lsland�

)ranNl\n 7oZn PrLmar\ SFhool :LndZard 5oad PrLmar\ SFhool 'anLel *a\le and 7errLFa )ranFLs 
oI St� )ranFLs PrLmar\ and ,nIant 
SFhool Zho Zere deFlared the 
&hamSLon %o\ and *Lrl at theLr 
SSorts 'a\�
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8nder � Iemale FhamSLon 1aMean %roZn �Fentre� at the 
1atLonal &hess &omSetLtLon� )lanNLng her are %rand
([eFXtLYe ShanLFe %arrett �leIt� and -omo PLtterson� *rand 
Master Ior the 1atLonal &hess $ssoFLatLon�

NATIONAL CHESS COMPETITION

DENBIGH 2018

Serge onFe agaLn had a sSeFtaFXlar shoZLng at 'enELgh ���� Zhere Ze Zon SXSreme &hamSLon 'aLr\ 
+eLIer ���� 	 &hallenge &XS Ior SXSreme &hamSLon 'aLr\ &oZ �����

2Xr Serge Lntern� &henLlle +Xme� Zho 
traLned oXr FhamSLon FoZ MLts\�

Serge Iarm assLstant� 5omaLn %roZn handles one oI oXr SrL]e 
ZLnnLng FoZs�

M a r k e t i n g  R e p o r t
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BETTY SWEET MOMENTS

7he %ett\ PorrLdge &ooN 2II Zas laXnFhed Ln ���� and ���� SroYed to Ee ELgger and more e[FLtLng� :e 
had more entrants� ELgger and Eetter SrL]es and a sXSerE atmosShere Irom the Satrons Zho attended� 
7he eYent held at the +alI :a\ 7ree 7ransSort &entre Zas hosted E\ &hrLstoSher ȟ-ohnn\’ 'ale\ and 5-5 
mornLng hosts� )ranFoLs St� -Xste and PaXla $nn Porter�-ones on 1oYemEer ��� �����

&oXrtne\ &oXsLns Zon first SlaFe ZLth hLs ��Ln�� sSeFLal ZhLle .enro\ /eZLs Fame seFond ZLth hLs Ȣ2ne an’ 
MoYeȣ� 7hLrd SlaFe Zent to .ameNa SLmSson ZLth Ȣ7he %Xlga %oosterȣ

BETTY BREAKFAST WITH LOVE

%ett\ laXnFhed Lts Ȣ%ett\ %reaNIast ZLth /oYeȣ Programme ZLth oXr neZl\ 
LntrodXFed %ett\ )Xll &ream and %ett\ /oZ )at MLlN� 7he Srogramme LnFlXded 

donatLons oI mLlN and EreaNIast to a nXmEer oI FhLldren� 7he Srogramme 
also LnFlXded a readLng element Zhere YolXnteers YLsLted sFhools and read to the 

FhLldren� 7eam %ett\ also donated EooNs to all the SartLFLSatLng sFhools� 7he sFhools Ln the Srogramme 
are Ma[field ParN PrLmar\ SFhool� ShortZood PraFtLsLng PrLmar\ SFhool and &entral %ranFh PrLmar\�

&hLldren at Ma[field ParN PrLmar\ 
SFhool enMo\Lng %ett\ /oZ )at mLlN�

%rand ([eFXtLYe� PatrLFe :LllLams Sresents 
a teaFher at the Ma[field ParN PrLmar\ 
SFhool ZLth a %ett\ EasNet�

also LnFlXded a readLng element Zhere YolXnteers YLsLted sFhools and read to the 

M a r k e t i n g  R e p o r t
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GUARDSMAN GAMES 2018

:e SraFtLFe Zhat Ze SreaFh� *reat lLTXLd nXtrLtLonal sXSSlement Ior aFtLYe lLIest\les� 2Xr SeSrod team 
EroXght the fire at the ���� *Xardsman *ames ZLth .ero\ %enMamLn ZLnnLng the ,ndLYLdXal first SlaFe 
SrL]e Ln the (lLte seFtLon� SeSrod’s ZLnnLng team Zas traLned E\ StoNel\ 5ose oI 7raLnfit�

DANCING DYNAMITES
SXSlLgen onFe agaLn sSonsored the SoSXlar 'anFLng '\namLtes and made strLdes Ln �����

'anFe 7eam e[traordLnaLre� Street 7eam tooN the toS honoXrs� %rand ([eFXtLYe� 5LFhard ParFhment Sresents the 
�������� SrL]e to the ZLnnLng team
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2Xr &(2 5LFhard PandohLe MoLned Ln the IestLYLtLes and IrLed XS a 
storm ZLth the $Xnt Ma\ team at Meet Street at the -amaLFa )ood 
and 'rLnN )estLYal

GOLD SEAL FLOUR

JAMAICA FOOD & DRINK FESTIVAL 2018

2Xr &(2 5LFhard PandohLe MoLned Ln the IestLYLtLes and IrLed XS a 
storm ZLth the $Xnt Ma\ team at Meet Street at the -amaLFa )ood 
and 'rLnN )estLYal

GOLD SEAL FLOUR

JAMAICA FOOD & DRINK FESTIVAL 2018
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GOLD SEAL BEST BUNS 2018 – UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

PartnerLng ZLth the 8nLYersLt\ oI 7eFhnolog\� *old Seal )loXr hosted the first stagLng oI theLr %est 
%Xns &omSetLtLon� SL[ stXdents Irom the SFhool oI +osSLtalLt\ FomSeted Ior a FhanFe to ZLn a share oI 
�������� Ln SrL]e mone\ SaLd toZard theLr tXLtLon� 7he eYent held on :ednesda\� MarFh ��� ���� Zas a 
SlatIorm Ior stXdents to e[Slore theLr FreatLYLt\ and SassLon Ior EaNLng�

GOLD SEAL FLOUR

-amaLFa *raLn and &ereals /LmLted oIfiFLal IaFtor\ oSenLng and the laXnFh oI *old Seal )loXr on 7hXrsda\ 
MarFh ��� ���� saZ the PrLme MLnLster the +on� $ndreZ +olness reaIfirmLng that the *oYernment Ls on 
a Sath oI retaNLng the manXIaFtXrLng LndXstr\� 

M a r k e t i n g  R e p o r t
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2018 was another year of focus on both regional
and international Export Growth. 

GROWTH DRIVERS:
ȧ 1eZ ,nnoYatLons 
ȧ 1eZ MarNets 
ȧ  'LstrLEXtLon and PortIolLo ([SansLon Ln ([LstLng MarNets�

,t Zas a FhallengLng \ear Ior e[Sorts as Ze made the deFLsLon to dLsFontLnXe the e[Sort 
oI EXlN sXgar� 7hLs aIIeFted oXr oYerall e[Sort groZth� +oZeYer� the rest oI the SeSrod 
SortIolLo saZ a ��� groZth Ln e[Sorts Ior ���� Ys� ���� FontLnXLng on the traMeFtor\ oI 
doXEle�dLgLt groZth seen Ln Eoth ���� and ����

SEPROD YOY EXPORT GROWTH

0%

1

5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

2018 2017 2016

2018 MARKET GROWTH

USA CANADA UK CARIBBEAN
(Excluding Sugar)

22%

12%
10%

33%
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2018 EXPORT HIGHLIGHTS

DISTRIBUTION AND PORTFOLIO EXPANSION IN EXISTING MARKETS

)Lrst Supligen
container
exported to
Canada

)Lrst \ear oI Supligen
e[Sorts to the 8. Serge Peanut Punch

���ml e[Sorted to
&anada Ior the first
tLme
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NEW INNOVATIONS

%ett\ 8+7 MLlN laXnFhed and e[Sorted to
$ntLgXa� Montserrat and &a\man� 

Corn Grits
exported to
Trinidad for the
first tLme�

Gold Seal Flour
e[Sorted to %arEados
and Trinidad for
the first tLme�

e[Sorted to %arEados
and Trinidad for

G r o w i n g  E x p o r t s

/aXnFh oI SXSlLgen ,rLsh Moss 
ZhLFh Zas e[Sorted to the 8S� 8. 
and &arLEEean� 
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First Exports to Africa. 

NEW MARKETS

DISTRIBUTION FOOTPRINT

1. Antigua                  
2. Barbados                 
3. Bahamas 
4. Cayman                   
5. Dominica                 
6. Dominican 

Republic
7. Grenada                  

8. Guyana                   
9. Haiti                    
10. St. Kitts                
11. St. Lucia                
12. St. Martin               
13. St. Vincent & Grenadines 
14. Trinidad                 
15. British Virgin Islands  

1. Antigua                  
2. Barbados                 

4. Cayman                   
5. Dominica                 

7. Grenada                  

16. UK
17. Belgium       
18. Canada                   
19. USA
20. Mauritius
21. Nigeria
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JMEA EXPO BREAKING NEW FRONTIERS

SeSrod Zas a SroXd SartLFLSant oI the ���� -M($ ([So held at the 1atLonal $rena on $SrLl 
��� ����� 7he FomSan\ Ls Sleased to Ee assoFLated ZLth eYents that sXSSort loFal manXIaF�

tXrers and helS to Sromote the FoXntr\’s oIIerLngs to the regLon and the rest oI the Zorld�

2Xr �SeSrod team maNes eYer\one Ieel lLNe 
IamLl\� 2Xr &(2 5LFhard PandohLe and oXr *roXS 
MarNetLng Manager .errLan -ohnson made sXre 
that the PrLme MLnLster 7he Most +onoXraEle 
$ndreZ +olness and Mrs MLFhelle &hong 
e[SerLenFed that�

SeSrod ([Sort team� $manda :atson and -XdLth 
-ohnson maNLng FonneFtLons ZLth dLstrLEXtors 

Irom %elL]e�

2Xr SeSrod 7eam ZLth ZLth Ma\or oI .Lngston 'elro\ 
:LllLams�

&onsXmers enMo\ samSlLng EaNed treats made 
ZLth *old Seal )loXr�
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VOLUNTEERING SPIRIT 
CHRISTMAS TREAT AT THE TIVOLI GARDENS COMMUNITY CENTRE

7he SeSrod StaII YolXnteered at the 7LYolL &ommXnLt\ &entre to treat the elderl\ memEers oI the 
FommXnLt\�

C o m m u n i t y  E n g a g e m e n t
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT – 
LABOUR DAY AT DENHAM TOWN POLICE STATION AND ST. ALBAN’S PRIMARY SCHOOL

SEPROD IS PARTNERING WITH THE JAMAICA CONSTABULARY FORCE (JCF) TO HELP SUPPORT 
APPROXIMATELY 100 NEEDY WESTMORELAND FAMILIES BY DONATING $400,000 WORTH OF 
PRODUCTS. 

7he SolLFe are all Ln good sSLrLts here at theLr 
+eadTXarters Ln SaYanna�la�mar as Ze hand oYer 
oXr donatLons to the FLtL]ens aIIeFted E\ fire FaXsed 
E\ gXn men Ln the SarLsh�

C o m m u n i t y  E n g a g e m e n t
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SEPROD 
FOUNDATION

If you haven’t failed,
you haven’t tried. You have

to fall down sometimes. You 
will not break but it will be your 

guide, it will light your street, 
when you make a mistake, and 

when you fail in something,
you know not to do it again

Emprezz Golding
Youth Advocate

SEPROD SCHOLARSHIPS

SeSrod aZarded �� neZ sFholarshLSs Ln ���� to *rade SL[ 
$FhLeYement 7est �*S$7� and &ollege oI $grLFXltXral SFLenFe 
and (dXFatLon �&$S(� stXdents� 7hLs FontLnXes the ongoLng 
sFholarshLS Srogramme ZhLFh aZarded �� stXdents oYerall� 
$ neZ sFholarshLS Zas Freated Ln honor oI the late *ranYLlle 
Marsh to reFognL]e hLs FontrLEXtLon to the FomSan\� and Zas 
aZarded to the tZo toS stXdents Irom St� 7homas� 2NLta :rLght 
and .amar 1LFholas� SSeaNLng at the sFholarshLS aZards Feremon\� 
gXest sSeaNer� (mSre]] *oldLng moYed the stXdents ZLth her rLYetLng 
motLYatLonal sSeeFh�
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SFratFh -r :orNshoS at +ol\ )amLl\ PrLmar\ 

S e p r o d  F o u n d a t i o n

SCRATCH JR WORKSHOPS

,n one ZeeN� �� ZorNshoSs Zere held at fiYe Lnner FLt\ sFhools Zhere fiYe mentors taXght oYer ��� 
stXdents Irom grades tZo and three hoZ to Xse the ȢsFratFhȣ M,7 deYeloSed FodLng Srogram to Freate a 
IXn stor\� 7he ZorNshoSs Zere aLmed at SromotLng and enFoXragLng the learnLng oI FodLng sNLlls among 
stXdents Irom an earl\ age� ,t Ls Lntended to Eoost -amaLFa’s teFhnologLFal FaSaFLtLes to eYentXall\ drLYe 
natLonal eFonomLF groZth and deYeloSment� 7he ZorNshoS had an oYerZhelmLngl\ SosLtLYe LmSaFt on 
the stXdents’ deYeloSment and Lt leIt stXdents ZLth a neZ Lnterest Ln teFhnolog\ and ZLth a neZ loYe 
to learn� sSeFLfiFall\ Ln FodLng�

 

SOS CHILDREN’S VILLAGE

7he )oXndatLon FontLnXed to sXSSort the annXal /aEoXr 'a\ SroMeFt Ior the FhLldren at the S2S 
&hLldren’s 9Lllage Ln Ston\ +Lll� 7hLs \ear’s SroMeFt Zas done as a :all 5estoratLon �&hLldren’s PLFtXre 
MXral� ZLth artLsts Irom 7he (dna Manle\ &ollege Ior the 9LsXal and PerIormLng $rts� :e Zere haSS\ to 
lend sXSSort as Lt FontrLEXted to the LmSroYement oI FhLldren’s soFLal EehaYLor and SosLtLYe oXtlooN on 
EeLng SrodXFtLYe memEers to oXr soFLet\ and FoXntr\�
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We don’t just focus
on technical skills but also
the right mindset, belief in 

yourself and community support 
to help you along the way. Three 
girls have started businesses as 

a result of this programmme. 
Seprod Foundation was 

instrumental in the success
of the programme by coming

on board from inception 
Lianne McNaughton

Founder of YouthCanDoIt

YOUTH CAN DO IT

7he )oXndatLon Sromoted �� gLrls gettLng mentorshLS Ior a IXll 
\ear� :e Zere elated to Iorge a SartnershLS ZLth <oXth&an'o,t 
on thLs e[FLtLng ��\ear SLlot Srogram� ,7 MentorLng� aLmed 
at e[SosLng gLrls to the most YersatLle and Iastest groZLng 
LndXstr\ Ln the Zorld� ,t Ls enYLsLoned that the \oXng 
Zomen ZLll EeFome more emSoZered to taNe a more 
aFtLYe aSSroaFh to theLr goals and dreams� 7hLs Srogram 
SroYLded them ZLth a netZorNLng FommXnLt\ oI sXSSort 
on ZhLFh the\ Fan Fall on� and also taXght them hoZ to 
reFognLse and realL]e that the\ Sossess all the strength 
and sNLlls the\ need to Srogress� ,t Ls LmSortant to Eoost 
the FonfidenFe oI oXr gLrls Ln -amaLFa to EreaN the stLgma 
oI gendered hLgh Sa\Lng ,7 MoEs onl\ EeLng alloFated to 
men� 7he )oXndatLon FontLnXed to sSrLngEoard thLs meetLng 
oI Mentees ZLth Mentors� to helS gXLde theLr transLtLon Irom 
sFhool to an ,7 Fareer�
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“I think it’s important to
note that corporate Jamaica

is recognizing that equipping
Jamaican kids for the future 
is key, and acknowledging 

that robotics can also play an 
incredibly important role in that 
future, as Jamaica takes its spot 
in a new phase of its economic 

development.” 
Melanie Subratie

S e p r o d  F o u n d a t i o n

WORLD ROBOTIC OLYMPIAD

SeSrod Zas *old SSonsor Ior thLs LnFredLEle eYent ZhLFh had 
�� sFhools SartLFLSatLng� and led to tZo teams ZLnnLng the 
-amaLFan FomSetLtLon� and IaFLlLtatLng them traYellLng to 
the finals Ln 7haLland� 7hLs gloEal roEotLFs FomSetLtLon 
Zas geared toZard FhLldren and \oXng SeoSle Irom 
SrLmar\ sFhool XS to �� \ears old� ZLth oYer ������� 
SartLFLSants and ������ teams� 7he Ne\ sXFFess Irom 
oXr SersSeFtLYe� Zas the range oI sFhools SartLFLSatLng 
Irom SrLmar\� SreSarator\� and LnternatLonal and Lnner 
FLt\ sFhools� 7hese sFhools reFeLYed YalXaEle roEotLFs 
materLals the\ Fan FontLnXe to Xse Ln theLr Flasses� 
eTXLSSLng them Ior sLgnLfiFant deYeloSment Ln roEotLFs�
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MONTH OF PLAY

SeSrod Sartnered ZLth 7alN8S<oXt to raLse the aZareness oI the LmSortanFe oI Sla\ Ln deYeloSLng 
FhLldren� Pla\ matters Zas aEoXt enhanFLng FreatLYLt\� solLdLI\Lng FonFeSts� enFoXragLng Sarents to 
engage ZLth theLr FhLldren� and LnForSoratLng Sla\ ZLthLn the Flassroom� FreatLng memorLes as \oX go 
along� ,t IoFXsed on gXLded Sla\ Ys Iree Sla\� (Lght Lnner�FLt\ SrLmar\ sFhools Zere YLsLted� and throXgh 
traLnLng sessLons� �� teaFhers Zere leIt ZLth a Fhanged oXtlooN and Zere SroYLded ZLth NnoZledge on 
hoZ to Sla\ and teaFh sLmXltaneoXsl\ ZLth theLr FhLldren and stXdents�
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RISE LIFE MANAGEMENT

:e FontLnXed to sXSSort 5,S( /,)( Management SerYLFes Ln theLr FommXnLt\ LnterYentLons Ln YarLoXs 
Za\s and Zere Sleased to see thLs LnFredLEl\ LmSortant 1on *oYermental 2rganLsatLon �1*2� FontLnXe 
Lts ZorN Ln the Lnner FLt\� Some oI the Srograms LnFlXde ParentLng :orNshoSs� ParentLng SessLons� ,sland 
ZLde SXEstanFe $EXse PreYentLon SensLtL]atLon 7raLnLng� %XsLness Management 7raLnLng SessLons and 
+,9 PreYentLon Ior most at rLsN SoSXlatLons� :e ZLll FontLnXe to sXSSort 5,S(�

DEBATE MATE

:Lth the IoFXs on FonˊLFt resolXtLon and raLsLng asSLratLons� thLs adoSt�a�sFhool Srogram emSoZered 
seFondar\ sFhools’ stXdents throXghoXt .Lngston and Montego %a\ ZLth YLtal lLIe sNLlls� ,t Zas great 
to see stXdents gaLnLng Fore lLIe sNLlls sXFh as sSeaNLng and lLstenLng sNLlls as Zell as deYeloSLng Ne\ 
emSlo\ment sNLlls lLNe leadershLS and selI�management� 7hese lLIe sNLlls ZLll helS the SartLFLSants not 
onl\ ZLth ZorNLng together at sFhool EXt Ln a ZorN enYLronment and Ln theLr Sersonal FaSaFLt\ Ior the 
rest oI theLr lLYes� :e FontLnXed to sXSSort the Srograms at oXr tZo sSonsored sFhools� .Lngston +Lgh 
SFhool and St� $ndreZ 7eFhnLFal +Lgh SFhool Zho finLshed �rd Eest ranNed FlXE Ln the 'eEate Mate &XSs 
)Lnals�

S e p r o d  F o u n d a t i o n
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Independent auditor's report 
To the Members of Seprod Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements 
-
Our opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Seprod Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(together 'the Group') and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and 
of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their consolidated and stand-alone cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

What we have audited 
Seprod Limited's consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, which include significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 

•, ! •�•II•••• I II I I• II I I HO I I••�• UU, lol, &hi I•••• ,a.ol ••••"'••• > •••• •••••••• ... ••�••• ... •• ... •••-•••••• ..... ••-•• ....... _ ••• .. ••• .. ••• •••t••-•••-••-• ... -• ... -• ... ..... •••'"•• •••••••••-•••• ••-•• ..... ••t-•-+-• ..... ••t-• ..... •-•-•-t-•-+-• ..... •-••-••-•- •••• ••-•• 

PricewaterhauseCaapers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Kingston, Jamaica 
T: (876) 922 6230, F: (876) 922 7581, www.pwc.com/jm 
LA McKnight P,E. William1 AK. Jain B.L $coll, B.J. Denning G.A Reec:a PA Willlarnt R.S. Nathan C.I. Bell-Wisdom G.K. Moore 
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F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s

Our audit approach 
Audit scope 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. In particular, we considered where management 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, 
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including, among other matters, 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due 
to fraud. 

How we tailored our group audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industries in which the Group operates. 

The Group consists of 16 legal entities located in Jamaica, St. Lucia, Trinidad and Tobago and the 
Dominican Republic, each of which is considered as a component for the audit scoping purposes. The 
accounting records for 10 of the legal entities are maintained at the Group head office, the remaining 6 
entities' accounting records are kept at other offices in Jamaica. All entities within the Group are audited 
by PwC Jamaica and full scope audits were performed for all components. 

Context 
The context of our audit is set by the Group's major activities in 2018. The most significant event of the 
year under audit has been the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Facey Commodity Holdings 
Limited (FCHL) and its wholly owned subsidiary Facey Commodity Company Limited (FCCL). In 
addition, Musson (Jamaica) Limited, a related party, transferred the shares of Musson Holdings Limited 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries Musson International Dairies Limited (MIDL), Musson International 
Dairies Trinidad and Tobago Limited and Musson International Dairies Republica Dominicana SRL to the 
Group. These acquisitions have therefore become a new key audit matter for our audit in 2018 given the 
number of significant management estimates and judgements required to account for the transaction, 
including the impact of acquisition accounting and the recognition and measurement of intangible assets 
identified. 

Consistent with the prior year, our other key audit matter relates to the valuation of unquoted equity 
securities as this continues to involve significant levels of judgement by management and expert 
knowledge. 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter I low our audit acklressc<l the key audit matter 

Valuation of unquoted equity securities 
(Group and stand-alone) 
Refer to notes 2h and 16 to the.financial 
statements for disclosures of related 
accounting policies,judgements and 
estimates. 

Unquoted equity securities included within 
investments on the consolidated and stand­
alone statement of financial position total 
$1,399 million as at 31 December 2018, which 
represents 3.9% and 6.2% of total assets of the 
Group and Company, respectively. 

The unquoted equity securities relate to an 
investment in an affiliated company over 
which Seprod Limited does not exercise 
significant influence. These securities are not 
quoted in an active market. The fair value of 
these securities is determined using a valuation 
model based on discounted future cash flows. 

The magnitude of the balance, the complexity 
of the valuation model used and the use of 
management determined assumptions led us 
to focus on this balance. In particular we 
focused on management's judgements relating 
to the investee's future cash flows, growth rates 
and selection of an appropriate discount rate. 

Management used an independent valuation 
expert to assist in the valuation process. 

We evaluated management's future cash flow 
forecasts, and the process by which they were 
determined, including testing the underlying 
calculations and comparing them to the latest Board 
approved budgets of the investee. We evaluated 
management's forecasts by comparing previous 
budgets to actual results of the investee. 

We tested the reasonableness of the key assumptions 
management applied by: 

• Comparing long term growth rates in the forecasts
to historical results and economic and industry
forecasts.

• Evaluating, with the assistance of our own
valuation expert, management's assumptions
concerning the selected growth rates and discount
rates by reference to industry data.

• Comparing the key assumptions to externally
derived data where possible, including market
expectations of investment return, projected
economic growth and interest rates.

• Applying sensitivities in evaluating management's
assessment of the planned growth rate in cash
flows and changes in discount rates.

As a result of our testing, no differences requiring 
adjustment were identified. 
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Accountingfor business combinations 
(Group) 
Refer to notes 2b, 15 and 33 of the financial 
statements for disclosures of related 
accounting policies,judgements and 
estimates. 

On 1 January 2018, 100% of the share capital 
of Musson Holdings Limited (MHL) and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries were transferred 
from a related entity. Additionally, on 1 
October 2018, the Group acquired Facey 
Commodity Holdings Limited (FCHL) and its 
wholly owned subsidiary Facey Commodity 
Company Limited. 

Both of these transactions were accounted for 
by management as business combinations. The 
acquisitions resulted in the Group recognising 
goodwill of $4,795 million, of which $330 
million related to MHL, and $4,465 million 
related to FCHL. In addition to goodwill, the 
Group recognised identified intangible assets 
of $4,994 million, of which $1,340 related to 
supplier relationships, $2,090 million to 
distribution network, $404 million to trade 
name and $1,160 million to brands. 

We focused on this area due to the significance 
of the goodwill and intangible assets acquired 
and because it required management to 
exercise judgement in determining certain 
assumptions and estimates within discounted 
cash flow (DCF) models. The key assumptions 
utilised by management in the DCF were 
revenue growth and discount rates. 

Management engaged an expert to assist in the 
valuation of certain intangibles. 

We read the share purchase agreements and evaluated 
the appropriateness of the accounting for the 
acquisitions as business combinations against 
management's accounting policies and the applicable 
accounting standards. We obtained an understanding 
of the key terms of the transactions and associated 
contractual terms. 

We assessed the competence and capability of 
management's expert. 

With the assistance of our valuation specialist, we 
performed the following procedures: 

• Evaluated the appropriateness of valuation
methodologies utilised to derive the fair value of
identified intangible assets;

• Agreed the key assumptions, being the revenue
growth and discount rates to historic and
prospective financial, industry and economic
information, taking into consideration our
knowledge of the Group and its industries.

• Assessed the reasonableness of the purchase price
allocation through the use of the weighted average
return on assets analysis, reconciliation of the
discount rate to the internal rate of return and
comparing the nature of identified intangible
assets and the proportionate allocation to publicly
announced transactions.

• Agreed the remaining useful lives of each
intangible asset identified to the period over which
the cash flows are expected to be generated.

We further tested the mathematical accuracy of 
management's discounted cash flow by reperforming 
the underlying calculations. 

Based on the audit procedures performed, no 
adjustments were considered necessary. 
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Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report 
(but does not include the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements and our auditor's report 
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Jamaican 
Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit audit o/the o/the consolidated and stastannd-ald-alood-alod-ald-alod-al ne ne financial financial ne financial ne ne financial ne 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group and Company's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 
records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone financial statements are in agreement 
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Recardo Nathan. 

Q{ Q{ Q u�+{?.{"�o ... je ... je ... Go�s
Chartered Accountants 
31 May2019 
Kingston, Jamaica 
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Seprod	Limited	
Consolidated	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income		
Year	ended	31	December	2018		
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 
 

	
Note	

	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		

Revenue	 5		 23,553,769	 	 16,511,206	
Direct	expenses	 		 (16,498,200)	 	 (12,687,358)	
Gross	Profit	 		 7,055,569	 	 3,823,848	
Finance	and	other	operating	income	 6		 845,426	 	 753,103	
Selling	expenses	 		 (708,646)	 	 (624,930)	
Administration	expenses	 		 (4,695,024)	 	 (2,352,441)	
Net	impairment	losses	on	trade	receivables	 		 (124,345)	 	 -	
Other	operating	expenses	 		 (201,072)	 	 (268,611)	
Operating	Profit	 		 2,171,908	 	 1,330,969	
Finance	costs	 9		 (789,026)	 	 (337,773)	
Share	of	results	of	joint	venture	 18		 57,930	 	 (54,236)	
Profit	before	Taxation	 		 1,440,812	 	 938,960	
Taxation	 10		 (378,757)	 	 (291,117)	
Net	Profit	 		 1,062,055	 	 647,843	
Other	Comprehensive	Income,	net	of	taxes		 		 	 	 	
Item	that	may	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	–		 		 	 	 	
	 Currency	translation	gains	and	losses	 10		 4,579	 	 -	
Items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	–		 		 	 	 	
	 Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefits	 10		 9,900	 	 3,150	
	 Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 10		 44,871	 	 (126,345)	

TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	 		 1,121,405	 	 524,648	

	 		 	 	 	
	 		 	 	 	
Net	Profit	is	attributable	to:	 		 	 	 	
	 Stockholders	of	the	Company	 11		 1,182,025	 	 735,043	
	 Non-controlling	interest	 17		 (119,970)	 	 (87,200)	
	 		 1,062,055	 	 647,843	

	 		 	 	 	
Total	Comprehensive	Income	is	attributable	to:	 		 	 	 	
	 Stockholders	of	the	Company	 		 1,241,375	 	 611,848	
	 Non-controlling	interest	 		 (119,970)	 	 (87,200)	

	 		 1,121,405	 	 524,648	

	 		 	 	 	
	 		 	 	 	
Earnings	per	Stock	Unit	attributable	to	Stockholders	of	the	Company	 12		 $2.07	 	 $1.42	
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Seprod	Limited	
Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position		
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	

 

 
 

	
Note	

	
2018	
$’000	

	 2017	
$’000	

Non6current	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	
Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 14	 	 7,427,259	 	 4,101,869	
Intangible	assets	 15	 	 9,657,764	 	 -	
Investments	 16	 	 1,414,445	 	 1,369,574	
Investment	in	joint	venture	 18	 	 402,936	 	 345,006	

ong	term	receivables	 19	 	 703,774	 	 2,243,724	
Post-employment	benefit	asset	 20	 	 36,000	 	 38,500	
�iological	assets	 21	 	 342,564	 	 292,628	
Deferred	tax	assets	 28	 	 702,772	 	 19,237	
	 	 	 20,687,514	 	 8,410,538	

Current	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	
Inventories		 22	 	 6,548,105	 	 2,495,063	
�iological	assets	 21	 	 439,303	 	 508,745	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 23	 	 5,043,326	 	 6,175,651	
Current	portion	of	long	term	receivables	 19	 	 372,096	 	 1,487,134	
Taxation	recoverable	 	 	 152,685	 	 93,631	
Cash	and	bank	balances	 	 	 2,055,335	 	 837,294	

	 	 	 14,610,850	 	 11,597,518	
Current	Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

Payables		 24	 	 6,373,833	 	 6,807,507	
Current	portion	of	long	term	liabilities	 27	 	 2,051,691	 	 2,012,776	
Taxation	payable	 	 	 139,731	 	 70,587	

	 	 	 8,565,255	 	 8,890,870	
Net	Current	Assets	 	 	 6,045,595	 	 2,706,648	
	 	 	 26,733,109	 	 11,117,186	
E)uity	Attributable	to	Stockholders	of	the	Company	 	 	 	 	 	

Share	capital		 25	 	 5,768,558	 	 560,388	
Capital	reserves		 26	 	 993,334	 	 943,884	
Retained	earnings	 	 	 8,983,102	 	 8,384,942	
	 	 	 15,744,994	 	 9,889,214	

Non6controlling	Interest	 	 	 (999,372)	 	 (879,402)	
	 	 	 14,745,622	 	 9,009,812	
Non6current	Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

Post-employment	benefit	obligations	 20	 	 136,200	 	 148,400	

ong	term	liabilities	 27	 	 10,327,786	 	 1,716,732	
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 28	 	 1,523,501	 	 242,242	

	 	 	 11,987,487	 	 2,107,374	
	 	 	 26,733,109	 	 11,117,186	

Approved	for	issue	by	the	�oard	of	Directors	on	31	May	201H	and	signed	on	its	behalf	by:	
	
	
	
	

	 	

Paul	�.	Scott	 	 	 Director	 	 Richard	Pandohie	 	 Director	
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Seprod	Limited	
Consolidated	Statement	of	Changes	in	�*uity		
Year	ended	31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)		
	

 

 

		

	

	

E)uity	Attributable	to	Stockholders	of	the	Company	

Non6
controlling	

Interest	
Total	
E)uity	

	
Number	of	

Shares			
Share	
Capital		

	Capital			
Reserve	

Retained	
Earnings	 Total	 	 	

	 	 7000		 $=000		 										$=000	 $=000			 $=000	 $’000	 $’000	

�alance	at	1	�anuary	2017	 	 516,339	 560,388	 1,070,229	 8,137,327	 9,767,944	 (792,202)	 8,975,742	

Profit	for	the	year	 	 -	 -	 -	 735,043	 735,043	 (87,200)	 647,843	
Re-measurements	on	post-

employment	benefits	 	 -	 -	 -	 3,150	 3,150	 -	 3,150	

Fair	value	losses	on	investments	 	 -	 -	 (126,345)	 -	 (126,345)	 -	 (126,345)	

Total	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	 (126,345)	 738,193	 611,848	 (87,200)	 524,648	

Transactions	with	owners7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Dividends	paid	(Note	13)	 -	 -	 -	 (490,578)	 (490,578)	 -	 (490,578)	

�alance	at	31	December	2017	 	 516,339	 560,388	 943,884	 8,384,942	 9,889,214	 (879,402)	 9,009,812	
�ffect	of	adoption	of	new	accounting	

standards	 	 -	 -	 -	 (5,470)	 (5,470)	 -	 (5,470)	

	 	 516,339	 560,388	 943,884	 8,379,472	 9,883,744	 (879,402)	 9,004,342	

Profit	for	the	year	 	 -	 -	 -	 1,182,025	 1,182,025	 (119,970)	 1,062,055	
Re-measurements	on	post-

employment	benefits	 	 -	 -	 -	 9,900	 9,900	 -	 9,900	

Currency	translation	gains	and	
losses	 	 	 	 4,579	 -	 4,579	 -	 4,579	

Fair	value	gains	on	investments	 	 -	 -	 44,871	 -	 44,871	 -	 44,871	

Total	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	 49,450	 1,191,125	 1,241,375	 (119,970)	 1,121,405	

Transactions	with	owners7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Issue	of	ordinary	shares	 	 217,149	 5,208,170	 -	 -	 5,208,170	 -	 5,208,170	

	 Dividends	paid	(Note	13)	 	 -	 -	 -	 (588,295)	 (588,295)	 -	 (588,295)	

�alance	at	31	December	2018	 	 733,488	 5,768,558	 993,334	 8,983,102	 15,744,994	 (999,372)	 14,745,622	
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Seprod	Limited	
Consolidated	Statement	of	Cash	Flows		
Year	ended	31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
Note	

	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Cash	�lows	from	Operating	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	
Cash	provided	by	operating	activities	 29	 	 1,084,373	 	 825,631	

Cash	�lows	from	Investing	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	
Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 (1,816,806)	 	 (474,247)	
Proceeds	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 457,364	 	 5,557	
Ac*uisition	of	subsidiaries	 	 	 (1,194,342)	 	 -	
Issue	of	long	term	receivables	 	 	 (175,031)	 	 (48,053)	
Repayment	of	long	term	receivables	 	 	 971,706	 	 78,129	
Redemption	of	short	term	deposits	 	 	 -	 	 153,906	
Interest	received	 	 	 143,050	 	 116,167	
Dividends	received	 	 	 680	 	 400	
Cash	used	in	investing	activities	 	 	 (1,613,379)	 	 (168,141)	

Cash	�lows	from	�inancing	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	loans	received	 	 	 4,728,099	 	 1,739,272	

ong	term	loans	repaid	 	 	 (2,001,885)	 	 (1,439,317)	
Dividends	paid	 	 	 (258,486)	 	 (490,578)	
Interest	paid	 	 	 (734,792)	 	 (305,713)	
Cash	provided	by>(used	in)	financing	activities	 	 	 1,732,936	 	 (496,336)	

Increase	in	cash	and	cash	e*uivalents		 	 	 1,203,930	 	 161,154	
Net	effect	of	foreign	currency	translation	on	cash	 	 	 14,111	 	 8,635	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 837,294	 	 667,505	
CASH	AND	CASH	E�UIVALENTS	AT	END	O�	YEAR	 	 	 2,055,335	 	 837,294	
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Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	
Year	ended	31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
Note	

	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

�roup	costs	recovered	from	subsidiaries	 	 	 889,797	 	 846,988	
Finance	and	other	operating	income	 6		 528,063	 	 393,263	
Administration	expenses	 7		 (3,003,803)	 	 (1,513,966)	
Operating	Loss	 		 (1,585,943)	 	 (273,715)	
Finance	costs	 9		 (300,604)	 	 (190,453)	
Loss	before	Taxation	 		 (1,886,547)	 	 (464,168)	
Taxation	 10		 (27,842)	 	 (53,082)	
Net	Loss	 11		 (1,914,389)	 	 (517,250)	
Other	Comprehensive	Income,	net	of	taxes	 		 	 	 	
Items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	–		 		 	 	 	
	 Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefits	 10		 9,900	 	 3,150	
	 Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 10		 44,871	 	 (126,345)	
TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	 	 	 (1,859,618)	 	 (640,445)	
	
	



86

S(P52' /,M,7('
Statement of Financial Position
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	6	

Seprod	Limited	
Statement	of	Financial	Position		
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
Note	

	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Non6current	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	

Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 14	 	 572,055	 	 527,270	
Investments	 16	 	 1,414,445	 	 1,369,574	
Investment	in	subsidiaries	 17	 	 10,137,630	 	 4,829,188	
Investment	in	joint	venture	 18	 	 434,114	 	 434,114	

ong	term	receivables	 19	 	 2,626,370	 	 2,105,349	
Post-employment	benefit	assets	 20	 	 36,000	 	 38,500	
	 	 	 15,220,614	 	 9,303,995	

Current	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade	and	other	receivables	 23	 	 569,879	 	 3,818,478	
Current	portion	of	long	term	receivables	 19	 	 970,552	 	 1,468,012	
Taxation	recoverable	 	 	 78,396	 	 77,889	
Due	from	subsidiaries	 	 	 4,694,818	 	 992,677	
Cash	and	bank	balances	 	 	 703,414	 	 477,304	

	 	 	 7,017,059	 	 6,834,360	
Current	Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

Payables		 24	 	 597,680	 	 2,267,967	
Current	portion	of	long	term	liabilities	 27	 	 683,243	 	 1,709,169	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 	 	 7,298,750	 	 5,272,290	

	 	 	 8,579,673	 	 9,249,426	
Net	Current	Liabilities	 	 	 (1,562,614)	 	 (2,415,066)	
	 	 	 13,658,000	 	 6,888,929	

E)uity	 	 	 	 	 	
Share	capital		 25	 	 5,768,558	 	 560,388	
Capital	reserves		 26	 	 428,217	 	 383,346	
Retained	earnings	 	 	 2,003,147	 	 4,495,931	

	 	 	 8,199,922	 	 5,439,665	
Non6current	Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

Post-employment	benefit	obligations	 20	 	 136,200	 	 148,400	

ong	term	liabilities	 27	 	 5,189,872	 	 1,200,000	

	 Deferred	tax	liabilities	 28	 	 132,006	 	 100,864	
	 	 	 5,458,078	 	 1,449,264	
	 	 	 13,658,000	 	 6,888,929	
	
Approved	for	issue	by	the	�oard	of	Directors	on	31	May	201H	and	signed	on	its	behalf	by:	
	 	 	

	
	

	 	

Paul	�.	Scott	 Director	 	 Richard	Pandohie	 	 	Director	
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Seprod	Limited	
Statement	of	Changes	in	�*uity		
Year	ended	31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 
 

	
	

	
			Number													
of	Shares			

Share	
Capital		

	Capital	
Reserve	

Retained	
Earnings	 Total	

	 	 7000		 $=000		 $=000	 $=000			 $=000	

�alance	at	1	�anuary	2017	 	 516,339	 560,388	 509,691	 5,500,609	 6,570,688	


oss	for	the	year	 	 -	 -	 -	 (517,250)	 (517,250)	

Re-measurements	on	post-employment	benefits	 	 -	 -	 -	 3,150	 3,150	

Fair	value	losses	on	investments	 	 -	 -	 (126,345)	 -	 (126,345)	

Total	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	 (126,345)	 (514,100)	 (640,445)	

Transactions	with	owners7	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Dividends	declared	(Note	13)	 	 -	 -	 -	 (490,578)	 (490,578)	

�alance	at	31	December	2017	 	 516,339	 560,388	 383,346	 4,495,931	 5,439,665	


oss	for	the	year	 	 -	 -	 -	 (1,914,389)	 (1,914,389)	

Re-measurements	on	post-employment	benefits	 	 -	 -	 -	 9,900	 9,900	

Fair	value	gains	on	investments	 	 -	 -	 44,871	 -	 44,871	

Total	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	 44,871	 (1,904,489)	 (1,859,618)	

Transactions	with	owners7	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Issue	of	ordinary	shares	 	 217,149	 5,208,170	 -	 -	 5,208,170	

	 Dividends	declared	(Note	13)	 	 -	 -	 -	 (588,295)	 (588,295)	

�alance	at	31	December	2018	 	 733,488	 5,768,558	 428,217	 2,003,147	 8,199,922	
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Note	
	 2018	

$’000	
	

2017	
$’000	

Cash	�lows	from	Operating	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	
Cash	(used	in)>provided	by	operating	activities	 29	 	 (905,710)	 	 247,267	

Cash	�lows	from	Investing	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	
Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 (83,433)	 	 (106,878)	
Proceeds	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 5,225	 	 -	
Ac*uisition	of	subsidiaries	 	 	 (2,141,499)	 	 -	
Issue	of	long	term	receivables	 	 	 (84,359)	 	 -	
Repayment	of	long	term	receivables	 	 	 953,706	 	 45,677	
Interest	received	 	 	 87,722	 	 111,773	
Dividends	received	 	 	 680	 	 400	
Cash	(used	in)>provided	by	investing	activities	 	 	 (1,261,958)	 	 50,972	

Cash	�lows	from	�inancing	Activities	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	loans	received	 	 	 4,257,715	 	 1,672,626	

ong	term	loans	repaid	 	 	 (1,390,657)	 	 (1,125,101)	
Dividends	paid	 	 	 (258,486)	 	 (490,578)	
Interest	paid	 	 	 (228,905)	 	 (187,163)	

Cash	provided	by>(used	in)	financing	activities	 	 	 2,379,667	 	 (130,216)	
Increase	in	cash	and	cash	e*uivalents		 	 	 211,999	 	 168,023	
Net	effect	of	foreign	currency	translation	on	cash	 	 	 14,111	 	 8,899	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 477,304	 	 300,382	
CASH	AND	CASH	E�UIVALENTS	AT	END	O�	YEAR	 	 	 703,414	 	 477,304	
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15 Principal	Activities	and	Operations	

Seprod	 
imited	 (<the	 Company=)	 is	 incorporated	 and	domiciled	 in	 Jamaica.	 The	Company	 is	 publicly	 listed	 on	 the	 Jamaica	 Stock	
�xchange,	and	has	its	registered	office	at	3	Felix	Fox	�oulevard,	�ingston.	
	
The	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	are	collectively	referred	to	as	<the	�roup=.	

	
	 The	Company;s	subsidiaries	and	its	joint	venture	entity,	their	principal	activities	and	their	countries	of	incorporation	and	domicile	

are	as	follows7	
	
Subsidiary	 Principal	activity	 Country	of	Incorporation	

and	Domicile	
�elvedere	
imited	 Agriculture	 Jamaica	

Caribbean	Products	Company	
imited	 �anufacture	and	sale	of	oils	and	fats	 Jamaica	

�olden	�rove	Sugar	Company	
imited,	and	its	subsidiary	 Sugar	production	 Jamaica	

- �olden	�rove	Funding	
imited	 	 Investments	 St.	
ucia	

Facey	Commodity		oldings	
imited,	and	its	subsidiary	 Investments	 �arbados	

- Facey	Commodity	Company	
imited	 	 Sale	of	consumer	and	pharmaceutical	
products	

Jamaica	

Industrial	Sales	
imited	 Sale	of	consumer	products	 Jamaica	

International	�iscuits	
imited	 �anufacture	and	sale	of	biscuit	
products	

Jamaica	

Jamaica	�dible	Oils	and	Fats	Company	
imited	 	 Dormant	 Jamaica	

�usson		oldings	
imited,	and	its	subsidiaries	 Investments	 St.	
ucia	

� �usson	International	Dairies	
imited	 	 �anufacture	and	sale	of	milk	products	
and	juices	

Jamaica	

� �usson	International	Dairies	Trinidad	and	Tobago	

imited	 	

�anufacture	and	sale	of	milk	products	
and	juices	

Trinidad	and	Tobago	

� �usson	 International	 Dairies	 Republica	
Dominicana	SR
	

�anufacture	and	sale	of	milk	products	
and	juices	

Dominican	Republic	

Serge	Island	Dairies	
imited	 �anufacture	and	sale	of	milk	products	
and	juices	

Jamaica	

Serge	Island	Farms	
imited	 Dairy	farming	 Jamaica	

	 	 	

�oint	venture	entity	 Principal	activity	 Country	of	Incorporation	
and	Domicile	

Jamaica	�rain	and	Cereals	
imited	 �anufacture	and	sale	of	corn	and	
wheat	products	and	cereals	

Jamaica	

	 	 	
The	interests	in	�usson		oldings	
imited	and	Facey	Commodity		oldings	
imited	were	ac*uired	during	the	year	(Note	33).	
	
All	 subsidiaries	 are	wholly	owned,	with	 the	exception	of	�olden	�rove	Sugar	Company	
imited	which	 is	owned	71.2O	by	 the	
Company.		
	
Jamaica	 �rain	 and	 Cereals	 
imited,	 a	 former	 subsidiary,	 became	 a	 50O	 joint	 venture	 in	 2015	 following	 the	 disposal	 of	 50O	
interest	in	the	entity	and	the	joint	sharing	of	decision	making	responsibility	with	the	other	shareholder.	
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25 Significant	Accounting	Policies	

The	principal	 accounting	policies	 applied	 in	 the	preparation	of	 these	 financial	 statements	 are	 set	 out	 below.	The	policies	have	
been	consistently	applied	to	all	the	years	presented,	unless	otherwise	stated.	
	
;a< �asis	of	preparation	

The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	of	 the	�roup	and	 the	 financial	 statements	of	 the	Company	 standing	alone	 (together	
referred	to	as	the	financial	statements)	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	
(IFRS)	and	IFRS	Interpretations	Committee	(IFRS	IC)	applicable	to	companies	reporting	under	IFRS.	The	financial	statements	
have	been	prepared	under	the	historical	cost	convention,	as	modified	by	the	revaluation	of	available-for-sale	financial	assets	
and	biological	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	loss.	

		
The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	re*uires	the	use	of	certain	critical	accounting	estimates.	It	also	
re*uires	 management	 to	 exercise	 its	 judgement	 in	 the	 process	 of	 applying	 the	 �roup;s	 accounting	 policies.	 Although	 these	
estimates	 are	 based	 on	 managements;	 best	 knowledge	 of	 current	 events	 and	 action,	 actual	 results	 could	 differ	 from	 those	
estimates.	 The	 areas	 involving	 a	 higher	 degree	 of	 judgement	 or	 complexity,	 or	 areas	where	 assumptions	 and	 estimates	 are	
significant	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	disclosed	in	Note	4.	
	
Standards,	interpretations	and	amendments	to	existing	standards	effective	in	the	current	financial	year	
Certain	new	standards,	interpretations	and	amendments	to	existing	standards	have	been	published	that	became	effective	during	
the	current	financial	period.	The	�roup	has	assessed	the	relevance	of	all	such	new	standards,	interpretations	and	amendments	
and	has	concluded	that	the	following	are	relevant	to	its	operations7	
	
I�RS	H,	=�inancial	Instruments=	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2018).		The	standard	introduces	
new	 re*uirements	 for	 the	 classification,	measurement	 and	 recognition	 of	 financial	 assets	 and	 financial	 liabilities,	 in	 order	 to	
ensure	that	relevant	and	useful	information	is	presented	to	users	of	financial	statements.	It	replaces	the	multiple	classification	
and	measurement	models	in	IAS	39	with	a	single	model	that	has	only	two	classification	categories7	amortised	cost	and	fair	value.	
The	determination	of	classification	is	made	at	initial	recognition,	and	depends	on	the	entity;s	business	model	for	managing	its	
financial	instruments	and	the	contractual	cash	flow	characteristics	of	the	instrument.	
	
IFRS	9	 introduces	a	new	model	 for	 the	recognition	of	 impairment	 losses	?	 the	expected	credit	 losses	model.	There	 is	a	 :three	
stage;	approach	which	is	based	on	the	change	in	credit	*uality	of	financial	assets	since	initial	recognition.	In	practice,	the	new	
rules	mean	that	entities	have	to	record	an	immediate	loss	e*ual	to	the	12-month	expected	credit	losses	on	initial	recognition	of	
financial	assets	that	are	not	credit	impaired	(or	lifetime	expected	credited	losses	for	trade	receivables).	�here	there	has	been	a	
significant	increase	in	credit	risk,	impairment	is	measured	using	lifetime	expected	credit	losses	rather	than	12-month	expected	
credit	 losses.	The	model	 includes	operational	simplifications	for	 lease	and	trade	receivables.	The	analysis	of	the	impact	of	the	
new	impairment	model	re*uires	the	identification	of	the	credit	risk	associated	with	counterparties.	The	counterparties	are	for	
trade	receivables	from	customers	for	products	sold.	In	determining	the	level	of	 impairment,	the	�roup	now	uses	a	provisions	
matrix	for	trade	receivables	reflecting	past	experience	of	losses	incurred	due	to	default	as	well	as	forward	looking	information.	
	
There	 is	no	 impact	on	the	�roupBs	accounting	for	 financial	 liabilities,	as	the	new	re*uirements	only	 impact	 financial	 liabilities	
that	are	designated	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	and	the	�roup	does	not	currently	have	any	such	liabilities.	
	
The	adoption	of	the	new	standard	did	not	result	in	a	change	to	the	classification	or	measurement	of	financial	assets	or	liabilities.	
	owever,	the	adoption	of	the	standard	resulted	in	increase	of	$5,470,000	in	the	impairment	loss	allowance	for	the	�roup;s	trade	
receivables	 as	 at	 1	 January	 2018	 (Note	 3(a)).	 Changes	 in	 accounting	 policies	 resulting	 from	 adoption	 have	 been	 applied	
retrospectively	 as	 at	1	 January	2018,	 but	with	no	 restatement	of	 comparative	 information	 for	prior	 years.	 Conse*uently,	 the	
�roup	has	 recognised	 the	 adjustment	 to	 the	 opening	 impairment	 loss	 allowance	 between	 IAS	 39	 and	 IFRS	 9	 in	 the	 opening	
retained	earnings.			
	
I�RS	 1D,	 7Revenue	 from	Contracts	with	 Customers’	 (effective	 for	 the	 periods	 beginning	 on	 or	 after	 1	 January	 2018).	 The	
standard	 introduces	 the	 core	 principle	 that	 revenue	must	 be	 recognised	when	 the	 goods	 or	 services	 are	 transferred	 to	 the	
customer,	 at	 the	 transaction	 price.	 Any	 bundled	 goods	 or	 services	 that	 are	 distinct	must	 be	 separately	 recognised,	 and	 any	
discounts	or	rebates	on	the	contract	price	must	generally	be	allocated	to	the	separate	elements.	�hen	the	consideration	varies	
for	any	reason,	minimum	amounts	must	be	 recognised	 if	 they	are	not	at	 significant	 risk	of	 reversal.	Costs	 incurred	 to	secure	
contracts	with	customers	have	to	be	capitalised	and	amortised	over	the	period	when	the	benefits	of	the	contract	are	consumed.		
	
The	 �roup	 has	 assessed	 its	 commercial	 arrangements	 with	 its	 customers	 and	 has	 concluded	 that	 the	 adoption	 of	 this	 new	
standard	has	no	significant	impact	on	its	results	or	financial	position		based	on	the	nature	of	goods	and	services	that	it	offers	and	
the	terms	under	which	such	goods	and	services	are	offered.	



91

F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	11		

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

;a< �asis	of	preparation	;continued<	
Standards,	interpretations	and	amendments	to	existing	standards	effective	in	the	current	financial	year	/continued0	
I�RIC	22,	 7�oreign	 currency	 transactions	and	advance	 consideration’	 (effective	 for	 annual	 periods	beginning	on	or	 after		
1	 January	2018).	The	Interpretation	covers	 foreign	currency	transactions	when	an	entity	recognises	a	non-monetary	asset	or	
non-monetary	 liability	arising	 from	 the	payment	or	 receipt	of	 advance	consideration	before	 the	entity	 recognises	 the	 related	
asset,	expense	or	income.	It	does	not	apply	when	an	entity	measures	the	related	asset,	expense	or	income	on	initial	recognition	
at	fair	value	or	at	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received	or	paid	at	a	date	other	than	the	date	of	initial	recognition	of	the	non-
monetary	asset	or	non-monetary	liability.	Also,	the	Interpretation	need	not	be	applied	to	income	taxes,	insurance	contracts	or	
reinsurance	contracts.	This	interpretation	has	no	significant	impact	on	the	�roup;s	financial	statements.	
	
Annual	Improvements	201C6201E,	 (effective	 for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	 January	2018).	The	IAS�	 issued	 its	
Annual	 Improvements	to	 IFRSs	2014-2016	cycle	amending	a	number	of	standards,	 the	 following	of	which	are	relevant	to	the	
�roup7	Amendment	to	IFRS	12,	‘Disclosure	of	interests	in	other	entities’	which	clarified	the	scope	of	the	standard6	and	Amendment	
to	IAS	28,	‘Investments	in	associates	and	joint	ventures’	which	clarified	that	the	election	to	measure	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	
loss	an	 investment	 in	an	associate	or	a	 joint	venture	 that	 is	held	by	an	entity	 that	 is	 a	venture	 capital	organisation,	or	other	
*ualifying	entity,	 is	available	for	each	investment	in	an	associate	or	joint	venture	on	an	investment-by-investment	basis,	upon	
initial	recognition.	These	amendments	have	no	significant	impact	on	the	�roup;s	financial	statements.	
	
Standards,	 interpretations	 and	 amendments	 to	 existing	 standards	 that	 are	 not	 yet	 effective	 and	 have	 not	 �een	 early	
adopted	�y	the	�roup	
At	the	date	of	authorisation	of	 these	 financial	statements,	certain	new	standards,	 interpretations	and	amendments	to	existing	
standards	have	been	issued	which	are	mandatory	for	the	�roup;s	accounting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2019	or	
later	periods,	but	were	not	effective	at	the	date	of	the	statement	of	financial	position.	The	�roup	has	assessed	the	relevance	of	all	
such	new	standards,	interpretations	and	amendments,	and	has	determined	that	the	following	may	be	immediately	relevant	to	its	
operations,	and	has	concluded	as	follows7	
	
I�RS	1E,	7Leases’	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2019).	In	January	2016,	the	IAS�	published	IFRS	
16	which	replaces	the	current	guidance	in	IAS	17.	Under	IAS	17,	lessees	were	re*uired	to	make	a	distinction	between	a	finance	
lease	(on	balance	sheet)	and	an	operating	lease	(off	balance	sheet).	IFRS	16	now	re*uires	lessees	to	recognise	a	lease	liability	
reflecting	 future	 lease	payments	and	a	 :right-of-use	asset;	 for	virtually	all	 lease	contracts.	 Further,	an	 interest	expense	on	 the	
lease	liability	and	depreciation	on	the	right-of-use	asset	will	be	presented	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	There	is	an	
optional	exemption	for	lessees	for	certain	short-term	leases	and	leases	of	low-value	assets.		The	�roup	is	assessing	the	impact	of	
future	adoption	of	the	standard	on	its	financial	statements.	
	
I�RIC	23,	7Uncertainty	over	income	tax	treatments’	(effective	for	annual	period	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2019).	This	
Interpretation	clarifies	how	the	recognition	and	measurement	re*uirements	of	IAS	12	:Income	taxes;,	are	applied	where	there	is	
uncertainty	 over	 income	 tax	 treatments.	 The	 Interpretation	 had	 previously	 clarified	 that	 IAS	 12,	 not	 IAS	 37	 :Provisions,	
contingent	 liabilities	 and	 contingent	 assets;,	 applies	 to	 accounting	 for	 uncertain	 income	 tax	 treatments.	 The	 Interpretation	
explains	how	to	recognise	and	measure	deferred	and	current	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities	where	there	is	uncertainty	over	a	
tax	treatment.	The	�roup	does	not	expect	any	significant	impact	from	the	adoption	of	this	Interpretation.	
	
Amendment	to	I�RS	H,	 =�inancial	Instruments’,	 7Prepayment	features	with	negative	compensation=	(effective	for	annual	
periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2019).		This	amendment	enables	entities	to	measure	certain	prepayable	financial	assets	
with	negative	compensation	at	amortised	cost.	These	assets	would	otherwise	have	to	be	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	
loss.	 To	 *ualify	 for	 amortised	 cost	 measurement,	 the	 negative	 compensation	 must	 be	 :reasonable	 compensation	 for	 early	
termination	of	the	contract;	and	the	asset	must	be	held	within	a	:held	to	collect;	business	model.	The	�roup	does	not	expect	any	
significant	impact	from	the	adoption	of	this	amendment.	
	
Amendment	to	IAS	28,	 =Investment	in	associates	and	"oint	ventures=	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	
January	2019).		This	amendment	clarifies	that	IFRS	9	is	not	applied	where	long	term	interests	in	associates	and	joint	ventures	
are	accounted	for	using	the	e*uity	method.	The	�roup	uses	the	e*uity	method	to	account	for	long	term	interests	in	associates	
and	joint	ventures.		
	
Annual	Improvements	201D62017,	 (effective	 for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	 January	2019).	The	IAS�	 issued	 its	
Annual	 Improvements	to	 IFRSs	2015-2017	cycle	amending	a	number	of	standards,	 the	 following	of	which	are	relevant	to	the	
�roup7	 Amendment	 to	 IAS	 12,	 ‘Income	 taxes’	 which	 clarifies	 that	 the	 income	 tax	 conse*uences	 of	 dividends	 on	 financial	
instruments	should	be	recognised	according	to	where	the	past	transactions	or	events	that	generated	distribution	profits	were	
recognised.	The	�roup	does	not	expect	any	significant	impact	from	the	adoption	of	this	amendment.	
	



92

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	12		

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

;b<	 �asis	of	consolidation		
�onsolidation	of	su�sidiaries	
Subsidiaries	are	all	entities	(including	structured	entities)	over	which	the	�roup	has	control.	The	�roup	controls	an	entity	when	
the	�roup	is	exposed	to,	or	has	rights	to,	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	
returns	through	its	power	over	the	entity.	Subsidiaries	are	fully	consolidated	from	the	date	on	which	control	is	transferred	to	the	
�roup.	They	are	deconsolidated	from	the	date	that	control	ceases.		
	
The	�roup	uses	the	ac*uisition	method	of	accounting	to	account	for	business	combinations.	The	consideration	transferred	for	
the	ac*uisition	of	a	subsidiary	is	the	fair	values	of	the	assets	transferred,	the	liabilities	incurred	and	the	e*uity	interests	issued	by	
the	 �roup.	 The	 consideration	 transferred	 includes	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 any	 asset	 or	 liability	 resulting	 from	 a	 contingent	
consideration	arrangement.	Ac*uisition-related	costs	are	expensed	as	 incurred.	 Identifiable	assets	ac*uired	and	liabilities	and	
contingent	liabilities	assumed	in	a	business	combination	are	measured	initially	at	their	fair	values	at	the	ac*uisition	date.	On	an	
ac*uisition-by-ac*uisition	basis,	the	�roup	recognises	any	non-controlling	interest	in	the	ac*uiree	either	at	fair	value	or	at	the	
non-controlling	interest;s	proportionate	share	of	the	ac*uiree;s	net	assets.	
	
Investments	in	subsidiaries	are	accounted	for	at	cost	less	impairment.	Cost	is	adjusted	to	reflect	changes	in	consideration	arising	
from	contingent	consideration	amendments.	Cost	also	includes	direct	attributable	costs	of	investment.	
	
The	excess	of	the	consideration	transferred,	the	amount	of	any	non-controlling	interest	in	the	ac*uiree	and	the	ac*uisition-date	
fair	value	of	any	previous	e*uity	 interest	 in	the	ac*uiree	over	the	fair	value	of	the	�roup;s	share	of	the	identifiable	net	assets	
ac*uired	 is	recorded	as	goodwill.	 If	 this	 is	 less	than	the	fair	value	of	 the	net	assets	of	 the	subsidiary	ac*uired	 in	the	case	of	a	
bargain	purchase,	the	difference	is	recognised	directly	in	the	profit	or	loss.	
	
Intercompany	 transactions,	 balances	 and	 unrealised	 gains	 and	 losses	 on	 transactions	 between	 the	 �roup	 companies	 are	
eliminated.	 Accounting	 policies	 of	 subsidiaries	 have	 been	 changed	where	 necessary	 to	 ensure	 consistency	 with	 the	 policies	
adopted	by	the	�roup.	
	

oans	 to	 subsidiaries	 that	 are	 intended	 to	 provide	 subsidiaries	with	 a	 long-term	 source	 of	 additional	 capital	 are	 considered	
additions	to	the	Company;s	investment.	Accordingly,	these	loans	are	included	in	Investment	in	Subsidiaries	on	the	Company;s	
statement	of	financial	position.	
	
�ransactions	)ith	non-controlling	interests	
The	�roup	treats	transactions	with	non-controlling	interests	that	do	not	result	in	a	loss	of	control	as	e*uity	transactions6	i.e.,	as	
transactions	with	owners	in	their	capacity	as	owners.	For	purchases	from	non-controlling	interests,	the	difference	between	any	
consideration	paid	and	the	relevant	share	ac*uired	of	 the	carrying	value	of	net	assets	of	 the	subsidiary	 is	recorded	 in	e*uity.	
�ains	or	losses	on	disposals	to	non-controlling	interests	are	also	recorded	in	e*uity.	
	
�hen	the	�roup	ceases	to	have	control	or	significant	influence,	any	retained	interest	in	the	entity	is	remeasured	to	its	fair	value,	
with	the	change	in	carrying	amount	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	The	fair	value	is	the	initial	carrying	amount	for	the	purposes	of	
subse*uently	 accounting	 for	 the	 retained	 interest	 as	 an	 associate,	 joint	 venture	 or	 financial	 asset.	 In	 addition,	 any	 amounts	
previously	recognised	 in	other	comprehensive	 income	 in	respect	of	 that	entity	are	accounted	 for	as	 if	 the	�roup	had	directly	
disposed	of	the	related	assets	or	liabilities.	This	may	mean	that	amounts	previously	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	
are	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss.	
	

oint	ventures	
Investments	in	joint	arrangements	are	classified	as	either	joint	operations	or	joint	ventures	depending	on	the	contractual	right	
and	obligations	of	each	investor.	The	�roup	has	assessed	the	nature	of	its	joint	arrangement	and	has	determined	it	to	be	a	joint	
venture.	 The	 �roup;s	 interest	 in	 the	 joint	 venture	 is	 accounted	 for	 using	 the	 e*uity	 accounting	 method.	 	 Under	 the	 e*uity	
accounting	 method,	 investments	 in	 joint	 ventures	 are	 carried	 in	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 financial	 position	 at	 cost	 as	
adjusted	for	the	post	ac*uisition	changes	in	the	�roup;s	share	of	the	net	assets	of	the	joint	venture,	less	any	impairment.		
	
The	�roup;s	share	of	its	joint	ventures;	post-ac*uisition	profits	or	losses	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement,	and	its	share	of	
post-ac*uisition	movements	in	reserves	is	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income.		
osses	of	the	joint	venture	in	excess	of	
the	group;s	 interest	are	not	recognised	unless	 the	group	has	 incurred	 legal	or	constructive	obligations	or	made	payments	on	
behalf	of	the	joint	venture.	Unrealised	gains	on	transactions	between	the	group	and	its	joint	ventures	are	eliminated	to	the	extent	
of	the	group;s	interest	in	the	joint	ventures.	Unrealised	losses	are	also	eliminated	unless	the	transaction	provides	evidence	of	an	
impairment	of	the	asset	transferred.	
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25				Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	
		 	

;c<	 Revenue	and	income	recognition	
Sales	of	goods	
Revenue	comprises	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received	or	receivable	for	the	sale	of	goods	in	the	ordinary	course	of	the	
�roup;s	activities.	Revenue	is	shown	net	of	�eneral	Consumption	Tax,	returns,	rebates	and	discounts	and	after	eliminating	sales	
within	the	�roup.	
	
Revenue	is	recognised	when	control	of	the	goods	has	been	established	?	being	when	the	goods	are	delivered	to	the	customer,	the	
customer	has	full	discretion	over	the	channel	and	price	to	sell	the	goods	and	there	is	no	unfulfilled	obligation	that	could	affect	the	
customer;s	acceptance	of	the	goods.	Delivery	occurs	when	the	goods	have	been	transported	to	a	specific	predetermined	location,	
the	risks	of	obsolescence	and	 loss	have	been	transferred	to	 the	customer,	and	either	 the	customer	has	accepted	the	goods	 in	
accordance	with	the	sales	contract,	the	acceptance	provisions	have	lapsed	or	the	�roup	has	objective	evidence	that	all	criteria	for	
acceptance	have	been	satisfied.	A	receivable	is	recognised	when	the	goods	are	delivered,	at	which	point	in	time	the	consideration	
is	deemed	unconditional	and	only	the	passage	of	time	is	re*uired	before	the	payment	is	due.	
	
	nterest	income	
Interest	income	is	recognised	on	a	time-proportion	basis	using	the	effective	interest	method.	�hen	a	receivable	is	impaired,	the	
�roup	 reduces	 the	 carrying	 amount	 to	 its	 recoverable	 amount,	 being	 the	 estimated	 future	 cash	 flow	 discounted	 at	 original	
effective	interest	rate	of	the	instrument,	and	continues	unwinding	the	discount	as	interest	income.	
	
�ividend	income	
Dividend	income	is	recognised	when	the	right	to	receive	payment	is	established.	
	

;d< �oreign	currency	translation	
Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	the	�roup;s	entities	are	measured	using	the	currency	of	primary	economic	
environment	in	which	the	entity	operates,	referred	to	as	the	functional	currency.	The	functional	currency	of	each	entity	is	the	
same	 as	 its	 presentation	 currency.	 The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 are	 presented	 in	 Jamaican	 dollars,	 which	 is	 the	
Company;s	functional	currency.	
	
The	 foreign	exchange	differences	arising	 from	the	 translation	of	 the	results	and	 financial	position	of	 the	�roup;s	entities	 that	
have	 a	 functional	 currency	 other	 than	 Jamaican	 dollars	 are	 recognised	 in	 other	 comprehensive	 income.	 Such	 exchange	
differences	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	where	the	related	�roup	entity	is	sold	or	partially	sold.		
	
Foreign	currency	 transactions	are	 translated	 into	 the	 functional	 currency	at	 the	exchange	rates	prevailing	at	 the	dates	of	 the	
transactions.	Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	resulting	from	such	transactions	and	from	the	translation	of	foreign	currency	
monetary	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	year	end	exchange	rates	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.			
	
Translation	differences	resulting	from	changes	in	the	amortised	cost	of	foreign	currency	monetary	assets	classified	as	available-
for-sale	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	Other	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	these	assets	are	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	
income.	Translation	differences	on	non-monetary	financial	assets	classified	as	available-for-sale	are	reported	as	a	component	of	
the	fair	value	gain	or	loss	in	other	comprehensive	income.	
	

;e< Property,	plant	and	e)uipment		
�uildings,	plant	and	e*uipment	are	recorded	at	cost	or	deemed	cost,	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment	losses.	All	
other	 property,	 plant	 and	 e*uipment	 are	 carried	 at	 historical	 cost	 less	 accumulated	 depreciation,	 except	 land,	 which	 is	 not	
depreciated.	Depreciation	is	calculated	on	the	straight	line	basis	at	such	rates	as	will	write	off	the	carrying	value	of	the	assets	
over	the	period	of	their	expected	useful	lives.	The	expected	useful	lives	are	as	follows7	
	

�uildings		 	 30	?	50	years	 	
Plant,	e*uipment	and	furniture		 	 3	?	40	years	 	
�otor	vehicles	 	 3	-	5	years	 	

	
�here	the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	is	greater	than	its	estimated	recoverable	amount,	it	 is	written	down	to	its	recoverable	
amount.	
	
�ains	and	losses	on	disposals	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	are	determined	by	reference	to	their	carrying	amount	and	are	
taken	into	account	in	determining	profit.	Repairs	and	maintenance	expenditure	is	charged	to	profit	or	loss	during	the	financial	
period	in	which	it	is	incurred.	
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25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;f< Intangible	assets	

�ood)ill	
�oodwill	is	recorded	at	cost	and	represents	the	excess	of	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	paid	over	the	�roup;s	interest	in	the	
net	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 identifiable	 assets,	 liabilities	 and	 contingent	 liabilities	 of	 the	 ac*uiree	 and	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 non-
controlling	interest	in	the	ac*uiree.	�oodwill	is	tested	annually	for	impairment	and	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	impairment	
losses.	 For	 the	 purposes	 of	 impairment	 testing,	 goodwill	 is	 allocated	 to	 cash-generating	 units	 that	 benefit	 from	 the	 business	
combination	in	which	the	goodwill	arose.	Impairment	losses	on	goodwill	are	not	reversed.	
	
�istri�ution	net)or�	
Distribution	network	obtained	by	the	�roup	in	a	business	combination	are	recognised	at	fair	value	at	the	ac*uisition	date.	This	
intangible	asset	is	tested	annually	for	impairment	and	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Impairment	losses	are	
not	subse*uently	reversed.	
	
Supplier	relationships,	trade	names	and	�rands	
Supplier	relationships,	trade	names	and	brands	obtained	by	the	�roup	in	a	business	combination	are	recognised	at	fair	value	at	
the	 ac*uisition	date.	These	 intangible	 assets	 are	deemed	 to	have	a	 finite	useful	 life,	 and	are	 carried	at	 cost	 less	 accumulated	
amortisation.	Amortisation	is	calculated	using	the	straight	line	method	to	allocate	the	carrying	values	over	their	estimated	useful	
lives.	The	expected	useful	lives	are	as	follows7	Supplier	relationships	-	12	years6	Trade	names	-	20	years6	and	�rands	-	10	to	
15	years.	Amortisation	of	 intangible	assets	 is	 included	 in	administration	and	other	operating	expenses	 in	 the	statement	of	
comprehensive	income.	
	

;g< Impairment	of	non6financial	assets	
Assets	that	have	an	indefinite	useful	life	are	not	subject	to	amortisation	but	are	tested	annually	for	impairment.	Assets	that	are	
subject	 to	amortisation	are	reviewed	for	 impairment	whenever	events	or	changes	 in	circumstances	 indicate	that	 the	carrying	
amount	may	not	be	recoverable.	An	 impairment	 loss	 is	recognised	for	the	amount	by	which	the	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	
exceeds	its	recoverable	amount,	which	is	the	greater	of	an	asset;s	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	and	value	in	use.	For	the	purpose	of	
assessing	impairment,	assets	are	�rouped	at	the	lowest	levels	for	which	there	are	separately	identified	cash	flows.	Non-financial	
assets	other	than	goodwill	that	suffered	impairment	are	reviewed	for	possible	reversal	of	the	impairment	at	each	reporting	date.	
	

;h< �inancial	assets	
�lassification	as	of	2	
anuary	3124	
The	�roup	 classifies	 its	 financial	 assets	 in	 the	 following	measurement	 categories7	 those	 to	 be	measured	 subse*uently	 at	 fair	
value	(either	through	profit	or	loss	or	through	other	comprehensive	income)6	and	those	to	be	measured	at	amortised	cost.	The	
classification	depends	on	 the	business	model	used	 for	managing	 the	 financial	 assets	 and,	 in	 respect	 of	 debt	 instruments,	 the	
contractual	terms	of	the	cash	flows.	
	
�ecognition	and	measurement	as	of	2	
anuary	3124	
Debt	 instruments	 held	 for	 the	 collection	 of	 contractual	 cash	 flows,	 where	 those	 represent	 solely	 payments	 of	 principal	 and	
interest,	 are	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost.	 Interest	 income	 from	 these	 financial	 assets	 is	 included	 in	 the	 statement	 of	
comprehensive	 income	using	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate	method.	Any	 gains	 or	 losses	 arising	 on	derecognition	 are	 recognised	
directly	in	profit	or	loss.	Impairment	losses	are	presented	as	a	separate	line	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	
	
Debt	instruments	that	are	held	for	the	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	and	for	the	selling	of	financial	assets,	where	the	asset;s	
cash	flows	represent	solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest,	are	measured	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income.	
Interest	income	and	impairment	gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	�hen	the	debt	instrument	is	derecognised,	the	
cumulative	 gains	 or	 losses	 previously	 recognised	 in	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 are	 reclassified	 to	 profit	 or	 loss.	 Interest	
income	 from	 these	 financial	 assets	 is	 included	 in	 the	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	 income	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate	
method.	Any	gains	or	losses	arising	on	derecognition	are	recognised	directly	in	profit	or	loss.	Impairment	losses	are	presented	as	
a	separate	line	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	
	
Debt	 instruments	 that	 do	 not	 meet	 the	 criteria	 for	 amortised	 cost	 or	 fair	 value	 through	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 are	
measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	�ains	and	losses	on	such	instruments	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	
in	which	they	arise.	
	
�*uity	instruments	held	for	trading	are	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	Other	e*uity	instruments	are	held	at	fair	
value	 through	 other	 comprehensive	 income.	 �hen	 the	 e*uity	 instrument	 is	 derecognised,	 the	 cumulative	 gains	 or	 losses	
previously	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	are	not	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss.	Dividends	on	e*uity	instruments	are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	the	�roup;s	rights	to	receive	payments	are	established.	
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25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;h<	 �inancial	assets	;continued<	

	mpairment	as	of	2	
anuary	3124	
�pplication	of	the	�eneral	
odel	to	financial	assets	other	than	trade	receiva�les	
Under	 this	model,	 the	 �roup	 assesses,	 on	 a	 forward-looking	 basis,	 the	 expected	 credit	 losses	 (�C
)	 associated	with	 its	 debt	
instruments	 carried	at	 amortised	 cost	 and	at	 fair	 value	 through	other	 comprehensive	 income.	The	�C
	will	 be	 recogni3ed	 in	
profit	or	loss	before	a	loss	event	has	occurred.	The	measurement	of	�C
	reflects	an	unbiased	and	probability-weighted	amount	
that	is	determined	by	evaluating	a	range	of	possible	outcomes.	The	probability-weighted	outcome	considers	multiple	scenarios	
based	on	reasonable	and	supportable	forecasts.	The	impairment	amount	represents	the	single	best	outcome6	the	time	value	of	
money6	and	reasonable	and	supportable	information	that	is	available	without	undue	cost	or	effort	at	the	reporting	date	about	
past	events,	current	conditions	and	forecasts	of	future	economic	conditions.	
	
The	impairment	model	uses	a	three-stage	approach	based	on	the	extent	of	credit	deterioration	since	origination7	
Sta�e	 1	 ?	 	 12-month	 �C
	 applies	 to	 all	 financial	 assets	 that	 have	 not	 experienced	 a	 significant	 increase	 in	 credit	 risk	 since	
origination	and	are	not	credit	impaired.	The	�C
	will	be	computed	using	a	12-month	PD	?	the	probability	of	default	occurring	
over	the	next	12	months.	
Sta�e	 2	 ?	�hen	 a	 financial	 asset	 experiences	 a	 significant	 increase	 in	 credit	 risk	 subse*uent	 to	 origination	 but	 is	 not	 credit	
impaired,	it	is	considered	to	be	in	Stage	2.	This	re*uires	the	computation	of	�C
	based	on	lifetime	PD	?	the	probability	of	default	
occurring	over	the	remaining	estimated	life	of	the	financial	asset.	Provisions	are	higher	in	this	stage	because	of	an	increase	in	
risk	and	the	impact	of	a	longer	time	hori3on	being	considered	compared	to	12	months	in	Stage	1.	
Sta�e	 ,	 ?	 Financial	 assets	 that	 have	 an	 objective	 evidence	 of	 impairment	 are	 included	 in	 this	 stage.	 Similar	 to	 Stage	 2,	 the	
allowance	for	credit	losses	will	continue	to	capture	the	lifetime	�C
.	
	
The	�roup	uses	judgement	when	considering	the	following	factors	that	affect	the	determination	of	impairment7	
Assessment	of	si�nificant	increase	in	credit	ris�	
To	assess	whether	the	credit	risk	on	a	financial	asset	has	increased	significantly	since	origination,	the	�roup	compares	the	risk	of	
default	 occurring	 over	 the	 expected	 life	 of	 the	 financial	 asset	 at	 the	 reporting	 date	 to	 the	 corresponding	 risk	 of	 default	 at	
origination,	using	key	risk	indicators	that	are	used	in	the	�roup;s	existing	risk	management	processes.	At	each	reporting	date,	
the	 assessment	 of	 a	 change	 in	 credit	 risk	 will	 be	 individually	 assessed	 for	 those	 considered	 individually	 significant.	 This	
assessment	is	symmetrical	in	nature,	allowing	credit	risk	of	financial	assets	to	move	back	to	Stage	1	if	the	increase	in	credit	risk	
since	origination	has	reduced	and	is	no	longer	deemed	to	be	significant.	
	
	acroeconomic	factors,	for#ard	loo�in�	information	and	multi�le	scenarios	
The	�roup	applies	an	unbiased	and	probability	weighted	estimate	of	credit	 losses	by	evaluating	a	range	of	possible	outcomes	
that	 incorporates	 forecasts	 of	 future	 economic	 conditions.	 �acroeconomic	 factors	 and	 forward	 looking	 information	 are	
incorporated	into	the	measurement	of	�C
	as	well	as	the	determination	of	whether	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	
risk	 since	origination.	�easurements	of	�C
s	at	 each	 reporting	period	 reflect	 reasonable	 and	 supportable	 information	at	 the	
reporting	date	about	past	events,	current	conditions	and	forecasts	of	future	economic	conditions.	
	
�x�ected	life	
�hen	measuring	�C
,	the	�roup	considers	the	maximum	contractual	period	over	which	the	�roup	is	exposed	to	credit	risk.	All	
contractual	terms	are	considered	when	determining	the	expected	life,	including	prepayment	options	and	extension	and	rollover	
options.	For	certain	revolving	credit	facilities	that	do	not	have	a	fixed	maturity,	the	expected	life	is	estimated	based	on	the	period	
over	which	the	�roup	exposed	to	credit	risk	and	where	the	credit	losses	would	not	be	mitigated	by	management	actions.	
	
�pplication	of	the	Simplified	�pproach	to	trade	receiva�les	
For	trade	receivables	other	than	those	deemed	specifically	impaired,	the	�roup	applies	the	simplified	approach	which	re*uires	
that	the	impairment	provision	is	measured	at	initial	recognition	and	throughout	the	life	of	the	receivables	using	a	lifetime	�C
.	
As	a	practical	expedient,	a	provision	matrix	is	utilised	in	determining	the	lifetime	�C
s	for	trade	receivables.	The	lifetime	�C
s	
are	 determined	 by	 taking	 into	 consideration	 historical	 rates	 of	 default	 for	 each	 category	 of	 aged	 receivables	 as	 well	 as	 the	
estimated	impact	of	forward	looking	information.	



96

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	16		

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;h<	 �inancial	assets	;continued<	

�lassification	prior	to	2	
anuary	3124	
The	�roup	classifies	its	financial	assets	in	the	following	categories7	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	loans	and	receivables,	and	
available	 for	 sale.	 The	 classification	 depends	 on	 the	 purpose	 for	 which	 the	 financial	 assets	 were	 ac*uired.	 �anagement	
determines	the	classification	of	its	financial	assets	at	initial	recognition.		
	
Financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 throu�h	 �rofit	 or	 loss	 are	 financial	 assets	 held	 for	 trading.	 A	 financial	 asset	 is	 classified	 in	 this	
category	if	ac*uired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	short	term.	�oans	and	receiva�les	are	non-derivative	financial	
assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	*uoted	in	an	active	market.	The	�roup;s	loans	and	receivables	comprise	
:trade	and	other	receivables;,	 long	term	receivables	and	:cash	and	cash	e*uivalents;.	Availa�le'for'sale	financial	assets	are	non-
derivatives	that	are	either	designated	in	this	category	or	not	classified	in	any	of	the	other	categories.	
	
�ecognition	and	measurement	prior	to	2	
anuary	3124	
Regular	 purchases	 and	 sales	 of	 financial	 assets	 are	 recognised	 on	 the	 trade-date	 ?	 the	 date	 on	which	 the	�roup	 commits	 to	
purchase	 or	 sell	 the	 asset.	 Investments	 are	 initially	 recognised	 at	 fair	 value	plus	 transaction	 costs	 for	 all	 financial	 assets	 not	
carried	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	Financial	assets	carried	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	initially	recognised	at	
fair	value,	and	transaction	costs	are	expensed	in	profit	or	loss.	Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	
flows	 from	 the	 investments	have	 expired	or	have	been	 transferred	 and	 the	�roup	has	 transferred	 substantially	 all	 risks	 and	
rewards	of	ownership.	Available-for-sale	financial	assets	and	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	subse*uently	
carried	at	fair	value.	
oans	and	receivables	are	subse*uently	carried	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.	
	
Changes	 in	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 monetary	 and	 non-monetary	 securities	 classified	 as	 available-for-sale	 are	 recognised	 in	 other	
comprehensive	 income.	 �hen	 securities	 classified	 as	 available-for-sale	 are	 sold	 or	 impaired,	 the	 accumulated	 fair	 value	
adjustments	recognised	in	e*uity	are	included	in	profit	or	loss.	
	
	mpairment	prior	to	2	
anuary	3124	
The	�roup	assesses,	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period,	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	asset	or	�roup	of	
financial	assets	is	impaired.	A	financial	asset	or	a	�roup	of	financial	assets	is	impaired	and	impairment	losses	are	incurred	only	if	
there	is	objective	evidence	of	impairment	as	a	result	of	one	or	more	events	that	occurred	after	the	initial	recognition	of	the	asset	
(a	:loss	event;)	and	that	loss	event	(or	events)	has	an	impact	on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	or	�roup	of	
financial	assets	that	can	be	reliably	estimated.		
	
�vidence	 of	 impairment	may	 include	 indications	 that	 the	 debtors	 or	 a	 �roup	 of	 debtors	 is	 experiencing	 significant	 financial	
difficulty,	 default	 or	 delin*uency	 in	 interest	 or	 principal	 payments,	 the	 probability	 that	 they	will	 enter	 bankruptcy	 or	 other	
financial	reorganisation,	and	where	observable	data	 indicate	that	there	is	a	measurable	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	
flows,	 such	 as	 changes	 in	 arrears	 or	 economic	 conditions	 that	 correlate	 with	 defaults.	 In	 the	 case	 of	 e*uity	 investments,	 a	
significant	or	prolonged	decline	in	the	fair	value	of	the	security	below	its	cost	is	also	evidence	that	the	assets	are	impaired.	
	
For	loans	and	receivables	category,	the	amount	of	the	loss	is	measured	as	the	difference	between	the	asset;s	carrying	amount	
and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	(excluding	future	credit	losses	that	have	not	been	incurred)	discounted	at	
the	 financial	asset;s	original	effective	 interest	rate.	The	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	 is	reduced	and	the	amount	of	 the	 loss	 is	
recognised	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	If	a	loan	or	held-to-maturity	investment	has	a	variable	interest	rate,	the	
discount	 rate	 for	 measuring	 any	 impairment	 loss	 is	 the	 current	 effective	 interest	 rate	 determined	 under	 the	 contract.	 As	 a	
practical	expedient,	the	�roup	may	measure	impairment	on	the	basis	of	an	instrument;s	fair	value	using	an	observable	market	
price.	If,	in	a	subse*uent	period,	the	amount	of	the	impairment	loss	decreases	and	the	decrease	can	be	related	objectively	to	an	
event	occurring	after	the	impairment	was	recognised	(such	as	an	improvement	in	the	debtor;s	credit	rating),	the	reversal	of	the	
previously	recognised	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	
	
For	available-for-sale	 financial	 assets,	 the	 cumulative	 loss	?	measured	as	 the	difference	between	 the	ac*uisition	 cost	 and	 the	
current	 fair	 value,	 less	 any	 impairment	 loss	on	 that	 financial	 asset	previously	 recognised	 in	profit	 or	 loss	 ?	 is	 removed	 from	
e*uity	and	recognised	in	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	Impairment	losses	recognised	in	the	arriving	at	profit	or	loss	on	
e*uity	instruments	are	not	reversed	through	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	If,	in	a	subse*uent	period,	the	fair	value	of	
a	debt	instrument	classified	as	available	for	sale	increases	and	the	increase	can	be	objectively	related	to	an	event	occurring	after	
the	 impairment	 loss	 was	 recognised	 in	 arriving	 at	 profit	 or	 loss,	 the	 impairment	 loss	 is	 reversed	 through	 the	 statement	 of	
comprehensive	income.	
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25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;i< �iological	assets	

�ivestoc�	

ivestock	is	measured	at	its	fair	value	less	point	of	sale	costs.	Fair	value	is	determined	based	on	market	prices	of	assets	of	similar	
age,	breed	and	genetic	merit.	Changes	in	fair	value	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	
	
Sugar	cane	
Sugar	cane	is	measured	at	its	fair	value,	 less	estimated	point	of	sale	costs.	Fair	value	is	determined	based	on	market	prices	of	
sugar	and	its	by	product,	molasses.	Changes	in	fair	value	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	
	

;"< Inventories	
Inventories	 are	 stated	 at	 the	 lower	 of	 cost	 or	 net	 realisable	 value,	 cost	 being	 determined	 using	 the	 weighted	 average	 cost	
method.	The	cost	of	finished	goods	and	work	in	progress	includes	cost	of	raw	materials	used,	direct	labour	and	an	appropriate	
proportion	of	overhead	expenses.	The	cost	of	merchandise	for	resale	are	determined	using	weighted	average	cost	method.	Net	
realisable	value	is	the	estimated	selling	price	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business,	less	the	cost	of	selling	expenses.	
	

;k< Trade	receivables	
Trade	 receivables	 are	 amounts	 due	 from	 customers	 for	 merchandise	 sold	 or	 services	 performed	 in	 the	 ordinary	 course	 of	
business	 and	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 fair	 value	 and	 subse*uently	measured	 at	 amortised	 cost	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	
method,	less	provision	for	impairment.	
	

;l< Cash	and	cash	e)uivalents	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	include	cash	in	hand,	deposits	held	at	call	with	banks,	other	short-term	highly	li*uid	investments	with	
original	maturities	of	three	months	or	less,	and	bank	overdrafts.		
	

;m< Payables	
Trade	payables	are	obligations	 to	pay	 for	goods	or	services	 that	have	been	ac*uired	 in	 the	ordinary	course	of	business	 from	
suppliers	 and	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 fair	 value	 and	 subse*uently	measured	 at	 amortised	 cost	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	
method.	
	

;n< �orrowings	
�orrowings	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 fair	 value,	 net	 of	 transaction	 costs	 incurred.	 �orrowings	 are	 subse*uently	 carried	 at	
amortised	cost6	any	difference	between	the	proceeds	(net	of	transaction	costs)	and	the	redemption	value	is	recognised	in	the	
profit	or	loss	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	over	the	period	of	the	borrowings	using	the	effective	interest	method.		
	
Fees	paid	on	the	establishment	of	loan	facilities	are	recognised	as	transaction	costs	of	the	loan	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	
that	some	or	all	of	the	facility	will	be	drawn	down.	In	this	case,	the	fee	is	deferred	until	 the	draw-down	occurs.	To	the	extent	
there	is	no	evidence	that	it	is	probable	that	some	or	all	of	the	facility	will	be	drawn	down,	the	fee	is	capitalised	as	a	pre-payment	
for	li*uidity	services	and	amortised	over	the	period	of	the	facility	to	which	it	relates.	
	

;o< Provisions	
Provisions	 for	 legal	 claims	 are	 recognised	when7	 the	�roup	has	 a	 present	 legal	 or	 constructive	 obligation	 as	 a	 result	 of	 past	
events6	 it	 is	probable	 that	an	outflow	of	resources	will	be	re*uired	to	settle	 the	obligation6	and	the	amount	has	been	reliably	
estimated.	 Provisions	 are	 not	 recognised	 for	 future	 operating	 losses.	 �here	 there	 are	 a	 number	 of	 similar	 obligations,	 the	
likelihood	 that	 an	outflow	will	 be	 re*uired	 in	 settlement	 is	 determined	by	 considering	 the	 class	 of	 obligations	 as	 a	whole.	A	
provision	is	recognised	even	if	the	likelihood	of	an	outflow	with	respect	to	any	one	item	included	in	the	same	class	of	obligations	
may	be	small.	
	
Provisions	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	the	expenditures	expected	to	be	re*uired	to	settle	the	obligation	using	a	pre-tax	
rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	obligation.	The	increase	in	
the	provision	due	to	passage	of	time	is	recognised	as	interest	expense.		
	

;p< Leases	

eases	where	a	significant	portion	of	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	are	retained	by	the	lessor	are	classified	as	operating	
leases.	Payments	made	under	operating	leases	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	period	of	the	lease.		
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25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;)< Income	taxes	

Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	payable	on	the	taxable	income	for	the	year,	using	tax	rates	in	force	at	the	reporting	date,	and	any	
adjustment	to	tax	payable	and	tax	losses	in	respect	of	previous	years.	
	
Deferred	 income	 tax	 is	 provided	 in	 full,	 using	 the	 liability	 method,	 on	 temporary	 differences	 arising	 between	 the	 carrying	
amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	the	corresponding	tax	bases.	Deferred	 income	tax	assets	and	 liabilities	are	offset	 in	 the	
statement	 of	 financial	 position	 when	 there	 is	 a	 legally	 enforceable	 right	 to	 set	 off	 current	 tax	 assets	 against	 current	 tax	
liabilities.	Currently	enacted	tax	rates	are	used	in	the	determination	of	deferred	income	tax.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	recognised	
to	 the	 extent	 that	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 future	 taxable	 profit	 will	 be	 available	 against	 which	 the	 temporary	 differences	 can	 be	
utilised.	 Deferred	 tax	 is	 charged	 or	 credited	 to	 profit	 or	 loss,	 except	 where	 it	 relates	 to	 items	 charged	 or	 credited	 to	 other	
comprehensive	income	or	e*uity,	in	which	case,	deferred	tax	is	also	dealt	with	in	other	comprehensive	income	or	e*uity.	
	

;r< Employee	benefits	
�ension	o�ligations	
Defined	�enefit	�lan	
The	�roup	operates	a	defined	benefit	plan,	 the	assets	of	which	are	generally	held	 in	a	 separate	 trustee-administered	 fund.	A	
defined	benefit	plan	is	a	pension	plan	that	defines	an	amount	of	pension	benefit	to	be	provided,	usually	as	a	function	of	one	or	
more	factors	such	as	age,	years	of	service	or	compensation.		
	
The	amount	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	in	respect	of	defined	benefit	pension	plans	is	the	present	value	of	
the	defined	benefit	obligation	at	 the	statement	of	 financial	position	date	 less	the	 fair	value	of	plan	assets.	The	defined	benefit	
obligation	 is	 calculated	 annually	 by	 independent	 actuaries	 using	 the	 projected	 unit	 credit	method.	 The	 present	 value	 of	 the	
defined	benefit	obligation	is	determined	by	discounting	the	estimated	future	cash	outflows	using	interest	rates	of	high-*uality	
�overnment	of	Jamaica	bonds	that	are	denominated	in	the	currency	in	which	the	benefits	will	be	paid	and	that	have	terms	to	
maturity	approximating	to	the	terms	of	the	related	pension	liability.	
	
Actuarial	gains	and	losses	arising	from	experience	adjustments	and	changes	in	actuarial	assumptions	are	charged	or	credited	to	
e*uity	 in	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 in	 the	 period	 in	 which	 they	 arise.	 Past-service	 costs	 are	 recognised	 immediately	 in	
income.	
	
Defined	contri�ution	�lan	
The	 employees	 of	 the	 �roup	 also	 participate	 in	 an	 Individual	 Retirement	 Scheme	 operated	 by	 an	 independent	 insurance	
Company.		The	�roup	makes	fixed	contributions	to	the	scheme	for	participating	employees.		The	�roup	has	no	obligation	for	the	
benefits	provided	under	 the	 scheme	as	 these	 are	payable	by,	 and	accounted	 for	by	 the	 insurance	Company.	Accordingly,	 the	
�roup	 recognises	 a	 cost	 e*ual	 to	 its	 contributions	 payable	 in	 respect	 of	 each	 accounting	 period	 in	 the	 statement	 of	
comprehensive	income.	
	
�ther	post-employment	�enefits	
The	�roup	provides	post-employment	healthcare	benefits	to	its	retirees.	The	entitlement	to	these	benefits	is	usually	conditional	
on	the	employee	remaining	in	service	up	to	retirement	age	and	the	completion	of	a	minimum	service	period.	The	expected	costs	
of	these	benefits	are	accrued	over	the	period	of	employment	using	the	same	accounting	methodology	as	used	for	defined	benefit	
pension	plans.	Actuarial	gains	and	losses	arising	from	experience	adjustments	and	changes	in	actuarial	assumptions	are	charged	
or	credited	to	e*uity	in	other	comprehensive	income	in	the	period	in	which	they	arise.		These	obligations	are	valued	annually	by	
independent	*ualified	actuaries.	
	
�ermination	�enefits	
Termination	benefits	are	payable	when	employment	is	terminated	by	the	�roup	before	the	normal	retirement	date,	or	whenever	
an	employee	accepts	voluntary	 redundancy	 in	 exchange	 for	 these	benefits.	The	�roup	 recognises	 termination	benefits	 at	 the	
earlier	of	the	following	dates7	(a)	when	the	�roup	can	no	longer	withdraw	the	offer	of	those	benefits6	and	(b)	when	the	entity	
recognises	costs	for	a	restructuring	that	is	within	the	scope	of	IAS	37	and	involves	the	payment	of	termination	benefits.	In	the	
case	 of	 an	 offer	made	 to	 encourage	 voluntary	 redundancy,	 the	 termination	 benefits	 are	measured	 based	 on	 the	 number	 of	
employees	 expected	 to	 accept	 the	 offer.	 �enefits	 falling	 due	more	 than	 12	months	 after	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period	 are	
discounted	to	their	present	value.	
	
�rofit	share	scheme	
The	 �roup	 recognises	 a	 liability	 and	 an	 expense	 for	 bonuses,	 based	 on	 a	 formula	 that	 takes	 into	 consideration	 the	 profit	
attributable	to	the	Company;s	e*uity	holders	after	certain	adjustments.		
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25			Significant	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
;s< Share	capital	

Ordinary	shares	are	classified	as	e*uity.	Incremental	costs	directly	attributable	to	the	issue	of	new	ordinary	shares	or	options	are	
shown	in	e*uity	as	a	deduction,	net	of	tax,	from	the	proceeds.	Dividend	distribution	to	the	Company;s	shareholders	is	recognised	
as	a	liability	in	the	�roup;s	financial	statements	in	the	period	in	which	the	dividends	are	approved	by	the	Company;s	directors.	
	
�here	any	�roup	company	purchases	the	Company;s	e*uity	share	capital	(treasury	shares),	 the	consideration	paid,	 including	
any	directly	attributable	incremental	costs	(net	of	income	taxes)	is	deducted	from	e*uity	attributable	to	the	Company;s	e*uity	
holders	until	 the	 shares	are	 cancelled	or	 reissued.	�here	 such	ordinary	 shares	are	 subse*uently	 reissued,	 any	consideration	
received,	net	of	any	directly	attributable	incremental	transaction	costs	and	the	related	income	tax	effects,	is	included	in	e*uity	
attributable	to	the	Company;s	e*uity	holders.		
	

;t< Segment	reporting	
Operating	segments	are	reported	in	a	manner	consistent	with	the	internal	reporting	provided	to	the	chief	operating	decision-
maker.	 The	 chief	 operating	 decision-maker,	 who	 is	 responsible	 for	 allocating	 resources	 and	 assessing	 performance	 of	 the	
operating	segments,	has	been	identified	as	the	�xecutive	Committee	that	makes	strategic	decisions.	
	

35 �inancial	Risk	Management	

The	�roup;s	activities	expose	 it	 to	a	variety	of	 financial	 risks7	market	risk	(including	currency	risk,	 fair	value	 interest	rate	risk,	
cash	flow	interest	rate	risk	and	price	risk),	credit	risk	and	li*uidity	risk.	The	�roup;s	overall	risk	management	programme	focuses	
on	the	unpredictability	of	financial	markets	and	seeks	to	minimise	potential	adverse	effects	on	the	�roup;s	financial	performance.		
	
The	�roup;s	risk	management	policies	are	designed	to	identify	and	analyse	these	risks,	to	set	appropriate	risk	limits	and	controls,	
and	to	monitor	the	risks	and	adherence	to	limits	by	means	of	reliable	and	up-to-date	information	systems.	The	�roup	regularly	
reviews	its	risk	management	policies	and	systems	to	reflect	changes	in	markets,	products	and	emerging	best	practice.	
	
The	�oard	of	Directors	is	ultimately	responsible	for	the	establishment	and	oversight	of	the	�roup;s	risk	management	framework.		
The	board	provides	written	principles	 for	overall	 risk	management,	 as	well	 as	written	policies	 covering	 specific	 areas,	 such	as	
foreign	 exchange	 risk,	 interest	 rate	 risk,	 credit	 risk,	 use	 of	 derivative	 financial	 instruments	 and	 non-derivative	 financial	
instruments,	 and	 investment	 of	 excess	 li*uidity.	 The	 �oard	 has	 established	 committees>departments	 for	 managing	 and	
monitoring	risks,	as	follows7	
	
�entral	treasury	department	
The	central	treasury	department	is	responsible	for	managing	the	�roup;s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	and	the	overall	financial	
structure.	It	is	also	primarily	responsible	for	the	funding	and	li*uidity	risks	of	the	�roup.	�roup	treasury	identifies,	evaluates	and	
manages	financial	risks	in	close	co-operation	with	the	�roup;s	operating	units.	
	
�udit	�ommittee	
The	 Audit	 Committee	 oversees	 how	 management	 monitors	 compliance	 with	 the	 �roup;s	 risk	 management	 policies	 and	
procedures	and	reviews	the	ade*uacy	of	the	risk	management	framework	in	relation	to	the	risks	faced	by	the	�roup.	The	Audit	
Committee	 is	assisted	 in	 its	oversight	role	by	Internal	Audit.	 Internal	Audit	undertakes	both	regular	and	ad	hoc	reviews	of	risk	
management	controls	and	procedures,	the	result	of	which	are	reported	to	the	Audit	Committee.	
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35						�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
The	carrying	values	of	the	�roup;s	financial	instruments	are	as	follows7	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

�inancial	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Investments,	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	

income	 	 1,414,445	 	 1,369,574	 	 1,414,445	 	 1,369,574	


ong	term	receivables,	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	 	 162,432	 	 -	 	 84,359	 	 -	
At	cost	or	amortised	cost	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 
ong	term	receivables	 	 913,438	 	 3,730,858	 	 3,512,563	 	 3,573,361	
	 Trade	and	other	receivables		 	 4,565,268	 	 5,992,104	 	 489,390	 	 3,764,312	
	 Due	from	subsidiaries	 	 -	 	 -	 	 4,694,818	 	 992,677	
	 Cash	and	bank	balances	 	 2,055,335	 	 837,294	 	 703,414	 	 477,304	
	 	 7,534,041	 	 10,560,256	 	 9,400,185	 	 8,807,654	
	 	 9,110,918	 	 11,929,830	 	 10,898,989	 	 10,177,228	
�inancial	Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At	cost	or	amortised	cost	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	subsidiaries	 	 -	 	 -	 	 7,298,750	 	 5,272,290	
	 Trade	and	other	payables	 	 5,174,997	 	 6,302,272	 	 208,613	 	 2,033,097	
	 
ong	term	liabilities	 	 12,379,477	 	 3,729,508	 	 5,873,115	 	 2,909,169	
	 	 17,554,474	 	 10,031,780	 	 13,380,478	 	 10,214,556	

	 	 	 	 	 	
The	most	important	types	of	risk	are	credit	risk,	li*uidity	risk	and	market	risk.	�arket	risk	for	the	�roup	includes	currency	risk,	
interest	rate	and	other	price	risk.	
	
;a<	Credit	risk	

The	�roup	takes	on	exposure	to	credit	risk,	which	is	the	risk	that	its	customers,	clients	or	counterparties	will	cause	a	financial	loss	
for	the	�roup	by	failing	to	discharge	their	contractual	obligations.	Credit	risk	is	the	most	important	risk	for	the	�roup;s	business6	
management	 therefore	 carefully	 manages	 its	 exposure	 to	 credit	 risk.	 Credit	 exposures	 arise	 principally	 from	 the	 �roup;s	
receivables	 from	 customers	 and	 its	 holdings	 of	 investments.	 	 The	 �roup	 structures	 the	 levels	 of	 credit	 risk	 it	 undertakes	 by	
placing	limits	on	the	amount	of	risk	accepted	in	relation	to	a	single	counterparty	or	�roups	of	related	counterparties	and	industry	
segments.	
	
	nvestments	
The	�roup	 limits	 its	 exposure	 to	 credit	 risk	by	 investing	mainly	 in	 li*uid	 securities,	with	 counterparties	 that	have	high	 credit	
*uality,	and	in	�overnment	of	Jamaica	securities.		Accordingly,	management	does	not	expect	any	counterparty	to	fail	to	meet	its	
obligations.			
	
�ong	term	receiva�les	
The	�roup	limits	its	exposure	to	credit	risk	from	arising	on	receivables	from	farmers	by	ensuring	that	the	value	of	the	receivables	
do	not	exceed	the	anticipated	purchases	from	the	farmers,	and	that	the	�roup	has	the	right	of	setoff	of	 the	receivables	against	
payments	for	the	crop.			
	
�ash	and	�an�	�alances	
Cash	transactions	are	limited	to	high	credit	*uality	financial	institutions.	The	�roup	has	policies	that	limit	the	amount	of	credit	
exposure	to	any	financial	institution.	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;a<	 Credit	risk	;continued<	

�rade	receiva�les	
The	 �roup;s	 exposure	 to	 credit	 risk	 is	 influenced	 mainly	 by	 the	 individual	 characteristics	 of	 each	 customer.	 The	 executive	
committee	has	established	a	credit	policy	under	which	each	customer	is	analysed	individually	for	creditworthiness	prior	to	the	
�roup	offering	them	a	credit	facility.	Credit	limits	are	assigned	to	each	customer,	which	represents	the	maximum	credit	allowable	
without	approval	from	the	�oard.	Customer	credit	risk	is	monitored	according	to	their	credit	characteristics	such	as	whether	it	is	
an	individual	or	company,	industry,	aging	profile,	and	previous	financial	difficulties.	The	�roup	has	procedures	in	place	to	restrict	
customer	orders	if	the	order	will	exceed	their	credit	terms.	Customers	that	fail	to	meet	the	�roup;s	benchmark	creditworthiness	
may	transact	with	the	�roup	on	a	prepayment	basis.	
	
As	of	1	January	2018,	to	measure	expected	credit	losses,	trade	receivables	are	grouped	by	customer	sector	(based	on	shared	risk	
characteristics)	as	well	as	by	aging	buckets.	
ifetime	expected	credit	losses	are	determined	by	taking	into	consideration	historical	
rates	of	default	for	the	totals	of	each	customer	segment	of	aged	receivables	as	well	as	the	estimated	impact	of	forward	looking	
information.	In	determining	historical	rates	of	default,	trade	receivables	greater	than	120	days	past	due	are	used	as	a	proxy	for	
historical	losses.	On	this	basis,	the	�roup;s	loss	allowance	for	trade	receivables	was	determined	as	follows7	
	

	 31	December	2018	

	 	
�ithin	30	

days		
31	to	E0	

days		
E1	to	H0	

days	
H1	to	120	

days		
	J	than	

120	days		
Total			

Trade	receivables	 	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		
Supermarket	chains	 	 	586,328		 	221,234		 	47,842		 	24,112		 	195,929		 	1,075,445		
Retailers	4	wholesalers	 	 	596,140		 	111,394		 	26,944		 	10,752		 	97,543		 	842,773		
Distributors	 	 	156,021		 	235,443		 	96,417		 	31,227		 	148,354		 	667,462		
�anufacturers	 	 	64,361		 	9,719		 	2,048		 	-		 	6,068		 	82,196		
Others	 	 	491,514		 	118,317		 	34,428		 	37,798		 	35,707		 	717,764		
	 	 	1,8HC,3EC		 	EHE,107		 	207,E7H		 	103,88H		 	C83,E01		 	3,38D,EC0		

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Average	expected	loss	rates	 	 I	 I	 I	 I	 I	 	
	 	 1.219	 1.43	 2.71	 22.97	 66.04	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Loss	allowance	 	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		
	 	 22,589	 9,920	 5,623	 23,866	 319,385	 381,383	

	
	 1	�anuary	2018	

	 	
�ithin	30	

days		
31	to	E0	

days		
E1	to	H0	

days	
H1	to	120	

days		
	J	than	

120	days		
Total			

Trade	receivables	 	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		
Supermarket	chains	 	 220,821	 90,878	 3,876	 2,088	 15,613	 333,276	
Retailers	4	wholesalers	 	 187,162	 68,354	 8,011	 3,561	 48,265	 315,353	
Distributors	 	 267,909	 103,225	 55,571	 18,601	 9,430	 454,736	
�anufacturers	 	 51,264	 16,687	 1,392	 1,617	 5,149	 76,109	
Others	 	 64,406	 25,698	 3,643	 29,073	 65,322	 188,142	
	 	 791,562	 304,842	 72,493	 54,940	 143,779	 1,367,616	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Average	expected	loss	rates	 	 I	 I	 I	 I	 I	 	
	 	 0.98	 1.16	 2.40	 18.95	 76.89	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Loss	allowance	 	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		
	 	 7,757	 3,536	 1,740	 10,411	 110,550	 133,994	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	
	

;a<	 Credit	risk	;continued<	
�rade	receiva�les	/continued0	
	
Prior	to	1	January	2018,	the	�roup	established	an	allowance	for	impairment	that	represented	its	estimate	of	incurred	losses	in	
respect	of	trade	receivables.	On	this	basis,	trade	receivables	of	$128,524,000	were	considered	impaired	and	were	fully	provided	
for.	The	individually	impaired	receivables	mainly	relate	to	wholesalers	who	were	in	unexpected	difficult	economic	situations.	All	
of	the	aforementioned	impaired	receivables	balances	were	greater	than	90	days	old.		
	
The	movement	in	the	provision	for	impairment	of	trade	receivables	is	as	follows7	

	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	

At	start	of	year	 128,524	 	 110,705	 	 -	 	 3,619	
Restated	through	opening	retained	

earnings	 5,470	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	

	 133,994	 	 110,705	 	 -	 	 3,619	
�usiness	combinations	 185,510		 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
Amounts	recovered	during	the	year	 (19,870)		 	 (8,664)	 	 -	 	 -	
Provided	during	the	year	 124,345	 	 67,873	 	 -	 	 -	
�ritten	off	during	the	year	 (42,596)	 	 (41,390)	 	 -	 	 (3,619)	
At	end	of	year	 381,383	 	 128,524	 	 -	 	 -	

	
The	creation	and	release	of	provision	for	impaired	receivables	have	been	included	in	administration	expenses	in	profit	and	loss.	
Amounts	charged	to	the	allowance	account	are	generally	written	off	when	there	is	no	expectation	of	recovering	additional	cash.	
	
The	majority	of	the	�roup;s	trade	receivables	are	receivable	from	customers	in	Jamaica.		
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;b<	 Li)uidity	risk	


i*uidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	�roup	is	unable	to	meet	its	payment	obligations	associated	with	its	financial	liabilities	when	they	
fall	 due.	 Prudent	 li*uidity	 risk	 management	 implies	 maintaining	 sufficient	 cash	 and	marketable	 securities,	 the	 availability	 of	
funding	through	an	ade*uate	amount	of	committed	credit	facilities	and	the	ability	to	close	out	market	positions.		
	
�i#uidity	ris�	management	process	
The	�roup;s	li*uidity	management	process,	as	carried	out	within	the	�roup	and	monitored	by	the	central	treasury	department,	
includes7	(i)	monitoring	future	cash	flows	and	li*uidity	on	a	daily	basis.	This	incorporates	an	assessment	of	expected	cash	flows	
and	the	availability	of	high	grade	collateral	which	could	be	used	to	secure	funding	if	re*uired6	(ii)	maintaining	a	portfolio	of	
highly	marketable	and	diverse	assets	that	can	easily	be	li*uidated	as	protection	against	any	unforeseen	interruption	to	cash	
flow6	 (iii)	 maintaining	 committed	 lines	 of	 credit6	 (iv)	 optimising	 cash	 returns	 on	 investments6	 and	 (v)	 managing	 the	
concentration	and	profile	of	debt	maturities.	
	
�ndiscounted	contractual	cash	flo)s	of	financial	lia�ilities	
The	maturity	profile	of	financial	liabilities,	based	on	contractual	undiscounted	payments,	is	as	follows7	

	 The	Group	

	 �ithin	1	
Month		

1	to	3		
Months	

	3	to	12		
Months		

	1	to	D	
	Years		

Over	
D	years	

Total			

	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		

	 2018	

ong	term	liabilities	 1,012,135	 574,428	 1,329,760	 8,355,964	 5,226,173	 16,498,460	
Trade	payables	 3,221,384	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3,221,384	
Due	to	affiliates	 1,455,879	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,455,879	
Other	payables	 497,734	 -	 -	 -	 -	 497,734	
	 6,187,132	 574,428	 1,329,760	 8,355,964	 5,226,173	 21,673,457	

	 2017	


ong	term	liabilities	 130,349	 1,052,383	 1,031,489	 2,171,953	 43,806	 4,429,980	
Trade	payables	 1,921,358	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,921,358	
Due	to	affiliates	 4,169,943	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,169,943	
Other	payables	 210,971	 -	 -	 -	 -	 210,971	
	 6,432,621	 1,052,383	 1,031,489	 2,171,953	 43,806	 10,732,252	

	

	 The	Company	

	 �ithin	1	
Month		

1	to	3		
Months	

	3	to	12		
Months		

	1	to	D	
	Years		

Over	
D	years	

Total			

	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		

	 2018	

ong	term	liabilities	 479,219	 227,617	 339,270	 4,270,438	 2,519,000	 7,835,544	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 7,298,750	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,298,750	
Other	payables	 208,613	 -	 -	 -	 -	 208,613	
	 7,986,582	 227,617	 339,270	 4,270,438	 2,519,000	 15,342,907	

	 2017	


ong	term	liabilities	 56,564	 977,508	 806,375	 1,620,000	 -	 3,460,447	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 5,272,290	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,272,290	
Due	to	affiliates	 1,854,836	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,854,836	
Other	payables	 178,261	 -	 -	 -	 -	 178,261	
	 7,361,951	 977,508	 806,375	 1,620,000	 -	 10,765,834	

	

Assets	available	to	meet	all	of	the	liabilities	and	to	cover	financial	liabilities	include	cash	and	investments.		
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;c<	 Market	risk	

The	�roup	takes	on	exposure	to	market	risks,	which	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	
will	fluctuate	because	of	changes	in	market	prices.	�arket	risks	mainly	arise	from	changes	in	foreign	currency	exchange	rates	and	
interest	rates.	�arket	risk	is	monitored	by	the	�roup	treasury	department	which	carries	out	extensive	research	and	monitors	the	
price	movement	of	financial	assets	on	the	local	and	international	markets.		�arket	risk	exposures	are	measured	using	sensitivity	
analysis.	
	
There	has	been	no	change	to	the	�roup;s	exposure	to	market	risks	or	the	manner	in	which	it	manages	and	measures	the	risk.	
	
�urrency	ris�	
Currency	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 the	 fair	 value	or	 future	 cash	 flows	of	 a	 financial	 instrument	will	 fluctuate	because	of	 changes	 in	
foreign	exchange	rates.	
	
The	�roup	 is	exposed	 to	 foreign	exchange	risk	arising	 from	currency	exposures,	primarily	with	respect	 to	 the	US	dollar,	�uro,	
Pound	Sterling	and	 the	Canadian	dollar.	Foreign	exchange	risk	arises	primarily	 from	 transactions	 for	purchases	and	sales	and	
investing	and	financing	activities.	The	statement	of	financial	position	for	the	�roup	at	31	December	2018	includes	aggregate	net	
foreign	 assets>(liabilities)	 of	 (US$18,220,000)	 and	 D232,000	 (2017	 ?	 aggregate	 net	 foreign	 assets	 of	 US$14,981,000	 and	
D216,000)6	while	the	statement	of	financial	position	for	the	Company	at	31	December	2018	includes	aggregate	net	foreign	assets	
of	US$31,189,000,	D157,000	(2017	?	aggregate	net	foreign	assets	of	US$26,443,000	and	D48,000),	in	respect	of	such	transactions.	
	
The	�roup	manages	 its	 foreign	 exchange	 risk	 by	 ensuring	 that	 the	 net	 exposure	 in	 foreign	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 is	 kept	 to	 an	
acceptable	level	by	monitoring	currency	positions.		The	�roup	further	manages	this	risk	by	maximising	foreign	currency	earnings	
and	holding	foreign	currency	balances.	
	
The	 following	 table	 indicates	 the	effect	on	profit	before	 taxation	and	on	other	 items	of	 e*uity	arising	 from	changes	 in	 foreign	
exchange	rates.	The	sensitivity	analysis	represents	outstanding	foreign	currency	denominated	monetary	items	and	adjusts	their	
translation	at	the	year	end	based	on	management;s	assessment	of	the	possible	change	in	foreign	exchange	rates.		The	sensitivity	
was	primarily	as	a	 result	of	 foreign	exchange	gains	and	 losses	on	 translation	of	US	dollar-denominated	 long	 term	receivables,	
trade	receivables,	investment	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale,	payables	and	long	term	liabilities.		

	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	

�ffect	on	profit	before	taxation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
US$	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
4O	devaluation	(2017	?	4O)	 (149,890)	 	 17,168	 	 101,062	 	 76,404	
2O	revaluation	(2017	?	2O)	 73,875	 	 (8,584)	 	 (50,531)	 	 (38,202)	
Other	currencies	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
4O	devaluation	(2017	?	4O)	 1,168	 	 1,468	 	 999	 	 328	
2O	revaluation	(2017	?	2O)	 (584)	 	 (734)	 	 (499)	 	 (164)	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

�ffect	on	other	items	of	e*uity	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
US$	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
4O	devaluation	(2017	?	4O)	 55,997	 	 57,167	 	 55,997	 	 57,167	
2O	revaluation	(2017	?	2O)	 (27,999)	 	 (28,583)	 	 (27,999)	 	 (28,583)	

	



105

F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	26		

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;c<	 Market	risk	;continued<	

	nterest	rate	ris�	
Interest	 rate	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 the	 value	 or	 future	 cash	 flows	 of	 a	 financial	 instrument	will	 fluctuate	 because	 of	 changes	 in	
market	 interest	 rates.	 Floating	 rate	 instruments	 expose	 the	 �roup	 to	 cash	 flow	 interest	 risk,	 whereas	 fixed	 interest	 rate	
instruments	expose	the	�roup	to	fair	value	interest	risk.	
	
Seprod	�roup;s	interest	rate	risk	policy	re*uires	it	to	manage	interest	rate	risk	by	maintaining	an	appropriate	mix	of	fixed	and	
variable	rate	instruments.	 	The	policy	also	re*uires	it	to	manage	the	maturities	of	 interest	bearing	financial	assets	and	interest	
bearing	financial	bearing	liabilities.		
	
The	�roup;s	interest	rate	risk	arises	from	long	term	borrowings	and	other	debt	instruments.	The	sensitivity	of	the	profit	or	loss	is	
the	 effect	 of	 the	 assumed	 changes	 in	 interest	 rates	 on	profit	 before	 taxation	based	on	 floating	 rate	borrowing	 and	other	debt	
instruments.		The	sensitivity	of	other	components	of	e*uity	is	calculated	by	revaluing	fixed	rate	investments	for	the	effects	of	the	
assumed	changes	in	interest	rates.			
	
The	 following	table	 indicates	 the	sensitivity	 to	a	reasonably	possible	change	 in	 interest	rates	 in	respect	of	 Jamaican	dollar	and	
United	 States	 dollar	 denominated	 instruments,	 with	 all	 other	 variables	 held	 constant,	 on	 profit	 before	 taxation	 and	 other	
components	of	e*uity.	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

Change	in	basis	
points	

Effect	on	
	Profit	before	

Taxation	

Effect	on	
Other	

Components	of	
E)uity	

Change	in	
basis	
points	

Effect	on	
	Profit	before	

Taxation	

Effect	on	
Other	

Components	of	
E)uity	

2018	
�MD	9	USD	

2018	
$’000	

2018	
$’000	

2017	
�MD	9	USD	

2017	
$’000	

2017	
$’000	

The	Group	

P100>P100	 (1,277)	 -	 P100>P100	 (9,369)	 -	
-100>-100	 1,277	 -	 -100>-100	 4,684	 -	

	 	 	 	 	 	
The	Company	

P100>P100	 (1,277)	 -	 P100>P100	 (9,369)	 -	
-100>-100	 1,277	 -	 -100>-100	 4,684	 -	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	
	

;c<	 Market	risk	;continued<	
	nterest	rate	ris�	/continued0	
The	 following	 tables	 summarise	 the	 exposure	 to	 interest	 rate	 risk.	 It	 includes	 the	 financial	 instruments	 at	 carrying	 amounts,	
categorised	by	the	earlier	of	contractual	repricing	or	maturity	dates.	

	 The	Group	

	
�ithin	1	
Month		

	1	to	3	
Months	

3	to	12	
Months		

	1	to	D	
Years		

Over		
D	Years		

Non6
Interest	
�earing	 Total			

	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

	 2018	

�inancial	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Investments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,414,445	 1,414,445	

ong	term	receivables	 208,407	 -	 14,925	 73,095	 630,679	 148,764	 1,075,870	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,565,268	 4,565,268	
Cash	and	bank	 2,055,201	 -	 -	 -	 -	 134	 2,055,335	
	 2,263,608	 -	 14,925	 73,095	 630,679	 6,128,611	 9,110,918	
�inancial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	liabilities	 1,777,895	 388,108	 668,995	 5,819,905	 3,645,540	 79,034	 12,379,477	
Payables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,174,997	 5,174,997	
	 1,777,895	 388,108	 668,995	 5,819,905	 3,645,540	 5,254,031	 17,554,474	
Total	interest	repricing	gap	 485,713	 (388,108)	 (654,070)	 (5,746,810)	 (3,014,861)	 874,580	 (8,443,556)	
	 2017	

�inancial	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Investments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,369,574	 1,369,574	

ong	term	receivables	 5,061	 11,160	 953,398	 2,761,239	 -	 -	 3,730,858	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,992,104	 5,992,104	
Cash	and	bank	 818,534	 -	 -	 -	 -	 18,760	 837,294	
	 823,595	 11,160	 953,398	 2,761,239	 -	 7,380,438	 11,929,830	
�inancial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	liabilities	 80,287	 1,261,004	 638,109	 1,690,065	 60,043	 -	 3,729,508	
Payables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 6,302,272	 6,302,272	
	 80,287	 1,261,004	 638,109	 1,690,065	 60,043	 6,302,272	 10,031,780	
Total	interest	repricing	gap	 743,308	 (1,249,844)	 315,289	 1,071,174	 (60,043)	 1,078,166	 1,898,050	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;c<	 Market	risk	;continued<	

	nterest	rate	ris�	/continued0	
	 The	Company	

	
�ithin	1	
Month		

	1	to	3	
Months	

3	to	12	
Months		

	1	to	D	
Years		

Over		
D	Years		

Non6
Interest	
�earing	 Total			

	 $’000		 $’000		 $’000	 $’000		 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

	 2018	

�inancial	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Investments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,414,445	 1,414,445	

ong	term	receivables	 207,723	 -	 -	 2,038,631	 587,739	 762,829	 3,596,922	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 489,390	 489,390	
Due	from	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,694,818	 4,694,818	
Cash	and	bank	 703,340	 -	 -	 -	 -	 74	 703,414	
	 911,063	 -	 -	 2,038,631	 587,739	 7,361,556	 10,898,989	
�inancial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	liabilities	 399,736	 167,063	 38,113	 2,998,374	 2,191,498	 78,331	 5,873,115	
Payables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 208,613	 208,613	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,298,750	 7,298,750	
	 399,736	 167,063	 38,113	 2,998,374	 2,191,498	 7,585,694	 13,380,478	
Total	interest	repricing	gap	 511,327	 (167,063)	 (38,113)	 (959,743)	 (1,603,759)	 (224,138)	 (2,481,489)	
	 2017	

�inancial	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Investments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,369,574	 1,369,574	

ong	term	receivables	 3,720	 11,160	 935,618	 2,622,863	 -	 -	 3,573,361	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3,764,312	 3,764,312	
Due	from	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 992,677	 992,677	
Cash	and	bank	 477,230	 -	 -	 -	 -	 74	 477,304	
	 480,950	 11,160	 935,618	 2,622,863	 -	 6,126,637	 10,177,228	
�inancial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ong	term	liabilities	 25,774	 1,205,693	 463,598	 1,214,104	 -	 -	 2,909,169	
Payables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,033,097	 2,033,097	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,272,290	 5,272,290	
	 25,774	 1,205,693	 463,598	 1,214,104	 -	 7,305,387	 10,214,556	
Total	interest	repricing	gap	 455,176	 (1,194,533)	 472,020	 1,408,759	 -	 (1,178,750)	 (37,328)	

	
�rice	ris�	
Price	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	value	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	as	a	result	of	changes	in	market	prices,	whether	those	
changes	are	caused	by	factors	specific	to	the	individual	instrument	or	its	issuer	or	factors	affecting	all	instruments	traded	in	the	
market.	 	 The	 �roup	 is	 exposed	 to	 e*uity	 price	 risk	 because	 of	 investments	 held	 by	 the	 �roup	 classified	 on	 the	 statement	 of	
financial	position	either	as	available-for-sale	or	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.		The	�roup	manages	its	price	risk	by	trading	
these	instruments	when	appropriate	to	reduce	the	impact	of	any	adverse	price	fluctuations.	
	
�ased	on	its	holding	of	investments	as	at	31	December	2017	and	2018,	there	is	no	significant	impact	on	the	�roup;s	stockholders;	
e*uity	at	either	year	end	arising	from	changes	in	e*uity	prices.	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;d<	 Capital	management	

The	�roup;s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	the	�roup;s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	in	order	to	
provide	returns	for	stockholders	and	benefits	for	other	stakeholders	and	to	maintain	an	optimal	capital	structure	to	reduce	the	
cost	 of	 capital.	 The	 �oard	 of	 Directors	 monitors	 the	 return	 on	 capital,	 which	 the	 �roup	 defines	 as	 net	 operating	 income,	
excluding	 non-recurring	 items,	 divided	 by	 total	 stockholders;	 e*uity.	 The	 �oard	 of	 Directors	 also	 monitors	 the	 level	 of	
dividends	to	stockholders.	
	

;e<	 �air	value	estimates	
�air	values	of	financial	instruments	
Financial	instruments	classified	in	level	1	
The	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 instruments	 traded	 in	 active	markets	 is	 based	 on	 *uoted	market	 prices	 at	 the	 reporting	 date.	 A	
market	 is	 regarded	as	active	 if	*uoted	prices	are	 readily	and	regularly	available	 from	an	exchange,	dealer,	broker,	 industry	
�roup,	pricing	service,	or	regulatory	agency,	and	those	prices	represent	actual	and	regularly	occurring	market	transactions	on	
an	arm;s	length	basis.	The	*uoted	market	price	used	for	financial	assets	held	by	the	�roup	is	the	current	bid	price.		
	
At	31	December	2018,	the	�roup	had	*uoted	e*uity	securities	classified	in	
evel	1	amounting	to	$14,547,000.	
	
Financial	instruments	classified	in	level	2	
The	 fair	value	of	 financial	 instruments	 that	are	not	 traded	 in	an	active	market	 is	determined	by	using	valuation	techni*ues.	
These	valuation	techni*ues	maximi3e	the	use	of	observable	market	data	where	it	is	available	and	rely	as	little	as	possible	on	
entity	specific	estimates.	If	all	significant	inputs	re*uired	to	fair	value	an	instrument	are	observable,	the	instrument	is	included	
in	
evel	2.	Specific	valuation	techni*ues	used	to	value	such	financial	instruments	include7	(i)	*uoted	market	prices	or	dealer	
*uotes	 for	 similar	 instruments6	 and	 (ii)	other	 techni*ues,	 such	as	discounted	cash	 flow	analysis,	 are	used	 to	determine	 fair	
value	for	the	remaining	financial	instruments.	
	
At	31	December	2018,	there	were	no	financial	instruments	classified	in	
evel	2.	
	
Financial	instruments	classified	in	�evel	,		
If	 one	 or	 more	 of	 the	 significant	 inputs	 for	 valuation	 is	 not	 based	 on	 observable	 market	 data,	 the	 financial	 instrument	 is	
included	in	
evel	3,	and	fair	value	is	determined	using	discounted	cash	flow	analysis.	
	
At	31	December	2018,	The	�roup	had	un*uoted	e*uity	securities	with	a	fair	value	of	$1,399,898,000	(2017	?	$1,369,574,000)	
classified	as	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income	and	categorised	as	
evel	3.	
	
The	movement	in	these	instruments	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	

At	start	of	year	 	 	 1,369,574	 	 1,495,919	
Fair	value	gains	and	losses	 	 	6,460	 	 (80,899)	

	 	 Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	 	 	 23,864	 	 (45,446)	
At	end	of	year	 	 	 1,399,898	 	 1,369,574	

	
There	were	no	transfers	between	levels	during	the	year.	
	
The	following	unobservable	inputs	were	used	to	measure	the	Company;s	
evel	3	financial	instruments7	

	 	
Unobservable	

Inputs	
Range	of	unobservable	inputs	

;weighted	average<	
Relationship	of	unobservable	inputs	to	

fair	value	

	 	 Discount	rate	 11O	(2017	-	12O)	
If	the	discount	rate	increases	the	fair	value	

decreases	

	 	 Terminal	growth	rate	 3O	
If	the	terminal	growth	rate	increases	the	

fair	value	increases	

	 	
�arket	participant	
minority	discount	 20O	

If	the	market	participant	minority	discount	
increases	the	fair	value	decreases	

	
Discounted	cash	flow	valuation	techni*ues	were	used	to	value	the	un*uoted	e*uities.	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;e<	 �air	value	estimates	

�air	values	of	�iological	assets	
The	�roup	measures	the	biological	assets	at	fair	value	at	each	reporting	date.	In	measuring	the	fair	value	of	biological	assets	
various	management	estimates	and	judgements	are	re*uired.	 	The	�roup	classifies	its	biological	assets	in	
evel	3	due	to	the	
unobservable	inputs	used	in	the	termination	of	fair	value	for	those	assets,	as	described	below.	
	
�ivestoc�	
�stimates	 and	 judgements	 in	 determining	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 livestock	 relate	 to	 the	market	 prices,	 use	 of	 animals	 and	 age	 of	
animals.	�arket	prices	of	the	animals	are	obtained	from	other	players	in	the	industry.	
	
Su�ar	cane	
�stimates	and	judgements	in	determining	the	fair	value	of	sugar	cane	relate	to	the	market	prices	of	sugar	and	molasses,	and	
certain	cane	 to	sugar	conversion	efficiency	metrics	known	as	 the	 Jamaica	Recovery	Cane	Sugar	(JRCS).	�arket	prices	of	 the	
sugar	and	molasses	are	obtained	from	Jamaica	Cane	Products	Sales	
imited,	the	authorised	sales	agent	for	sugar	in	Jamaica.	
The	JRCS	is	determined	by	the	Sugar	Industry	Authority.	
	
The	movement	in	the	fair	value	of	livestock	is	as	follows7	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	
Opening	balance	 	 292,628	 	 236,343	
Decreases	due	to	sales	 	 (44,981)	 	 (49,705)	
Total	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	 	 94,917	 	 105,990	
Closing	balance	 	 342,564	 	 292,628	
Total	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	assets	held	at	

the	end	of	the	reporting	period,	under	:Changes	in	fair	value	less	
estimated	point	of	sale	costs	of	livestock;	and	:Other	operating	income;	

	
94,917	 	 105,990	

Change	in	unrealised	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	
for	assets	held	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	 	 76,509	 	 68,946	

	
The	movement	in	the	fair	value	of	sugar	cane	is	as	follows7	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	
Opening	balance	 	 508,745	 	 513,198	
Net	cost	of	cane	cultivation	and	value	and	cane	harvested	 	 (209,542)	 	 (233,173)	
Total	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	 	 140,100	 	 228,720	
Closing	balance	 	 439,303	 	 508,745	
Total	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	assets	held	at	

the	end	of	the	reporting	period,	under	:Change	in	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell	
of	sugar	cane;		

	
140,100	 	 228,720	

Change	in	unrealised	gains	or	losses	for	the	period	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	
assets	held	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	 	 (69,442)	 	 (4,453)	
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35			�inancial	Risk	Management	;Continued<	

	
;e<	 �air	value	estimates	;continued<	

�air	values	of	�iological	assets	/continued0	
The	following	unobservable	inputs	were	used	in	determined	the	fair	value	of	the	�roup;s	livestock,	using	a	market	approach	
for	valuation.	

�air	Value	at	2018	

Unobservable	Inputs	
Range	of	unobservable	

inputs	;weighted	average<	
Relationship	of	unobservable	inputs	to	fair	

value	

Dairy	livestock	price	 $17,000	-	$114,750	
($79,263)	per	animal	

The	higher	the	market	price,	the	higher	the	fair	
value.	

Other	livestock	price	 $8,500	-	$99,623	
($58,675)	per	animal	

The	higher	the	market	price,	the	higher	the	fair	
value.	

	
�air	Value	at	2017	

Unobservable	Inputs	
Range	of	unobservable	

inputs	;weighted	average<	
Relationship	of	unobservable	inputs	to	fair	

value	

Dairy	livestock	price	 $11,050	-	$106,250	
($73,297)	per	animal	

The	higher	the	market	price,	the	higher	the	fair	
value.	

Other	livestock	price	 $7,013	-	$99,623	
($70,778)	per	animal	

The	higher	the	market	price,	the	higher	the	fair	
value.	

	
The	following	unobservable	inputs	were	used	in	determined	the	fair	value	of	the	�roup;s	sugar	cane,	using	a	market	approach	
for	valuation.	

	 														�air	Value	at	2018	

Unobservable	Inputs	
Range	of	unobservable	

inputs	;weighted	average<	
Relationship	of	unobservable	inputs	to	fair	

value	

JRCS	 8.94	 The	higher	the	JRCS,	the	higher	the	fair	value.	
	

	 														�air	Value	at	2017	

Unobservable	Inputs	
Range	of	unobservable	

inputs	;weighted	average<	
Relationship	of	unobservable	inputs	to	fair	

value	

JRCS	 8.94	 The	higher	the	JRCS,	the	higher	the	fair	value.	
	
�air	values	of	other	financial	assets	and	lia�ilities	
The	following	methods	and	assumptions	have	been	used	in	determining	fair	values	for	instruments	not	re-measured	at	their	
fair	value	after	initial	recognition7		
	
The	face	value,	less	any	estimated	credit	adjustments,	for	financial	assets	and	liabilities	with	a	maturity	of	less	than	one	year	
are	estimated	to	approximate	their	fair	values.	These	financial	assets	and	liabilities	include	cash	and	bank	balances,	trade	and	
other	receivables	(Note	23)	and	payables	(Note	24).	
	
The	 carrying	 values	 of	 long	 term	 receivables	 (Note	 19)	 approximate	 their	 fair	 values,	 as	 these	 receivables	 are	 carried	 at	
amortised	cost	and	the	interest	rates	are	reflective	of	current	market	rates	for	similar	transactions.		
	
The	carrying	values	of	 long	term	loans	(Note	27)	approximate	their	 fair	values,	as	 these	 loans	are	carried	at	amortised	cost	
reflecting	their	contractual	obligations	and	the	interest	rates	are	reflective	of	current	market	rates	for	similar	transactions.	
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C5 Critical	Accounting	Estimates	and	�udgments	in	Applying	Accounting	Policies		

The	�roup	makes	 estimates	 and	assumptions	 that	 affect	 the	 reported	 amounts	of	 assets	 and	 liabilities	within	 the	next	 financial	
year.	 �stimates	 and	 judgements	 are	 continually	 evaluated	 and	 are	 based	 on	 historical	 experience	 and	 other	 factors,	 including	
expectations	of	future	events	that	are	believed	to	be	reasonable	under	the	circumstances.	
	
	ncome	taxes	
�stimates	are	re*uired	in	determining	the	provision	for	income	taxes.	There	are	some	transactions	and	calculations	for	which	the	
ultimate	 tax	determination	 is	uncertain	during	 the	ordinary	 course	of	business.	The	�roup	recognises	 liabilities	 for	possible	 tax	
issues	based	on	estimates	of	whether	additional	taxes	will	be	due.	�here	the	final	tax	outcome	of	these	matters	is	different	from	
the	amounts	that	were	originally	recorded,	such	differences	will	impact	the	income	tax	and	deferred	tax	provisions	in	the	period	in	
which	such	determination	is	made.		
		
�ost-employment	�enefit	o�ligations	
The	 present	 value	 of	 the	 pension	 and	 other	 post-employment	 benefit	 obligations	 depends	 on	 a	 number	 of	 factors	 that	 are	
determined	on	an	actuarial	basis	using	a	number	of	assumptions.	The	assumptions	used	in	determining	the	net	cost	(or	income)	for	
post-employment	benefits	 include	the	discount	rate.	Any	changes	 in	these	assumptions	will	 impact	 the	carrying	amount	of	post-
employment	benefit	obligations.	The	�roup	determines	the	appropriate	discount	rate	at	the	end	of	each	year.	This	is	the	interest	
rate	 that	 should	be	used	 to	determine	 the	present	value	of	estimated	 future	cash	outflows	expected	 to	be	 re*uired	 to	settle	 the	
post-employment	benefit	obligations.	In	determining	the	appropriate	discount	rate,	the	�roup	considers	the	interest	rates	of	high-
*uality	corporate	bonds	that	are	denominated	in	the	currency	in	which	the	benefits	will	be	paid	and	that	have	terms	to	maturity	
approximating	 the	 terms	of	 the	 related	obligation.	Other	key	assumptions	 for	post-employment	benefit	obligations	are	based	 in	
part	on	current	market	conditions.	Sensitivity	disclosures	in	relation	to	changes	in	assumptions	are	disclosed	in	Note	20.	
	
�air	value	of	�iological	assets	
�ivestoc�	
In	the	process	of	applying	the	�roup;s	accounting	policies,	management	determines	fair	values	of	biological	assets	based	on	prices	
in	 the	 local	market,	 less	 the	 transport	 and	 other	 costs	 of	 getting	 the	 assets	 to	 the	market.	 The	 fair	 value	 is	 sensitive	 to	 certain	
assumptions	used	in	the	computation,	the	primary	assumption	being	the	price	of	the	animals.	
	
For	the	valuation	of	biological	assets	at	the	year	end,	if	the	price	per	animal	had	changed	by	5O	with	all	other	variables	constant,	
the	fair	value	would	change	accordingly	by	$17,128,000.	
	
Su�ar	cane	
The	�roup	measures	its	biological	assets	at	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.	In	doing	this	valuation	for	cane,	the	�roup	first	determines	a	
price	per	tonne	of	cane,	based	on	the	established	price	per	tonne	of	sugar,	and	certain	cane	to	sugar	conversion	efficiency	metrics,	
as	established	by	the	Sugar	Industry	Authority	(SIA),	the	regulatory	body	which	oversees	the	local	sugar	industry.	This	price	per	
tonne	of	fully	grown	cane	is	used	as	the	base	for	determining	the	fair	value	for	the	cane	in	each	field,	at	the	various	stages	in	the	
cane	harvest	cycle.	In	valuing	the	cane	for	each	cane	field	in	each	cane	farm,	the	�roup	estimates	each	field;s	yield,	by	estimating	
the	tonnes	of	cane	to	be	reaped,	per	hectare	of	cane	planted.	The	value	of	the	cane	considers	the	stage	of	growth	of	the	cane,	using	
certain	 assumptions	 regarding	 the	 relationship	 between	 the	 stage	 of	 growth	 of	 the	 cane	 and	 the	 cane;s	 value.	 The	 fair	 value	 is	
sensitive	to	the	assumptions	used	in	the	computation,	the	primary	assumptions	being	the	prices	of	sugar	and	the	sugar	conversion	
efficiency	metrics	(JRCS).	
	
For	the	valuation	of	biological	assets	at	the	year	end,	if	the	sugar	conversion	efficiency	metric	had	changed	by	5O,	with	all	other	
variables	constant,	the	fair	value	would	have	changed	accordingly	by	$28,787,000.	
	
�air	value	of	un#uoted	e#uity	securities	
The	 fair	 value	 of	 securities	 not	 *uoted	 in	 an	 active	 market	 are	 determined	 using	 valuation	 techni*ues.	 The	 �roup	 exercises	
judgement	and	estimates	on	the	*uantity	and	*uality	of	cashflow	projections	used.	�here	no	market	data	is	available,	the	�roup	
values	 positions	 using	 its	 own	models,	 which	 are	 usually	 based	 on	 valuation	methods	 and	 techni*ues	 generally	 recognised	 as	
standard	 for	 this	purpose.	The	 inputs	 into	these	models	are	primarily	discounted	cash	 flows.	The	models	used	to	determine	 fair	
values	 are	 reviewed	 by	 external	 experts.	 The	 fair	 value	 is	 sensitive	 to	 the	 assumptions	 used	 in	 the	 computation,	 the	 primary	
assumptions	being	the	discount	rate	of	11O,	terminal	growth	rate	of	3O	and	a	market	participant	minority	discount	of	20O.	
	
For	the	valuation	of	un*uoted	ordinary	shares	at	the	year-end7	if	the	discount	rate	had	increased>decreased	to	12O>10O	with	all	
other	 variables	 constant,	 the	 fair	 value	would	 decrease>increase	 from	US$4,940,000	 to	 US$3,340,000>US$7,000,0006	 and	 if	 the	
terminal	 growth	 rate	 had	 increased>decreased	 to	 3.5O>2.5O	 with	 all	 other	 variables	 constant,	 the	 fair	 value	 would	
increase>decrease	from	US$4,940,000	to	US$5,690,000>US$4,280,000.	
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C5	 Critical	Accounting	Estimates	and	�udgments	in	Applying	Accounting	Policies	;Continued<	

	
�usiness	com�inations	
�usiness	combinations	are	accounted	for	using	the	ac*uisition	method.	The	�roup	determines	the	identifiable	assets	and	liabilities	
using	 the	 Purchase	 Price	Allocation	method.	Under	 this	method,	 the	�roup	makes	 estimates	 about	 future	 cash	 flows	which	 are	
derived	based	on	factors	such	as	revenue	growth,	future	margins,	attrition	rates	and	discount	rates	in	determining	the	fair	values	of	
the	identifiable	intangible	assets. 
 
�ood)ill	
The	�roup	test	annually	whether	goodwill	has	suffered	any	impairment,	 in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policy	stated	in	Note	
2(f).	The	assessment	of	goodwill	impairment	involves	the	determination	of	the	value	in	use.	Determination	of	value	in	use	involves	
the	estimation	of	future	cash	flows	from	the	business	taking	into	consideration	the	growth	rates,	inflation	rates	and	the	discount	
rate.	Any	changes	in	these	variables	would	impact	the	value	in	use	calculations.	
	
A	 1O	 increase	 in	 the	 discount	 rates	 and	 a	 1O	 reduction	 in	 revenue	 growth	would	 result	 in	 a	 reduction	 in	 the	 value	 in	 use	 by	
$906,331,000	which	would	not	result	in	an	impairment	of	goodwill	(Note	16).	
	

oint	venture	
The	joint	venture	agreements	in	relation	to	the	Jamaica	�rain	and	Cereals	
imited	re*uire	unanimous	consent	from	all	parties	for	
all	relevant	activities.	The	partners	have		rights	to	the		net	assets	of	the	arrangement.	This	entity	is	therefore	classified	as	a	joint	
venture	and	the	�roup	recognises	its	share	of	the	results	for	the	year.	
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D5 �usiness	Segments		

The	�roup	is	organised	into	two	main	business	segments7	�anufacturing	?	This	incorporates	the	operations	for	manufacturing	and	
sale	of	oils	and	fats,	corn	and	wheat	products,	cereals,	milk	products,	juices,	sugar	and	biscuits6	and	Distribution	?	The	merchandising	
of	consumer	goods.	

	 	 2018	

	 	 Manufacturing	 	 Distribution	 	 Eliminations	 	 Group	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	
�xternal	revenue	 	 12,358,669	 	 11,195,100	 	 -	 	 23,553,769	
Inter-segment	revenue	 	 7,598,411	 	 48,433		 	 (7,646,844)	 	 -	
Total	revenue	 	 19,957,080	 	 11,243,533	 	 (7,646,844)	 	 23,553,769	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	result	 	 1,654,717	 	 391,911	 	 -	 	 2,046,628	
Unallocated	corporate	income	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 125,280	
Operating	profit	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2,171,908	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	assets	 	 12,317,938	 	 7,841,549	 	 -	 	 20,159,487	
Unallocated	corporate	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 15,138,877	
Total	consolidated	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 35,298,364	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	liabilities	 	 5,347,363	 	 6,984,778	 	 -	 	 12,332,141	
Unallocated	corporate	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 8,220,601	
Total	consolidated	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 20,552,742	
Other	segment	items	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Capital	expenditure	 	 1,725,136	 	 8,237	 	 -	 	 1,733,373	
Unallocated	capital	expenditure	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 83,433	
Total	capital	expenditure	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,816,806	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Depreciation	 	 626,824	 	 28,191	 	 -	 	 655,015	
Unallocated	depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 37,410	
Total	depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 692,425	

	
	 	 2017	

	 	 Manufacturing	 	 Distribution	 	 Eliminations	 	 Group	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	
�xternal	revenue	 	 9,636,861	 	 6,874,345	 	 -	 	 16,511,206	
Inter-segment	revenue	 	 4,975,998	 	 -	 	 (4,975,998)	 	 -	
Total	revenue	 	 14,612,859	 	 6,874,345	 	 (4,975,998)	 	 16,511,206	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	result	 	 961,210	 	 74,964	 	 -	 	 1,036,174	
Unallocated	corporate	income	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 294,795	
Operating	profit	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,330,969	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	assets	 	 8,450,424	 	 1,327,770	 	 -	 	 9,778,194	
Unallocated	corporate	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10,229,862	
Total	consolidated	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 20,008,056	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Segment	liabilities	 	 3,842,154	 	 1,771,833	 	 -	 	 5,613,987	
Unallocated	corporate	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 5,384,257	
Total	consolidated	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10,998,244	
Other	segment	items	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Capital	expenditure	 	 366,415	 	 954	 	 -	 	 367,369	
Unallocated	capital	expenditure	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 106,878	
Total	capital	expenditure	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 474,247	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Depreciation	 	 439,782	 	 6,005	 	 -	 	 445,787	
Unallocated	depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 32,435	
Total	depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 478,222	

	
The	�roup;s	customers	are	mainly	resident	in,	and	operate	from,	Jamaica.	Revenues	of	$1,252,349,000	(2017	-	$1,296,710,000)	
were	earned	from	customers	resident	in	other	countries.		
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E5 �inance	and	Other	Operating	Income	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Dividend	income	on	*uoted	investments	 	 680	 	 400	 	 680	 	 400	
(
oss)>gain	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 (691)	 	 (4,574)	 	 3,995	 	 (1,340)	
Interest	income	from	subsidiaries	 	 -	 	 -	 	 248,838	 	 -	
Other	interest	income		 	 155,327	 	 352,789	 	 87,118	 	 347,690	
�anagement	fees	 	 -	 	 248,927	 	 66,000	 	 71,500	
Net	foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	 	 334,546	 	 (36,409)	 	 93,770	 	 (50,758)	
Rental	income	from	subsidiaries	 	 -	 	 -	 	 21,383	 	 -	
Other	rental	income	 	 57,700	 	 50,725	 	 882	 	 21,640	
Other	 	 297,864	 	 141,245	 	 5,397	 	 4,131	
	 	 845,426	 	 753,103	 	 528,063	 	 393,263	

	
75 Expenses	by	Nature	

Total	direct,	selling,	administration	and	other	operating	expenses7	
	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Advertising	and	promotion	 	 356,595	 	 163,477	 	 9,991	 	 21,526	
Amortisation	of	intangible	assets	 	 131,017	 	 1,694	 	 -	 	 -	
AuditorsB	remuneration	 	 40,312	 	 23,071	 	 11,616	 	 6,249	
Cost	of	inventories	recognised	as	an	expense	 	 12,334,130	 	 9,024,547	 	 -	 	 -	
Delivery	charges	 	 296,701	 	 171,191	 	 -	 	 393	
Depreciation	 	 692,425	 	 478,222	 	 37,410	 	 32,435	
Donations	 	 31,752	 	 36,886	 	 31,752	 	 36,886	
Feed,	chemicals	and	veterinary	supplies	 	 479,777	 	 545,629	 	 -	 	 -	
Fertilising	 	 11,080	 	 7,599	 	 -	 	 -	
Impairment	of	investment	in	subsidiary	 	 -	 	 -	 	 2,041,227	 	 568,822	
Insurance	 	 301,888	 	 179,294	 	 23,477	 	 20,393	
�otor	vehicle	expenses	 	 143,721	 	 64,814	 	 14,478	 	 11,264	
Net	impairment	losses	on	trade	receivables	 	 124,345	 	 14,212	 	 -	 	 -	
Non-recoverable	�CT	 	 197,421	 	 270,463	 	 41,703	 	 61,410	
Professional	services	 	 197,523	 	 119,526	 	 85,925	 	 89,259	
Raw	and	packaging	material	 	 653,605	 	 622,678	 	 -	 	 -	
Repairs	and	maintenance	 	 620,819	 	 399,657	 	 13,396	 	 37,566	
Security	 	 250,147	 	 187,289	 	 33,452	 	 33,149	
Staff	costs	(Note	8)	 	 2,786,011	 	 2,147,023	 	 500,402	 	 469,997	
Supplies	 	 28,671	 	 23,029	 	 843	 	 429	
Utilities	 	 1,153,002	 	 707,784	 	 32,812	 	 36,199	
Other	 	 1,396,345	 	 745,255	 	 125,319	 	 87,989	
	 	 22,227,287	 	 15,933,340	 	 3,003,803	 	 1,513,966	
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85 Staff	Costs	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

�ages	and	salaries	 	 2,103,126	 	 1,625,313	 	 369,274	 	 336,656	
Statutory	contributions	 	 231,523	 	 173,156	 	 35,732	 	 33,925	
Pension	?	defined	benefit	(Note	20)	 	 3,600	 	 10,600	 	 3,600	 	 10,600	
Pension	?	defined	contribution	(Note	20)	 	 51,020	 	 32,302	 	 10,728	 	 8,142	
Pension	?	defined	contribution	(Note	20)	 	 2,867	 	 2,722	 	 -	 	 -	
Other	post-employment	benefits	(Note	20)	 	 11,800	 	 12,700	 	 11,800	 	 12,700	
Other	 	 382,075	 	 290,230	 	 69,268	 	 67,974	
	 	 2,786,011	 	 2,147,023	 	 500,402	 	 469,997	

	
H5 �inance	Costs	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Net	foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	 	 (3,921)	 	 (4,263)	 	 -	 	 -	
Interest	expense	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 
ong	term	loans	 	 713,037	 	 265,926	 	 275,911	 	 184,433	
	 Other	 	 62,815	 	 62,349	 	 12,623	 	 6,020	
Amortisation	of	deferred	financing	fees	 	 17,095	 	 13,761	 	 12,070	 	 -	
	 	 789,026	 	 337,773	 	 300,604	 	 190,453	

	
105 Taxation	Expense	

Taxation	is	based	on	the	profit	for	the	year	adjusted	for	tax	purposes	and	comprises	income	tax	at	25O.		
		 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Current	taxation 	 281,209	 	 244,469	 	 -	 	 -	
Adjustment	to	prior	year	provision	 	 8,613	 	 (3,536)	 	 -	 	 (1,409)	
	 	 289,822	 	 240,933	 	 -	 	 (1,409)	
Deferred	taxation	(Note	28)	 	 88,935	 	 50,184	 	 27,842	 	 54,491	
	 	 378,757	 	 291,117	 	 27,842	 	 53,082	
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105	 Taxation	Expense	;Continued<	

	
The	tax	on	the	�roup;s	and	the	Company;s	profits	differ	 from	the	theoretical	amounts	that	would	arise	using	the	applicable	tax	
rate	as	follows7		

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Profit>(loss)	before	taxation	 	1,440,812	 	 938,960	 	 (1,886,547)	 	 (464,168)	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Tax	calculated	at	a	tax	rate	of	25O		 360,203	 	 234,740	 	 (471,637)	 	 (116,042)	
Adjusted	for	the	effect	of7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Investment	income	not	subject	to	tax	 	 (31,324)	 	 -	 	 (31,324)	 	 -	
Adjustment	to	prior	year	provision	 	 8,613	 	 (3,536)	 	 -	 	 (1,409)	
�mployment	tax	credit	 	 (90,584)	 	 (61,854)	 	 -	 	 -	
�xpenses	not	deductible	 	 34,784	 	 29,124	 	 523,364	 	 165,762	
Results	of	joint	venture	included	net	of	tax	 	 (14,483)	 	 13,559	 	 -	 	 -	
Tax	losses	of	subsidiaries	for	which	no	deferred	tax	

assets	have	been	created		 	 104,160	 	 75,757	 	 -	 	 -	

Other	charges	and	credits	 	 7,388	 	 3,327	 	 7,439	 	 4,771	
	 	 378,757	 	 291,117	 	 27,842	 	 53,082	

	
A	subsidiary	is	granted	relief	from	taxation	as	Approved	Farmers,	under	Section	36D	of	the	Income	Tax	Act	1982,	for	a	period	of	
10	 years	 commencing	 in	 the	 year	 of	 assessment	 2008.	 	 Conse*uently,	 profits	 of	 the	 subsidiary	 amounting	 to	 $Nil	 (2017	 ?	
$37,051,000)	were	not	subject	to	tax.	
	
Tax	charge	relating	to	components	of	other	comprehensive	income	are	as	follows7	

	 	 The	Group	

	 	 �efore	Tax	 	 Tax	Effect	 	 After	Tax	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

	 	 2018	

Currency	translation	gains	and	losses	 	 4,579	 	 -	 	 4,579	
Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefit	obligations	 	 13,200	 	 (3,300)	 	 9,900	
Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 	 44,871	 	 -	 	 44,871	
Other	comprehensive	income	 	 62,650	 	 (3,300)	 	 59,350	
	 	 2017	

Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefit	obligations	 	 4,200	 	 (1,050)	 	 3,150	
Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 	 (126,345)	 	 -	 	 (126,345)	
Other	comprehensive	income	 	 (122,145)	 	 (1,050)	 	 (123,195)	

	 	 	

	 	 The	Company	

	 	 �efore	Tax	 	 Tax	Effect	 	 After	Tax	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

	 	 2018	

Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefit	obligations	 	 13,200	 	 (3,300)	 	 9,900	
Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 	 44,871	 	 -	 	 44,871	
Other	comprehensive	income	 	 58,071	 	 (3,300)	 	 54,771	
	 	 2017	

Re-measurements	of	post-employment	benefit	obligations	 	 4,200	 	 (1,050)	 	 3,150	
Unrealised	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 	 (126,345)	 	 -	 	 (126,345)	
Other	comprehensive	income	 	 (122,145)	 	 (1,050)	 	 (123,195)	
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115 Net	Profit	Attributable	to	Stockholders	of	the	Company	

Dealt	with	as	follows	in	the	financial	statements7	
	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

The	Company 	 	 	 	 	 (1,914,389)	 	 (517,250)	
Reversal	of	impairment	of	subsidiary	on	consolidation	 	 	 	 	 	 2,041,227	 	 568,822	
	 	 	 	 	 	 126,838	 	 51,572	
Subsidiaries	 	 	 	 	 	 997,257	 	 737,707	
Joint	venture	 	 	 	 	 	 57,930	 	 (54,236)	
	 	 	 	 	 	 1,182,025	 	 735,043	

	
125 Earnings	per	Stock	Unit	Attributable	to	Stockholders	of	the	Company	

�arnings	per	stock	unit	 is	calculated	by	dividing	the	net	profit	attributable	 to	stockholders	by	the	weighted	average	number	of	
ordinary	stock	units	in	issue.		

	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

Net	profit	attributable	to	stockholders	($;000)	 	 	 	 	 	 1,182,025	 	 735,043	
�eighted	average	number	of	ordinary	stock	units	(:000)	 	 	 	 	 	 570,626	 	 516,339	
�asic	earnings	per	stock	unit	($)	 	 	 	 	 	 2.07	 	 1.42	

	
The	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	stock	units	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2018	is	calculated	based	on	516,339,000	
stock	units	in	issue	for	9	months	of	the	year	and	733,488,000	units	in	issue	for	3	months	of	the	year.	
	
The	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	stock	units	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2017	is	calculated	based	on	516,339,000	
stock	units	in	issue	for	the	entire	year.	
	
The	Company	has	no	dilutive	potential	ordinary	shares.	
	

135 Dividends	

	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Interim	dividends	?	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
60	cents	per	stock	unit	?	14	July	2017	 	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 309,839	
35	cents	per	stock	unit	?	6	December	2017	 	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 180,739	
50	cents	per	stock	unit	?	25	July	2018	 	 	 	 	 	 258,486	 	 -	
45	cents	per	stock	unit	?	24	December	2018	 	 	 	 	 	 329,809	 	 -	
	 	 	 	 	 	 588,295	 	 490,578	
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1C5 Property,	Plant	and	E)uipment	

	 The	Group	

																						
�reehold			

	Land	2	Site		
Improvements		 �uildings		

Plant,		
E)uipment			

	2	�urniture			
Motor		

Vehicles		
�ork	in		
Progress			 Total			

	 $=000			 $=000		 $=000			 $=000			 $=000			 $=000	

	 2018	

	 Cost	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2018	 713,075	 1,586,237	 5,279,379	 400,406	 172,304	 8,151,401	
	 	 �usiness	combinations	 39,643	 635,245	 1,822,345	 161,892	 -	 2,659,125	
	 	 Additions	 -	 16,659	 655,840	 39,968	 1,104,339	 1,816,806	
	 	 Disposals	 -	 (1,893)	 (539,303)	 (30,874)	 (143,134)	 (715,204)	
	 	 �rite-offs>Adjustments	 -	 -	 (103)	 -	 	 (103)	
	 	 Transfers		 -	 15,003	 270,823	 -	 (285,826)	 -	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 752,718	 2,251,251	 7,488,981	 571,392	 847,683	 11,912,025	
	 Accumulated	Depreciation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2018	 -	 588,848	 3,108,897	 351,787	 -	 4,049,532	
	 	 Charge	for	the	year	 -	 47,455	 610,650	 34,320	 -	 692,425	

On	disposals	 -	 (487)	 (228,407)	 (28,255)	 -	 (257,149)	
�rite-offs>Adjustments	 -	 636	 (968)	 290	 -	 (42)	

	 	 At	31	December	2018	 -	 636,452	 3,490,172	 358,142	 -	 4,484,766	
	 Net	�ook	�alue	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 752,718	 1,614,799	 3,998,809	 213,250	 847,683	 7,427,259	

	 	

	 2017	

	 Cost	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	 658,165	 1,603,516	 5,044,228	 387,908	 96,467	 7,790,284	
	 	 Additions	 54,910	 13,380	 245,385	 7,438	 153,134	 474,247	
	 	 Disposals	 -	 (45,394)	 (64,210)	 (1,857)	 -	 (111,461)	
	 	 �rite-offs>Adjustments	 -	 -	 (1,513)	 -	 (156)	 (1,669)	
	 	 Transfers		 -	 14,735	 55,489	 6,917	 (77,141)	 -	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 713,075	 1,586,237	 5,279,379	 400,406	 172,304	 8,151,401	
	 Accumulated	Depreciation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	 -	 596,772	 2,761,228	 315,997	 -	 3,673,997	
	 	 Charge	for	the	year	 -	 33,451	 407,124	 37,647	 -	 478,222	
	 	 On	disposals	 -	 (41,375)	 (58,098)	 (1,857)	 -	 (101,330)	

�rite-offs>Adjustments	 -	 -	 (1,357)	 -	 -	 (1,357)	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 -	 588,848	 3,108,897	 351,787	 -	 4,049,532	
	 Net	�ook	�alue	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 713,075	 997,389	 2,170,482	 48,619	 172,304	 4,101,869	
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1C5	Property,	Plant	and	E)uipment	;Continued<	
	
	 	 The	Company	

																						 	
�reehold			

	Land	2	Site		
Improvements		 �uildings		

Plant,		
E)uipment			

	2	�urniture			
Motor		

Vehicles		
�ork	in		
Progress			 Total			

	 	 $=000			 $=000		 $=000			 $=000			 $=000			 $=000	

	 	 2018	

	 Cost	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2018	 	 163,199	 505,750	 206,027	 36,324	 12,720	 924,020	
	 	 Additions	 	 -	 -	 17,415	 32,887	 33,131	 83,433	
	 	 Disposals	 	 -	 (1,424)	 -	 (15,537)	 -	 (16,961)	
	 	 Transfers		 	 -	 10,134	 12,560	 -	 (22,694)	 -	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 	 163,199	 514,460	 236,002	 53,674	 23,157	 990,492	
	 Accumulated	Depreciation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2018	 	 -	 220,070	 144,816	 31,864	 -	 396,750	
	 	 Charge	for	the	year	 	 -	 8,714	 19,587	 9,109	 -	 37,410	
	 	 Relieved	on	disposals		 	 -	 (194)	 -	 (15,537)	 -	 (15,731)	
	 	 Adjustments	 	 -	 636	 (918)	 290	 -	 8	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 	 -	 229,226	 163,485	 25,726	 -	 418,437	
	 Net	�ook	�alue	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 	 163,199	 285,234	 72,517	 27,948	 23,157	 572,055	

	 	 	

	 	 2017	

	 Cost	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	 	 108,289	 525,839	 176,169	 36,324	 15,339	 861,960	
	 	 Additions	 	 54,910	 6,187	 22,885	 -	 22,896	 106,878	
	 	 Disposals	 	 -	 (39,513)	 (5,305)	 -	 -	 (44,818)	
	 	 Transfers		 	 -	 13,237	 12,278	 -	 (25,515)	 -	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 	 163,199	 505,750	 206,027	 36,324	 12,720	 924,020	
	 Accumulated	Depreciation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	 	 -	 249,816	 134,088	 23,889	 -	 407,793	
	 	 Charge	for	the	year	 	 -	 8,428	 16,032	 7,975	 -	 32,435	
	 	 Relieved	on	disposals	 	 -	 (38,174)	 (5,304)	 -	 -	 (43,478)	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 	 -	 220,070	 144,816	 31,864	 -	 396,750	
	 Net	�ook	�alue	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 	 163,199	 285,680	 61,211	 4,460	 12,720	 527,270	

	
Certain	of	the	�roup;s	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	have	been	pledged	as	security	for	its	borrowings	(Note	27).	
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1D5 Intangible	Assets	

	 The	Group	

																						
Goodwill	

Distribution	
network	

Supplier	
relationships	

Trade	
name	 �rands	 Total	

	 $=000			 $=000		 $=000			 $=000			 $=000			 $=000	

	 Cost	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	and		

31	December	2017	 -	 -	 -	 -	 73,407	 73,407	

	 	 �usiness	combinations	 4,794,911	 2,090,000	 1,340,000	 404,000	 1,159,870	 9,788,781	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 4,794,911	 2,090,000	 1,340,000	 404,000	 1,233,277	 9,862,188	
	 Accumulated	Amortisation	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	1	January	2017	 -	 -	 -	 -	 71,713	 71,713	
	 	 Charge	for	the	year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,694	 1,694	
	 	 At	31	December	2017	 -	 -	 -	 -	 73,407	 73,407	

Charge	for	the	year	 -	 -	 26,875	 4,388	 99,754	 131,017	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 -	 -	 26,875	 4,388	 173,161	 204,424	
	 Net	�ook	�alue	-	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 At	31	December	2018	 4,794,911	 2,090,000	 1,313,125	 399,612	 1,060,116	 9,657,764	

	 	 At	31	December	2017	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	
At	 31	 December	 2018,	 goodwill	 of	 $330,459,000	 was	 allocated	 to	 �usson	 	oldings	 
imited,	 and	 $4,464,452,000	 to	 Facey	
Commodity	 Company	 
imited.	 �usson	 	oldings	 
imited	 is	 in	 the	 manufacturing	 segment,	 while	 Facey	 Commodity	 Company	

imited	is	in	the	Distribution	segment.	
	
The	 �roup	 determines	whether	 goodwill	 is	 impaired	 at	 least	 on	 an	 annual	 basis	 or	when	 events	 or	 changes	 in	 circumstances	
indicate	the	carrying	value	may	be	impaired.	This	re*uires	an	estimation	of	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	cash	generating	unit	
(C�U)	to	which	the	goodwill	is	allocated.	The	recoverable	amount	is	determined	by	reference	to	the	value	in	use.	�stimating	the	
value	 in	 use	 re*uires	 the	 �roup	 to	make	 an	 estimate	 of	 the	 expected	 future	 cash	 flows	 from	 the	 C�U	 and	 also	 to	 choose	 an	
appropriate	discount	rate	in	order	to	calculate	the	present	value	of	those	future	cash	flows. The	cash	flow	projections	are	based	
on	 financial	 budgets	 approved	 by	 management	 covering	 a	 five-year	 period.	 Cash	 flows	 beyond	 the	 five-year	 period	 are	
extrapolated	using	estimated	growth	rates	(which	do	not	exceed	the	long-term	average	growth	rate	for	the	business	in	which	the	
C�U	operates).	The	key	assumptions	used	for	value	in	use	calculations	are	as	follows7	

	
Revenue	

Growth	Rate	 	
E�ITDA	to	
Revenue	 	

Capital	Expenditure	
to	Revenue	 	

Discount		
Rate	

�usson		oldings	
imited	 4O	 	 16.2O	 	 1O	 	 20.7O	

Facey	Commodity	Company	
imited	 4O	 	 6.8O	 	 1O	 	 16.0O	
	

1E5 Investments		

	 	 	 The	Group	2	The	Company	

	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

�uoted	e*uity	securities	denominated	in	Jamaican	dollars	 	 		 	 	 14,547	 	 -	
Un*uoted	e*uity	securities	denominated	in	Jamaican	dollars	 	 		 	 	 -	 	 40	
Un*uoted	e*uity	securities	denominated	in	US	dollars	 	 		 	 	 1,399,898	 	 1,369,534	

	 	 		 	 	 1,414,445	 	 1,369,574	
	 	
�n�uoted	e�uit%	securities	denominated	in	�S	dollars		
The	Company	owns	42,214	(11.6O	(2017	?	10.3O))	of	the	issued	ordinary	shares	and	20,486	(34.1O)	of	the	issued	preference	
shares	of	Facey	�roup	
imited,	a	related	company	over	which	the	Company	does	not	exercise	significant	influence.		As	the	shares	
are	 unlisted,	 fair	 values	 were	 determined	 using	 cash	 flows	 discounted	 using	 a	 rate	 based	 on	market	 interest	 rate	 and	 a	 risk	
premium	specific	to	the	unlisted	security	of	11O	(2017	?	12O).	
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175 Investment	in	Subsidiaries	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000		 	 $’000		

�alance	at	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4,829,188	 	 1,398,010	
Ac*uisition	of	subsidiaries	 	 	 	 	 	 	 7,349,669	 	 -	
Capitalisation	of	subsidiary	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 4,000,000	
Impairment	of	subsidiary	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (2,041,227)	 	 (568,822)	
�alance	at	31	December	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10,137,630	 	 4,829,188	

	
All	subsidiary	undertakings	are	included	in	the	consolidation.	The	proportion	of	the	voting	rights	in	the	subsidiary	undertakings	
held	directly	by	the	parent	Company	do	not	differ	from	the	proportion	of	ordinary	shares	held.	
	
During	the	year,	the	group	ac*uired	�usson		oldings	
imited	and	Facey	Commodity		oldings	
imited	(Note	33).	
	
�ffective	 1	 January	 2017,	 the	 Company	 further	 capitalised	 �olden	 �rove	 Sugar	 Company	 
imited	 by	 $4,000,000	 using	
intercompany	balances	owed	to	the	Company	by	the	subsidiary.	
	
The	Company	recorded	an	impairment	charge	of	$2,041,227,000	(2017	?	$568,822,000)	in	relation	to	this	subsidiary	during	the	
year.	
	
The	total	non-controlling	interest	for	the	year	of	($119,970,000)	(2017	?	($87,200,000))	is	entirely	attributable	to	�olden	�rove	
Sugar	 Company	 
imited.	 Summarised	 financial	 information	 for	 �olden	 �rove	 Sugar	 Company	 
imited,	 before	 intercompany	
eliminations,	is	as	follows7	
Summarised	statement	of	com�rehensive	income							

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000		 	 $’000		

Revenue	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,117,658	 	 1,382,775	
Depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (133,711)	 	 (141,538)	
Net	loss	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (416,559)	 	 (302,777)	

	
Summarised	statement	of	financial	�osition							

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000		 	 $’000		

Non-current	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 711,029	 	 982,902	
Current	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,283,356	 	 984,027	
Non-current	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (108,944)	 	 (292,917)	
Intercompany	balance	owed	to	the	Company	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (949,383)	 	 (262,681)	
Other	current	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (326,295)	 	 (379,539)	
Net	Assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 609,763	 	 1,031,792	

	
Summarised	statement	of	cash	flo#s							

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000		 	 $’000		

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (432,695)	 	 (119,142)	
Cash	flows	from	investing	activities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 7,856	 	 133,495	
Intercompany	financing	provided	by	the	Company	 	 711,931	 	 303,634	
Other	cash	flows	from	financing	activities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (302,916)	 	 (317,943)	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	at	end	of	year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2,859	 	 18,683	
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185 Investment	in	�oint	Venture	

The	 �roup	 owns	 50O	 of	 Jamaica	 �rain	 and	 Cereals	 
imited,	 a	 former	 subsidiary	 that	manufactures	 and	 sells	 corn	 and	wheat	
products	and	cereals.	The	carrying	value	of	the	investment	approximates	50O	of	the	carrying	value	of	the	net	assets	of	the	joint	
venture	entity.	
	
The	movement	in	investment	in	joint	venture	is	as	follows7	

											 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

�alance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year	 	 345,006	 	 399,242	 	 434,114	 	 434,114	
Share	of	results	 	 57,930	 	 (54,236)	 	 -	 	 -	
�alance	at	the	end	of	the	year 	 402,936	 	 345,006	 	 434,114	 	 434,114	

	
The	summarised	financial	information	for	the	joint	venture	is	as	follows7	
Summarised	statement	of	com�rehensive	income	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Revenue	 	 		 	 	 	 		 3,133,769	 	 953,965	
Depreciation	 	 		 	 	 	 		 128,037	 	 31,679	
Net	profit>(loss)	 	 		 	 	 	 		 115,859	 	 (108,472)	

	
Summarised	statement	of	financial	�osition	

								 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Non-current	assets7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	
	 Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 3,100,643	 	 3,121,230	
	 Deferred	tax	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 10,439	 	 37,580	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 3,111,082	 	 3,158,810	
Current	assets7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	
	 Inventories	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 514,301	 	 318,254	
	 Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 138,784	 	 143,677	
	 Receivables	and	other	current	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 1,022,972	 	 205,512	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 1,676,057	 	 667,443	
Non-current	liabilities7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	
	 Due	to	joint	venture	partners	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (1,098,360)	 	 -	
	 
ong	term	loan	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (1,799,589)	 	 -	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (2,897,949)	 	 -	
Current	liabilities7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	
	 Due	to	joint	venture	partners	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (886,312)	 	 (1,171,725)	
	 Current	portion	of	long	term	loan>short	term	loan	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (102,400)	 	 (1,875,006)	
	 Payables	and	other	current	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (100,354)	 	 (95,257)	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 (1,089,066)	 	 (3,141,988)	
Net	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 800,124	 	 684,265	

	
Summarised	statement	of	cash	flo#s	

	 	 		
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities	 		 	 266,044	 	 (710,240)	
Cash	flows	from	investing	activities	 		 	 (127,052)	 	 (1,296,246)	
Cash	flows	from	financing	activities	 		 	 (136,078)	 	 1,925,253	
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1H5 Long	Term	Receivables	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

(a)	�usson	(Jamaica)	
imited	 	 -	 	 188,565	 	 -	 	 188,565	
(b)	Facey	�roup	
imited	 	 207,723	 	 346,102	 	 207,723	 	 346,102	
(c)	Facey	Commodity	Company	
imited		 	 -	 	 559,756	 	 -	 	 559,756	
(d)	�usson	International	Dairies	
imited	 	 -	 	 1,964,343	 	 2,000,669	 	 1,964,343	
(e)	Jamaica	�rain	and	Cereals	
imited	 	 541,342	 	 -	 	 541,342	 	 -	
(f)	�mployee	loans	 	 162,432	 	 -	 	 84,359	 	 -	
(g)	�ercyn	Farms	
imited	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 (i)				�obilisation	loan	for	farming	operations	 	 14,925	 	 26,757	 	 -	 	 -	
	 (ii)  Advance	for	replanting	and	farming	operations	 	 135,830	 	 129,399	 	 -	 	 -	
	 	 1,062,252	 	 3,214,922	 	 2,834,093	 	 3,058,766	
Interest	receivable	 	 13,618	 	 515,936	 	 762,829	 	 514,595	
	 	 1,075,870	 	 3,730,858	 	 3,596,922	 	 3,573,361	

ess7	Current	portion	 	 (372,096)	 	 (1,487,134)	 	 (970,552)	 	 (1,468,012)	
	 	 703,774	 	 2,243,724	 	 2,626,370	 	 2,105,349	

	
(a)	 This	related	party	receivable	was	due	in	e*ual	monthly	installments	of	US$30,000	with	the	remaining	principal	receivable	in	

full	on	31	January	2020.	The	agreement	attracted	interest	of	9O	per	annum.	The	loan	was	fully	received	during	the	year.	
	
(b)	 This	 related	 party	 receivable	 of	 US$2,800,000	 was	 scheduled	 to	 be	 received	 at	 maturity	 on	 31	 December	 2018.	 The	

agreement	attracts	interest	of	10O	per	annum,	payable	monthly.	
	
(c)	 This	 related	 party	 receivable	 of	 US$4,533,000	 was	 scheduled	 to	 be	 received	 at	 maturity	 on	 31	 December	 2018.	 The	

agreement	attracts	interest	of	10O	per	annum,	payable	monthly.	
	
(d)	 This	 related	 party	 receivable	 of	 US$15,892,000	 is	 repayable	 at	 maturity	 on	 23	 September	 2020.	 The	 agreement	 attracts	

interest	of	12O	per	annum,	payable	monthly.	�usson	International	Dairies	
imited	was	ac*uired	during	the	year.	
	
(e)	 This	receivable	from	joint	venture	of	US$4,300,000	is	repayable	at	maturity	on	31	December	2027.	The	agreement	attracts	

interest	of	3.07O	per	annum,	payable	annually.	Prior	to	31	December	2018,	the	balance	was	due	at	call	and	included	in	due	
from	affiliates	(Note	23).	

	
(f)	 This	receivable	represents	 loans	granted	to	employees	as	part	of	a	scheme	to	assist	employees	in	purchasing	shares	in	the	

Company.	The	receivable	is	due	on	31	October	2025	and	attracts	interest	at	7.5O.	
	
(g)	 (i)	 This	loan	was	granted	as	part	of	the	farm	management	contract	for	�olden	�rove	Sugar	Company	
imited.	The	principal	

is	repayable	in	periodic	discretionary	installments	until	maturity	in	November	2019.	The	agreement	attracts	interest	of	
10O	per	annum.	

	
	 (ii)	 This	 represents	 crop	 advances,	 as	 well	 as	 balance	 receivable	 from	 the	 sale	 of	 spares,	 farming	 e*uipment	 and	 other	

supplies.	 The	 principal	 is	 repayable	 in	 periodic	 discretionary	 installments	 until	 maturity	 in	 November	 2020.	 The	
agreement	does	not	attract	interest.	
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205 Post6employment	�enefits	

	 	 	 	
The	Group	2	
The	Company	

	 	 	 	 	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Asset>(
iability)	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	?		 	 	 	 	
Pension	scheme	 	 	 	 	 	 36,000	 	 38,500	
�edical	benefits	 	 		 	 	 (136,200)	 	 (148,400)	

�xpense	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	?	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	 	
Pension	scheme	 	 		 	 	 3,600	 	 10,600	
�edical	benefits	 	 		 	 	 11,800	 	 12,700	

�ains	and	losses	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	?	 	 		 	 	 	 	 	
Pension	scheme	 	 		 	 	 (100)	 	 6,800	
�edical	benefits	 	 		 	 	 13,300	 	 (2,600)	

	
�ension	schemes	
In	 addition	 to	 the	 defined	 benefit	 pension	 scheme	 described	 below,	 employees	 of	 the	 �roup	 hired	 on	 or	 after	 1	 January	 2002	
participate	 in	 an	 Individual	Retirement	 Scheme	operated	by	 an	 independent	 insurance	 company.	 	 �mployees	participating	 in	 the	
scheme	 contribute	 up	 to	 15O	 of	 pensionable	 earnings	 while	 the	 Company	 contributes	 5O.	 The	 �roup;s	 and	 the	 Company;s	
contribution	for	the	year	amounted	to	$51,020,000	(2017	?	$32,302,000)	and	$10,728,000	(2017	?	$8,142,000),	respectively	(Note	
8).	
	
On	 1	 January	 2015,	 the	 fortnightly	 sugarcane	 employees	 of	 �olden	 �rove	 Sugar	 Company	 
imited	 commenced	 contributing	 to	 a	
defined	contribution	pension	scheme.	The	pension	scheme	is	administered	by	an	 independent	 insurance	company.	The	subsidiary	
contributes	 2O	 of	 the	 employee;s	 basic	 salary.	 	 The	 subsidiary;s	 contribution	 for	 the	 year	 amounted	 to	 $2,867,000	 (2017	 ?	
$2,722,000).	
	
Defined	�enefit	�lan		
The	�roup	operates	a	defined	benefit	 scheme	 for	employees	hired	prior	 to	1	 January	2002.	 	The	 scheme	 is	 administered	by	NC�	
Insurance	Company	
imited.	The	plan	provides	benefits	to	members	based	on	average	earnings	for	the	final	year	of	service,	with	the	
�roup	and	employees	each	contributing	5O	of	pensionable	salaries.	�mployee	may	contribute	additional	voluntary	contribution	up	
to	5O.	The	scheme	was	closed	to	new	members	as	at	31	December	2001.		As	the	subsidiaries	make	fixed	contributions	to	the	pension	
scheme	and	have	no	further	legal	or	constructive	obligations	under	the	scheme,	the	pension	asset	and	obligations	are	accounted	for	in	
the	financial	statements	of	the	Company.	 	The	subsidiaries	recognise	a	cost	e*ual	to	their	contributions	payable	 in	respect	of	each	
accounting	period	in	profit	or	loss.	Any	plan	surplus	or	funding	deficiency	is	absorbed	by	the	Company.			
	
The	defined	benefit	plan	 is	valued	by	 independent	actuaries	annually	using	 the	Projected	Unit	Credit	�ethod.	The	 latest	actuarial	
valuation	was	carried	out	as	at	31	December	2018.			
	
The	�oard	of	the	pension	fund	is	composed	of	an	e*ual	number	of	representatives	from	both	employer	and	employees.	The	�oard	of	
the	fund	is	responsible	for	the	investment	policy	with	regard	to	the	assets	of	the	fund.	 	The	funds	are	managed	by	NC�	Insurance	
Company	
imited	which	administers	the	Fund	and	manages	the	investment	portfolio	under	management	agreement.	
	
The	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	determined	as	follows7	

	 	 	
			2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Present	value	of	funded	obligations	 	 	 (906,500)	 	 (921,200)	
Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 	 	 998,300	 	 994,000	
Asset	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	 	 	 91,800	 	 72,800	
Unrecognised	asset	due	to	limitation	 	 (55,800)	 	 (34,300)	
	 	 	 36,000	 	 38,500	
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205		Post6employment	�enefits	;Continued<	

	
�ension	schemes	/continued0	
The	movement	in	the	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
			2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Asset	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 38,500	 	 40,300	
Amounts	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the		statement	of	comprehensive	income	 	 (3,600)	 	 (10,600)	
Amounts	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	 	 	 (100)	 	 6,800	
Contributions	paid	 	 1,200	 	 2,000	
Asset	at	end	of	year	 	 	 36,000	 	 38,500	

	
The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		

�alance	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 (921,200)	 	 (896,700)	
Current	service	cost	 	 	 (5,000)	 	 (10,700)	
Interest	cost	 	 	 (70,500)	 	 (76,500)	
Re-measurements	?	experience	gains	and	losses	 	 	 (2,000)	 	 (54,800)	
�embers;	contributions	 	 	 (2,100)	 	 (3,200)	
�enefits	paid	 	 	 94,300	 	 120,700	
�alance	at	end	of	year	 	 	 (906,500)	 	 (921,200)	

	
As	 at	 the	 last	 valuation	 date,	 the	 present	 value	 of	 the	 defined	 benefit	 obligation	 was	 comprised	 of	 approximately	 $142,000,000		
(2017	?	$175,100,000)	relating	to	active	employees,	and	$763,500,000	(2017	?	$746,100,000)	relating	to	members	in	retirement.	
	
The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	asset	during	the	year	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		

�alance	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 994,000	 	 957,300	
Interest	income	 	 	 74,600	 	 78,300	
Re-measurement	?	return	on	plan	assets,	excluding	amounts	

included	in	interest	income	 	 	 20,700	 	 73,900	

�mployer;s	contributions	 	 	 1,200	 	 2,000	
�embers;	contributions	 	 	 2,100	 	 3,200	
�enefits	paid	 	 	 (94,300)	 	 (120,700)	
�alance	at	end	of	year	 	 	 998,300	 	 994,000	

	
The	amounts	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

Current	service	cost	 	 	 5,000	 	 10,700	
Interest	costs	 	 	 70,500	 	 76,500	
Interest	income	 	 	 (74,600)	 	 (78,300)	
Interest	on	effect	of	unrecognised	asset	due	to	limitation	 	 	 2,700	 	 1,800	
Total,	included	in	staff	costs	(Note	8)	 	 	 3,600	 	 10,600	

	
�xpected	 employer	 contributions	 to	 the	 post-employment	 pension	 plan	 for	 the	 year	 ending	 31	 December	 2019	 amount	 to	
$2,000,000.		
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205		Post6employment	�enefits	;Continued<	

	
�ension	schemes	/continued0	
Plan	assets	are	comprised	as	follows7	

	 �uoted	 	 Un)uoted	 	 Total	 	 	

	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 I	

	 2018	

Debt	securities7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 �overnment	of	Jamaica	 -	 	 251,816	 	 251,816	 	 25.2	
	 Corporate	 -	 	 122,950	 	 122,950	 	 12.3	
Real	estate	 -	 	 72,068	 	 72,068	 	 7.2	
�*uity	securities		 394,280	 	 -	 	 394,280	 	 39.5	
Preference	shares	 68,118	 	 -	 	 68,118	 	 6.8	
Repurchase	agreements	 -	 	 58,498	 	 58,498	 	 5.9	
Other	 -	 	 30,570	 	 30,570	 	 3.1	
	 462,398	 	 535,902	 	 998,300	 	 100	
	 	

	 2017	

Debt	securities7	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 �overnment	of	Jamaica	 -	 	 256,452	 	 256,452	 	 25.8	
	 Corporate	 -	 	 93,436	 	 93,436	 	 9.4	
Real	estate	 -	 	 73,556	 	 73,556	 	 7.4	
�*uity	securities		 332,990	 	 -	 	 332,990	 	 33.5	
Preference	shares	 70,574	 	 -	 	 79,574	 	 7.1	
Repurchase	agreement	 -	 	 95,424	 	 95,424	 	 9.6	
Other	 -	 	 71,568	 	 71,568	 	 7.2	
	 403,564	 	 590,436	 	 994,000	 	 100	

	
At	31	December,	the	fund	had	investments	with	a	fair	value	of	$53,960,000	(2017	-	$55,759,000)	in	the	Company;s	own	shares	
held	as	plan	assets.	
	
The	 significant	 actuarial	 assumptions	 used	 were	 a	 discount	 rate	 of	 7.0O	 (2017	 ?	 8.0O)6	 future	 salary	 increases	 of	 4.0O		
(2017	?	5.0O)6	and	future	pension	increases	of	1.5O	(2017	?	2.25O).	The	sensitivity	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	to	changes	
in	the	weighted	principal	assumptions	is7	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 Change	in	
Assumption	

Increase	in	
Assumption	

	
Decrease	in	
Assumption	

	
Increase	in	
Assumption	

	
Decrease	in	
Assumption	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	

Discount	rate	 0.5O	(2017	-	1O)	 (43,100)	 	 47,300	 	 (83,800)	 	 101,900	
Future	salary	increases	 0.5O	(2017	-	1O)	 3,700	 	 (3,600)	 	 7,900	 	 (7,100)	
�xpected	pension	increase	 0.5O	(2017	-	1O)	 43,400	 	 (39,800)	 	 93,100	 	 (78,300)	

	
Further,	 assumptions	 regarding	 future	mortality	 are	 set	 based	 on	 actuarial	 advice	 in	 accordance	with	 published	 statistics	 and	
experience.	 These	 assumptions	 translate	 into	 an	 average	 life	 expectancy	 in	 years	 for	 a	 pensioner	 retiring	 at	 age	 60.	 If	 the	
assumption	 for	 life	 expectancy	was	 increased>(decreased)	 by	 1	 year,	 the	 effect	 on	 the	 defined	 benefit	 obligation	would	 be	 an	
increase>(decrease)	of	$17,300,000>($17,600,000)	(2017	?	$17,200,000>($14,700,000)).	
	
The	above	sensitivity	analyses	are	based	on	a	change	in	an	assumption	while	holding	all	other	assumptions	constant.	In	practice,	
this	 is	 unlikely	 to	 occur,	 and	 changes	 in	 some	 of	 the	 assumptions	 may	 be	 correlated.	�hen	 calculating	 the	 sensitivity	 of	 the	
defined	benefit	obligation	to	significant	actuarial	assumptions	the	same	method	(present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	
calculated	with	 the	projected	unit	 credit	method	 at	 the	 end	of	 the	 reporting	period)	has	been	 applied	 as	when	 calculating	 the	
pension	liability	recognised	within	the	statement	of	financial	position.	The	methods	and	types	of	assumptions	used	in	preparing	
the	sensitivity	analysis	did	not	change	compared	to	the	previous	period.	
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205		Post6employment	�enefits	;Continued<	

	
�ther	post-employment	�enefits	
In	addition	to	pension	benefits,	the	Company	offers	retirees	medical	and	life	insurance	benefits	that	contribute	to	the	health	care	
and	life	 insurance	coverage	of	employees	and	beneficiaries	after	retirement.	 	The	obligations	under	the	medical	benefit	scheme	
are	unfunded.	The	method	of	accounting	and	fre*uency	of	valuations	are	similar	to	those	used	for	the	pension	scheme.	Obligations	
under	 the	 medical	 scheme	 are	 payable	 by,	 and	 accounted	 for,	 by	 the	 Company	 as	 the	 subsidiaries	 do	 not	 have	 any	 legal	 or	
constructive	obligations	under	the	scheme.	
		
The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		

�alance	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 (148,400)	 	 (143,000)	
Current	service	cost	 	 	 (300)	 	 (300)	
Interest	expense	 	 	 (11,500)	 	 (12,400)	
Re-measurements	?	experience	gains	and	losses	 	 	 13,300	 	 (2,600)	
�enefits	paid	 	 	 10,700	 	 9,900	
�alance	at	end	of	year	 	 	 (136,200)	 	 (148,400)	

	
The	amounts	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	are	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		

Current	service	cost	 	 	 300	 	 300	
Interest	cost	 	 	 11,500	 	 12,400	
Total,	included	in	staff	costs		(Note	8)		 	 	 11,800	 	 12,700	

	
The	movement	in	the	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	is	as	follows7	

	 	 	
2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000		


iability	at	beginning	of	year	 	 	 148,400	 	 143,000	
Amounts	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss	in	the	statement	of	

comprehensive	income	(Note	8)	 	 	 11,800	 	 12,700	
Amounts	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	 	 	 (13,300)	 	 2,600	
Contributions	by	employer	 	 	 (10,700)	 	 (9,900)	

iability	at	end	of	year	 	 	 136,200	 	 148,400	

	
�xpected	employer	contributions	to	the	post-employment	plan	for	the	year	ending	31	December	2019	amount	to	$10,000,000.		
	
In	addition	to	the	assumptions	used	for	pension	schemes,	 the	main	actuarial	assumption	is	 long-term	increase	 in	health	cost	of	
5.5O	(2017	?	7.5O)	per	annum.	The	sensitivity	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	to	changes	in	the	weighted	principal	assumptions	
is7	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 Change	in	
Assumption	

Increase	in	
Assumption	

	
Decrease	in	
Assumption	

	
Increase	in	
Assumption	

	
Decrease	in	
Assumption	

	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	

Discount	rate	 0.5O	 (6,700)	 	 7,300	 	 (7,100)	 	 7,700	
�edical	cost	 0.5O	 7,300	 	 (6,700)	 	 7,700	 	 (7,100)	

	
Further,	 if	 the	assumption	 for	 life	expectancy	was	 increased>(decreased)	by	1	year,	 the	effect	on	 the	defined	benefit	obligation	
would	be	an	increase>(decrease)	of	$5,600,000>($5,500,000)	(2017	?	$6,600,000>($6,400,000)).	
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205		Post6employment	�enefits	;Continued<	

	
�is�s	associated	)ith	pension	plans	and	post-employment	plans	
Through	its	defined	benefit	pension	plans	and	post-employment	medical	plans,	the	Company	is	exposed	to	a	number	of	risks,	the	
most	significant	of	which	are	detailed	below7	
	
Asset	volatilit%	
The	plan	 liabilities	are	calculated	using	a	discount	rate	set	with	reference	 to	�overnment	of	 Jamaica	bond	yields.	 If	plan	assets	
underperform	this	yield,	this	will	create	a	deficit.	As	the	plan	matures,	the	Company	intends	to	reduce	the	level	of	investment	risk	
by	investing	more	in	assets	that	better	match	the	liabilities.	The	Company	believes	that,	due	to	the	long-term	nature	of	the	plan	
liabilities,	a	level	of	continuing	e*uity	investment	is	an	appropriate	element	of	the	Company;s	long	term	strategy	to	manage	the	
plans	efficiently.	See	below	for	more	details	on	the	Company;s	asset-liability	matching	strategy.	
	
�han�es	in	�ond	%ields	
A	decrease	in	�overnment	of	Jamaica	bond	yields	will	increase	plan	liabilities,	although	this	will	be	partially	offset	by	an	increase	
in	the	value	of	the	plans;	bond	holdings.	
	
Inflation	ris�	
	igher	 inflation	 will	 lead	 to	 higher	 liabilities.	 The	majority	 of	 the	 plan;s	 assets	 are	 either	 unaffected	 by	 fixed	 interest	 bonds6	
meaning	that	an	increase	in	inflation	will	reduce	the	surplus	or	create	a	deficit.	
	
�ife	ex�ectanc%	
The	majority	of	the	plan;s	obligations	are	to	provide	benefits	for	the	life	of	the	member,	so	increases	in	life	expectancy	will	result	
in	an	 increase	 in	 the	plan;s	 liabilities.	This	 is	particularly	significant,	where	 inflationary	 increases	result	 in	higher	sensitivity	 to	
changes	in	life	expectancy.	
	
The	responsibility	for	the	management	of	the	assets	of	the	Fund	is	vested	in	the	�oard	of	Trustees	and	NC�	Insurance	Company	

imited	 representatives	who	 are	 the	 fund	 and	 investment	managers.	 They	 ensure	 that	 the	 investment	 positions	 are	managed	
within	an	asset-liability	matching	 (A
�)	 framework	 that	has	been	developed	 to	achieve	 long-term	 investments	 that	are	 in	 line	
with	the	obligations	under	the	pension	fund.	�ithin	this	framework,	the	Fund;s	A
�	objective	is	to	match	assets	to	the	pension	
obligations	by	investing	in	long-term	fixed	interest	securities	with	maturities	that	match	the	benefit	payments	as	they	fall	due.	The	
Fund	 actively	monitors	 how	 the	 duration	 and	 the	 expected	 yield	 of	 the	 investments	 are	matching	 the	 expected	 cash	 outflows	
arising	from	the	pension	obligations.	The	Fund	has	not	changed	the	processes	used	to	manage	its	risks	from	previous	periods.	The	
Fund	does	not	use	derivatives	to	manage	its	risk.	Investments	are	well	diversified,	such	that	the	failure	of	any	single	investment	
would	not	have	a	material	impact	on	the	overall	level	of	assets.	
	
Funding	levels	are	monitored	on	an	annual	basis	and	the	current	agreed	contribution	rate	is	5O	of	pensionable	salaries.	The	next	
triennial	valuation	is	due	to	be	completed	as	at	31	August	2020.	The	Company	considers	that	the	contribution	rates	set	at	the	last	
valuation	 date	 to	 be	 sufficient	 to	 prevent	 a	 deficit	 and	 that	 regular	 contributions,	 which	 are	 based	 on	 service	 costs,	 will	 not	
increase	significantly.	
	
The	weighted	 average	 duration	 of	 the	 defined	 benefit	 obligation	 is	 10.7	 years	 for	 the	 both	 the	 pension	 fund	 and	 for	 the	 post-
employment	medical	benefits.	
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215 �iological	Assets	

�ivestoc�	.	classified	as	non-current	assets	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	
	 	 The	Group	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Dairy	livestock	?		 	 	 	 	
	 2,966	(2017	?	2,700)	Cows	able	to	produce	milk	 	 192,662	 	 148,692	
	 2,081	(2017	?	2,103)		eifers	being	raised	to	produce	milk	in	the	future	 	 146,389	 	 140,766	
Other	livestock	?		 	 	 	 	

136	(2017	?	144)	�ulls	raised	for	sale	and	reproduction	 	 3,393	 	 3,050	
4	(2017	?	4)		orses	 	 120	 	 120	

	 	 342,564	 	 292,628	
	
7,970,048	 litres	 (2017	 ?	 7,223,412	 litres)	 of	 milk	 with	 a	 fair	 value	 (less	 estimated	 point-of-sale	 costs)	 of	 $353,367,000		
(2017	?	$614,068,000)	were	produced	during	the	period.	
	
Sugar	cane	.	classified	as	current	assets	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	
At	year	end,	the	�roup	had	85,620	tonnes	(2017	?	96,104	tonnes)	of	sugar	cane	with	a	value	of	$439,303,000	(2017	?	$508,745,000).		
	
14,749	tonnes	(2017	?	16,789	tonnes)	of	sugar	and	molasses	with	a	fair	value	(less	estimated	point-of-sale	costs)	of	$977,558,000	
(2017	?	$1,154,055,000)	were	produced	during	the	period.	

	
225 Inventories	

	 	 The	Group	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Raw	and	packaging	materials	 	 1,824,447	 	 1,099,904	
�ork	in	progress	 	 44,917	 	 33,243	
Finished	goods	 	 821,701	 	 242,201	
�erchandise	for	resale	 	 2,725,009	 	 186,516	
�oods	in	transit	 	 705,513	 	 610,899	
Other	 	 426,518	 	 322,300	

	 	 6,548,105	 	 2,495,063	
	
The	cost	of	inventories	recognised	as	write-offs	and	included	in	direct	expenses	amounted	to	$29,317,000	(2017	-	$32,866,000).	
	

235 Trade	and	Other	Receivables	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Trade	receivables	 	 3,385,640	 	 1,367,616	 	 -	 	 -	

ess7	Provision	for	impairment	 	 (381,383)	 	 (128,524)	 	 -	 	 -	
	 	 3,004,257	 	 1,239,092	 	 -	 	 -	
Advances	and	prepayments	 	 478,058	 	 183,547	 	 80,489	 	 54,166	
Due	from	affiliates	 	 1,294,850	 	 4,543,524	 	 489,390	 	 3,764,312	
Other	 	 266,161	 	 209,488	 	 -	 	 -	
	 	 5,043,326	 	 6,175,651	 	 569,879	 	 3,818,478	
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2C5 Payables	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Trade	payables	 	 3,221,384	 	 1,921,358	 	 	 	 -	
Accruals	 	 869,027	 	 505,235	 	 59,258	 	 234,870	
Due	to	affiliates	 	 1,455,879	 	 4,169,943	 	 -	 	 1,854,836	
Dividends	payable	 	 329,809	 	 -	 	 329,809	 	 -	
Other	 	 497,734	 	 210,971	 	 208,613	 	 178,261	
	 	 6,373,833	 	 6,807,507	 	 597,680	 	 2,267,967	

	
2D5 Share	Capital	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 =000	 	 =000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Authorised	?	ordinary	shares	 	 780,000	 	 530,000	 	 780,000	 	 530,000	
Issued	and	fully	paid	?		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Ordinary	stock	units	 	 733,547	 	 516,398	 	 5,769,457	 	 561,287	
	 Treasury	shares	 	 (59)	 	 (59)	 	 (899)	 	 (899)	
	 	 733,488	 	 516,339	 	 5,768,558	 	 560,388	

	
At	an	extraordinary	general	meeting	of	the	Company	on	9	April	2018,	the	Company;s	shareholders	agreed	to	an	increase	in	the	
authorised	ordinary	shares	of	the	Company	by	the	creation	of	250,000,000	new	ordinary	shares.	In	October	2018,	the	Company	
issued	217,149,000	of	these	units	at	a	fair	value	of	$5,208,170,000	(net	of	transaction	costs	of	$1,235,000)	as	part	consideration	
for	a	business	combination	(Note	33).	
	
In	2013	the	Company	purchased	59,000	of	its	shares	at	a	fair	value	of	$899,000.	
	

2E5 Capital	Reserves	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

Revaluation	surplus	on	assets	carried	at	deemed	cost	 	 312,600	 	 312,600	 	 105,340	 	 105,340	
Fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments	 	 181,733	 	 136,862	 	 181,733	 	 136,862	
Profits	of	subsidiaries	capitalised	 	 336,537	 	 336,537	 	 -	 	 -	
Redemption	reserve	 	 14,800	 	 14,800	 	 -	 	 -	
Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments	 	 120,855	 	 120,855	 	 120,855	 	 120,855	
Currency	translation	gains	and	losses	 	 4,579	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
Other	realised	surplus	 	 22,230	 	 22,230	 	 20,289	 	 20,289	
	 	 993,334	 	 943,884	 	 428,217	 	 383,346	

	
Included	in	capital	reserves	are	fair	value	gains	on	investments	representing	the	accumulated	unrealised	gains	and	losses	on	the	
revaluation	of	these	investments.	The	movement	in	this	reserve	during	the	year	is	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income.	
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275 Long	Term	Liabilities	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

(a)	Tetra	Pak	?	8O	 	 180,986	 	 217,181	 	 -	 	 -	
(b)	Tetra	Pak	?	7.81O	 	 49,024	 	 51,746	 	 -	 	 -	
(c)	Sugar	Industry	Authority	?	5O	 	 18,981	 	 22,296	 	 -	 	 -	
(d)	National	Commercial	�ank	(Jamaica)	
imited	?	11.5O	 	 280,909	 	 515,001	 	 -	 	 -	
(e)	National	Commercial	�ank	(Jamaica)	
imited	?	9.5O	 	 1,630,680	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
(f)	National	Commercial	�ank	(Jamaica)	
imited	?	8.5O	 	 371,421	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
(g)	J���	�erchant	�ank	
imited	?	8.5O	 	 300,000	 	 -	 	 300,000	 	 -	
(h)	CI�C	FirstCaribbean	International	�ank	Jamaica	


imited	?	8.25O	 	 1,302,409	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	

(i)	CI�C	FirstCaribbean	International	�ank	Jamaica	

imited	?	6.8O	 	 1,222,162	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	

(j)	�onds	?	10.5O	for	first	2	years,	then	�AT��	P	2.75O	 	 854,350	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
(k)	�onds	?	8.25O	for	first	3	years,	then	�AT��	P	2.25O	 	 1,200,000	 	 1,200,000	 	 1,200,000	 	 1,200,000	
(l)	�onds	?	7.5O	 	 1,600,000	 	 -	 	 1,600,000	 	 -	
(m)	�onds	?	7.25O	 	 2,200,000	 	 -	 	 2,200,000	 	 -	
(n)	CI�C	FirstCaribbean	International	�ank	Jamaica	


imited	?	
I�OR	P	3O	 	 127,716	 	 686,857	 	 127,716	 	 686,857	

(o)	CI�C	FirstCaribbean	International	�ank	Jamaica	

imited	?	
I�OR	P	3O	 	 -	 	 250,008	 	 -	 	 250,008	

(p)	Sygnus	?	15O	 	 503,848	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
(*)	�ppley	
imited	?	8O	to	12O	 	 124,285	 	 72,733	 	 87,869	 	 72,733	
(r)	Coconut	Industry	�oard	?	3O	 	 368,698	 	 360,869	 	 368,698	 	 360,869	
(s)	J���	�erchant	�ank	
imited	?	10O	 	 -	 	 220,000	 	 -	 	 220,000	
(t)	First	�lobal	�ank	?	13O	 	 -	 	 100,000	 	 -	 	 100,000	
(u)	�ppley	
imited	6.5O-8.7O	 	 131,371	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
Deferred	financing	costs	 	 (166,397)	 	 (5,157)	 	 (89,499)	 	 -	
	 	 12,300,443	 	 3,691,534	 	 5,794,784	 	 2,890,467	
Interest	payable	 	 79,034	 	 37,974	 	 78,331	 	 18,702	
	 	 12,379,477	 	 3,729,508	 	 5,873,115	 	 2,909,169	

ess7	Current	portion	 	 (2,051,691)	 	 (2,012,776)	 	 (683,243)	 	 (1,709,169)	
	 	 10,327,786	 	 1,716,732	 	 5,189,872	 	 1,200,000	

	
The	movement	in	long	term	liabilities	is	as	follows7	

	 	 The	Group	 	 The	Company	

	 	 2018	 	 2017	 	 2018	 	 2017	

	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	 	 $=000	

�alance	at	start	of	year	 	 3,729,508	 	 3,428,497	 	 2,909,169	 	 2,391,243	
�usiness	combination	 	 5,889,954	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	

oans	received	 	 4,728,099	 	 1,739,272	 	 4,257,715	 	 1,672,626	

oan	principal	repayments	 	 (2,001,885)	 	 (1,439,317)	 	 (1,390,657)	 	 (1,125,101)	
Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	 	 (24,354)	 	 (35,267)	 	 25,189	 	 (32,889)	
Deferred	fees	amortised	(Note	9)	 	 17,095	 	 13,761	 	 12,070	 	 -	
Interest	charged	and	capitalised	(Note	9)	 	 3,169	 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	
Interest	charged	and	expensed	(Note	9)	 	 713,037	 	 265,926	 	 275,911	 	 184,433	
Interest	paid	 	 (675,146)	 	 (243,364)	 	 (216,282)	 	 (181,143)	
�alance	at	end	of	year	 	 12,379,477	 	 3,729,508	 	 5,873,115	 	 2,909,169	



132

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	53	

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	

275		Long	Term	Liabilities	;Continued<	

A	summary	of	the	terms	of	the	long	term	liabilities	is	as	follows7

(a) US	 dollar	 denominated	 financing	 agreement	 from	 a	 supplier,	 repayable	 in	 32	 *uarterly	 installments	 of	 US$96,000
commencing	in	2015	and	secured	by	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	ac*uired	under	the	financing	agreement.

(b) US	 dollar	 denominated	 financing	 agreement	 from	 a	 supplier,	 repayable	 in	 32	 *uarterly	 installments	 of	 US$18,000
commencing	in	2017	and	secured	by	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	ac*uired	under	the	financing	agreement.

(c) Jamaican	dollar	denominated	 loan	 facility	of	 $33,156,000	 repayable	over	10	years	 commencing	 in	2013	by	way	of	 annual
deductions	from	proceeds	of	cane	sales,	contract	work	and	earnings	from	harvesting	operations,	where	applicable.

(d) Jamaican	 dollar	 denominated	 loan	 facility	 of	 $608,637,000,	 repayable	 in	 13	 *uarterly	 installments	 of	 $46,818,000
commencing	June	2017	and	secured	by	the	fixed	and	floating	assets	of	�olden	�rove	Sugar	Company	
imited.

(e) Unsecured	 Jamaican	 dollar	 denominated	 loan	 facility	 of	 $1,755,000,000,	 repayable	 in	 13	 *uarterly	 installments	 of
$41,440,000	commencing	June	2018.

(f) Jamaican	 dollar	 denominated	 financing	 agreement	 repayable	 in	 32	 *uarterly	 installments	 of	 $13,969,000	 commencing
September	2018	and	secured	by	property,	plant	and	e*uipment	ac*uired	under	the	financing	agreement.

(g) Unsecured	 Jamaican	dollar	denominated	 loan	 facility	of	$300,000,000,	repayable	 in	60	monthly	 installments	of	$6,155,000
(inclusive	of	interest)	commencing	January	2019.

(h) Unsecured	 Jamaican	 dollar	 denominated	 loan	 facility	 repayable	 in	 28	 *uarterly	 installments	 of	 $48,237,000	 commencing
December	2018.

(i) Unsecured	US	dollar	denominated	loan	facility	repayable	in	28	*uarterly	installments	of	US$357,000	commencing	December
2018.

(j) Jamaican	dollar	denominated	�onds	issued	in	February	2016	for	a	period	of	10	years,	due	in	full	at	maturity	and	secured	by
the	fixed	and	floating	assets	of	�usson	International	Dairies	
imited	and	�usson		oldings	
imited.

(k) Unsecured	Jamaican	dollar	denominated	�onds	issued	in	November	2017	for	a	period	of	5	years,	due	in	full	at	maturity.

(l) Unsecured	Jamaican	dollar	denominated	�onds	issued	in	July	2018	for	a	period	of	3	years,	due	in	full	at	maturity.

(m) Unsecured	Jamaican	dollar	denominated	�onds	issued	in	November	2018	for	a	period	of	7	years,	due	in	full	at	maturity.

(n) US	 dollar	 denominated	 annual	 revolving	 loan	 initially	 received	 in	 �arch	 2015,	 secured	 by	 a	 promissory	 note	 issued	 by
Seprod	
imited.

(o) US	 dollar	 denominated	 annual	 revolving	 loan	 initially	 received	 in	 October	 2017,	 secured	 by	 a	 promissory	 note	 issued	 by
Seprod	
imited.

(p) US	dollar	denominated	monthly	inventory	factoring	arrangement.

(*) Unsecured	insurance	premium	financing	repayable	in	12	monthly	instalments.

(r) Unsecured	US	dollar	denominated	loan	received	in	November	2016,	due	in	full	at	maturity	in	November	2018.	The	loan	was
renewed	to	mature	in	January	2019.

(s) Unsecured	Jamaican	dollar	denominated	revolving	facility	with	each	drawdown	having	a	maximum	tenor	of	3	months.

(t) Unsecured	Jamaican	dollar	denominated	revolving	facility	with	each	drawdown	having	a	maximum	tenor	of	1	year.

(u) Unsecured	insurance	premium	financing	repayable	in	12	monthly	installments.
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285 Deferred	Taxation

Deferred	income	taxes	are	calculated	in	full	on	temporary	differences	under	the	liability	method	using	a	tax	rate	of	25O.	Deferred
tax	assets	and	liabilities	recognised	on	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	as	follows7

The	Group	 The	Company	

2018	 2017	 2018	 2017	

$=000	 $=000	 $=000	 $=000	

Deferred	tax	assets	 702,772	 19,237	 -	 -	
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 (1,523,501)	 (242,242)	 (132,006)	 (100,864)	
Net	liabilities	 (820,729)	 (223,005)	 (132,006)	 (100,864)	

These	 amounts	 include	 deferred	 tax	 assets>liabilities	 to	 be	 recovered	 within	 12	 months	 of	 $118,456,000>$168,180,000	
(2017	 ?	 $3,180,000>$108,311,000)	 for	 the	 �roup,	 and	 deferred	 tax	 liabilities	 of	 $165,459,000	 (2017	 ?	 $116,854,000)	 for	 the	
Company.	

The	movement	in	deferred	taxation	is	as	follows7	
The	Group	 The	Company	

2018	 2017	 2018	 2017	

$=000	 $=000	 $=000	 $=000	

�alance	at	start	of	year	 (223,005)	 (171,771)	 (100,864)	 (45,323)	
�usiness	combination	 (505,489)	 -	 -	 -	
Charged	to	profit	or	loss	(Note	10)	 (88,935)	 (50,184)	 (27,842)	 (54,491)	
Charged	to	other	comprehensive	income	(Note	10)	 (3,300)	 (1,050)	 (3,300)	 (1,050)	
�alance	at	end	of	year	 (820,729)	 (223,005)	 (132,006)	 (100,864)	

The	deferred	tax	charged	to	profit	or	loss	comprises	the	following	temporary	differences7	
The	Group	 The	Company	

2018	 2017	 2018	 2017	

$=000	 $=000	 $=000	 $=000	

Accelerated	tax	depreciation	 (16,675)	 4,709	 (2,104)	 (6,808)	
Post-employment	benefits	 875	 2,850	 875	 2,850	
Tax	losses	carried	forward	 (50,036)	 (1,513)	 21,992	 3,386	
Interest	receivable	 (5,787)	 (58,960)	 (62,058)	 (58,960)	
Other	 (17,312)	 2,730	 13,453	 5,041	

(88,935)	 (50,184)	 (27,842)	 (54,491)	

The	deferred	tax	liabilities	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	comprise	the	following	temporary	differences7	
The	Group	 The	Company	

2018	 2017	 2018	 2017	

$=000	 $=000	 $=000	 $=000	

Accelerated	tax	depreciation	 (310,460)	 (178,004)	 (16,975)	 (14,871)	
Post-employment	benefits	 25,050	 27,475	 25,050	 27,475	
Tax	losses	carried	forward	 762,872	 32,655	 25,378	 3,386	
Interest	receivable	 (356) (128,649) (190,707)	 (128,649)	
Intangible	assets	recognised	on	business	combinations	 (1,248,467)	 -	 -	 -	
Other	 (49,368)	 23,518	 25,248	 11,795	

(820,729)	 (223,005)	 (132,006)	 (100,864)	

Subject	to	agreement	with	the	Taxpayer	Audit	and	Assessment	Department,	losses	available	for	offset	against	future	profits	of	the	
Company	 and	 certain	 subsidiaries	 amount	 to	 $7,149,766,000	 (2017	 ?	 $4,091,367,000).	 Of	 those	 losses,	 no	 deferred	 tax	 assets	
have	been	created	 in	respect	of	$4,098,280,000	(2017	?	$3,960,749,000)	as	 the	�roup	 is	uncertain	of	 its	ability	 to	utilise	 those	
losses in the future.
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��� 
2H5 Cash	Generated	from	Operations

The	Group	 The	Company	

2018	
$’000	

2017	
$’000	

2018	
$’000	

2017	
$’000	

Net	profit>(loss)	 1,062,055	 647,843	 (1,914,389)	 (517,250)	
Items	not	affecting	cash	resources7	

Amortisation	of	intangible	assets	 131,017	 1,694	 -	 -	
Depreciation	 692,425	 478,222	 37,410	 32,435	
Net	foreign	exchange	gain	and	losses	 (159,996)	 52,147	 (91,861)	 54,261	
Net	gains	and	losses	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	

and	e*uipment	 691	 4,574	 (3,995)	 1,340	

Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	written	off	 61	 312	 8	 -	
Impairment	of	subsidiary	 -	 -	 2,041,227	 568,822	
Interest	income	 (155,327)	 (352,789)	 (335,956)	 (347,690)	
Amortisation	of	deferred	fees	 17,095	 13,761	 12,070	 -	
Share	of	results	of	joint	venture	 (57,930)	 54,236	 -	 -	
Interest	expense	 775,852	 328,275	 288,534	 190,453	
Post-employment	benefits	 3,500	 11,400	 3,500	 11,400	
Dividend	income	 (680) (400) (680) (400)
Taxation	 378,757	 291,117 27,842	 53,082

2,687,520	 1,530,392	 63,710	 46,453	
Changes	in	operating	assets	and	liabilities7	

Inventories	 (875,138)	 (564,795)	 -	 -	
Trade	and	other	receivables 4,882,162	 (2,183,741)	 308,925	 (1,719,802)	
�iological	assets	 19,506	 (51,832)	 -	 -	
Due	from	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 (1,304,202)	 (666,764)	
Due	to	subsidiaries	 -	 -	 1,006,223	 2,521,050	
Payables (5,263,177)	 2,339,028	 (979,859)	 147,859	

1,450,873	 1,069,052	 (905,203)	 328,796	
Taxation	paid (366,500)	 (243,421)	 (507) (81,529)
Cash	provided	by>(used	in)	operating	activities	 1,084,373	 825,631	 (905,710)	 247,267	



135

F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s

S(P52' /,M,7('
Notes to the Financial Statements
<ear ended �� 'eFemEer ����
�e[Sressed Ln -amaLFan dollars Xnless otherZLse LndLFated�

Page	56		

Seprod	Limited	
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	
31	December	2018	
(expressed	in	Jamaican	dollars	unless	otherwise	indicated)	
	

 

 

	
305 Contingencies	and	Commitments	

(a) A	subsidiary	has	leased	sugar	cane	lands	from	the	�overnment	of	Jamaica	for	a	period	of	50	years	with	an	option	to	renew	
for	a	further	period	of	25	years.	The	lease	is	fixed	at	a	rate	of	US$53	per	hectare	per	annum	for	the	first	5	years,	after	which	it	will	
be	renegotiated	 in	accordance	with	 the	provisions	of	 the	 lease	contract.	 	�ased	on	 the	current	rate	of	US$60	per	hectare	per	
annum,	the	annual	lease	cost	to	the	subsidiary	is	US$92,000.	

	
(b) At	31	December	2018,	capital	commitments	were	$369,962,000	(2017	-	$251,159,000)	for	the	�roup.	
	

315 Litigation,	Claims,	Assessments	and	Provisions	

The	�roup	is	subject	to	various	claims,	disputes	and	legal	proceedings,	as	part	of	the	normal	course	of	business.	Provision	is	made	
for	such	matters	when,	in	the	opinion	of	management	and	its	professional	advisors,	it	is	probable	that	a	payment	will	be	made	by	
the	�roup,	and	the	amount	can	be	reasonably	estimated.	In	respect	of	claims	asserted	against	the	�roup	which,	according	to	the	
principles	outlined	above,	have	not	been	provided	for,	management	is	of	the	opinion	that	such	claims	are	either	without	merit,	can	
be	successfully	defended	or	will	result	in	exposure	to	the	�roup	which	is	immaterial	to	both	the	financial	position	and	results	of	
operations.			
	

325 Related	Party	Transactions	

The	following	transactions	were	carried	out	with	or	on	behalf	of	related	parties7	
	
Sales	and	purchases	of	goods	and	services	
During	 the	 year,	 the	�roup	had	 sales	 of	 $3,683,121,000	 (2017	 ?	 $3,540,561,000)	 to	 and	purchases	 of	 $1,044,520,000	 (2017	 ?	
$2,282,952,000)	from	�usson	(Jamaica)	
imited,	T.�eddes	�rant	(Distributors)	
imited	and	Jamaica	�rain	and	Cereals	
imited,	as	
well	 as	 from	�usson	 International	 Diaries	 
imited	 and	 Facey	 Commodity	 Company	 
imited	 prior	 to	 these	 entities	 becoming	
subsidiaries	of	the	�roup.	The	Chairman	of	the	Company;s	�oard	of	Directors	is	a	major	shareholder	and	Chairman	of	the	�oard	of	
Directors	of	these	entities.	The	resulting	receivables	and	payables	in	respect	of	these	and	other	transactions	are	included	in	Notes	
23	and	24,	respectively.	
	
A	 subsidiary	paid	 cess	of	 $4,246,000	 (2017	?	$4,574,000)	based	on	 the	 importation	of	 copra-based	and	substitute	products	 to	
Coconut	Industry	�oard,	a	major	shareholder	of	the	Company.	
	
�ey	management	compensation	

	 	 2018	
$’000	

	
2017	
$’000	

�ages	and	salaries	 356,502	 	 157,698	
Statutory	contributions	 38,293	 	 18,309	
Other	 22,355	 	 530	
	 417,150	 	 176,537	

Directors;	emoluments	?		 	 	 	
	 Fees	 8,226	 	 8,479	
	 �edical	insurance	premiums	 7,635	 	 8,429	
	 �anagement	remuneration	(included	above)	 75,599	 	 69,676	

	
�dvances	and	loans	

oans	 to	 related	 parties	 are	 disclosed	 in	 Note	 19.	 Interest	 earned	 on	 these	 loans	 during	 the	 year	 amounted	 to	 $84,106,000		
(2017	?	$356,950,000).	
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335 �usiness	Combinations	

�ransfer	of	
usson	�oldings	�imited	into	the	�roup	
�ffective	 1	 January	 2018,	 the	 shares	 of	�usson	 	oldings	 
imited	were	 transferred	 to	 the	 Company	 at	 a	 nominal	 cost	 from	 a	
related	 party.	�usson		oldings	 
imited	 is	 the	 parent	 company	 of	�usson	 International	 Dairies	 
imited,	�usson	 International	
Dairies	Trinidad	and	Tobago	
imited,	 and	�usson	 International	Dairies	Republica	Dominicana	SR
.	 In	February	2016,	�usson	
	oldings	 
imited	 ac*uired	 the	 brands	 associated	with	 the	 Jamaican	 dairy	 operations	 of	 Nestle	 Jamaica	 
imited.	 On	 that	 date,	
�usson	 International	Dairies	 
imited	 ac*uired	 the	 key	 assets	 comprising	 those	 dairy	 operations	 and	 commenced	 its	 principal	
activity	of	producing	 and	 selling	milk-based	products	 from	 the	plant	 located	 in	�og	�alk,	 St.	 Catherine.	 	�usson	 International	
Dairies	Trinidad	and	Tobago	
imited	and	�usson	International	Dairies	Republica	Dominicana	SR
.	were	subse*uently	established	
to	manage	the	distribution	of	 the	milk-based	products	 in	key	export	markets.	The	Company	has	been	managing	 the	operations	
carried	out	by	these	entities	since	inception	in	2016.		
	
These	operations	will	significantly	expand	the	�roup;s	capacity	for	the	processing	of	milk	products	and	juices.	
	
�usson		oldings	
imited	and	its	subsidiaries	reported	revenues,	operating	profit	and	net	profit	of	$4,967,120,000,	$695,403,000	
and	$148,772,000,	respectively,	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2018.	
	
Details	of	net	assets	ac*uired,	purchase	consideration	and	goodwill	determined	on	a	provisional	basis,	were	as	follows7	

	 	 	 	 $’000	

Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 2,375,739	
Intangible	assets	 	 	 967,870	
Deferred	tax	assets	 	 	 69,778	
Inventories	 	 	 588,138	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 	 	 670,084	
Net	balances	due	from	the	�roup	 	 	 691,075	
Taxation	recoverable	 	 	 603	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	 	 	 157,920	
Payables	 	 	 (399,116)	
Taxation	payable	 	 	 (26,906)	

ong	term	liabilities	 	 	 (2,649,821)	

oan	payable	to	the	Company	 	 	 (2,533,856)	
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 	 	 (241,967)	
	 	 	 (330,459)	

	
As	the	shares	were	transferred	at	a	nominal	amount,	the	fair	values	of	net	assets	ac*uired	amounting	to	$330,459,000	represents	
the	goodwill	on	ac*uisition.	Further,	 the	ac*uired	cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	of	$157,920,000	represents	the	net	cash	inflow	on	
ac*uisition.	
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335		�usiness	Combinations	;Continued<	

	
�c#uisition	of	�acey	�ommodity	�oldings	�imited	
�ffective	1	October	2018,	 the	�roup	ac*uired	 the	 shares	of	Facey	Commodity		oldings	
imited,	 the	holding	 company	of	Facey	
Commodity	Company	
imited,	from	a	related	party.	The	terms	of	the	ac*uisition	re*uired	that,	prior	to	the	ac*uisition	date,	Facey	
Commodity		oldings	 
imited	 and	 Facey	 Commodity	 Company	 
imited	 dispose	 of	 all	 businesses	 other	 than	 the	 distribution	 of	
consumer	goods	and	pharmaceutical	products	in	Jamaica.	The	consideration	is	consistent	with	an	independent	valuation	and	was	
settled	by	a	mix	of	a	cash	payment	and	an	issue	of	shares.	
	
These	operations	will	significantly	expand	the	�roup;s	distribution	capability.	
	
Facey	 Commodity	 	oldings	 
imited	 and	 its	 subsidiary	 reported	 revenues,	 operating	 profit	 and	 net	 profit	 of	 $4,388,200,000,	
$358,055,000	and	$155,717,000,	respectively,	for	the	3	months	ended	31	December	2018.	
	
Details	of	net	assets	ac*uired,	purchase	consideration	and	goodwill	determined	on	a	provisional	basis,	were	as	follows7	

	 	 	 	 $’000	

Property,	plant	and	e*uipment	 	 	 283,386	
Intangible	assets	 	 	 4,026,000	
Inventories	 	 	 2,589,766	
Trade	and	other	receivables	 	 	 2,935,883	
Taxation	recoverable	 	 	 6,631	
Cash	and	cash	e*uivalents	 	 	 789,237	
Payables	 	 	 (4,105,157)	
Taxation	payable	 	 	 (67,096)	

ong	term	liabilities	 	 	 (3,240,133)	
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 	 	 (333,300)	
	 	 	 2,885,217	

	
The	goodwill	on	ac*uisition	was	determined	as	follows7	

	 	 	 	 $’000	

Cash	paid	forming	part	of	the	purchase	consideration		 	 	 2,141,499	
Issue	of	shares	forming	part	of	the	purchase	consideration	 	 	 5,208,170	
Total	purchase	consideration	 	 	 7,349,669	
Fair	values	of	net	assets	ac*uired	 	 	 (2,885,217)	
	 	 	 4,464,452	

	
The	net	cash	outflow	for	the	ac*uisition	was	follows7	

	 	 	 	 $’000	

Cash	paid	forming	part	of	the	purchase	consideration		 	 	 2,141,499	
Cash	balances	of	the	ac*uired	business	 	 	 (789,237)	
	 	 	 1,352,262	

	
3C5 Post	�alance	Sheet	Event	

In	April	2019,	the	Company	increased	its	shareholding	in	�olden	�rove	Sugar	Company	
imited	from	71.2O	to	89O	by	ac*uiring		
the	holding	of	another	shareholder	of	the	subsidiary.		
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NOTES



FORM OF PROXY

,ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ�������ȨȨ oI ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ��ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ

ȨȨȨ���������������������������������������������������������������������Ȩ� EeLng a memEer oI SeSrod /LmLted� hereE\ aSSoLnt 

Ȩ��ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ��������������������������������ȨȨ oI ȨȨ������������������������������������������������ȨȨȨȨȨ��ȨȨȨȨ����

or IaLlLng hLm ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ�������������������������������ȨȨȨȨ� oI ȨȨ������������������Ȩ��ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ���

as m\ Sro[\ to Yote Ior me on m\ EehalI at the $nnXal *eneral MeetLng oI the &omSan\ to Ee 

held on the �th da\ oI SeStemEer ����� and at an\ adMoXrnment thereoI�

ȨȨȨȨȨȨȨ���������ȨȨȨȨȨȨ�
SLgnatXre

Note: �� ,I the aSSoLnter Ls a ForSoratLon� thLs Iorm mXst Ee Xnder Lts Fommon seal and 

  Xnder the hand oI an oIfiFer or attorne\ dXl\ aXthorLsed�

 �� 7o Ee YalLd� thLs Sro[\ mXst Ee lodged ZLth the SeFretar\ oI the &omSan\� � )elL[

  )o[ %oXleYard� .Lngston� not less than �� hoXrs EeIore the tLme aSSoLnted Ior 

  holdLng the meetLng� $ Sro[\ need not Ee a memEer oI the &omSan\�
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